1

T

2007
Annual

Report







UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007
or

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from 1o

Commission File Number: 0-26006

TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

California 95-4181026
(State or other jurisdiction (LR.S. Employer
of incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

3151 East Washington Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90023
{Addrcss of principal exccutive offices) (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (323) 780-8250
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on which Registered

Common Stock Nasdaq Global Market

Securities reé;islered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the
Securities Act. Yes [ ] No [X] ‘

Indicate by check mark if the registration is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section
15(d) of the Act. Yes[ ] No [X]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d}) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
Registranl was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject 1o such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes [X]No [ ]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
stalements incorporated by reference in Part [1 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. {X]

[ndicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated
filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “smaller
reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).



Large accelerated filer [ ) Accelerated filer [ ] Non-accelerated filer{ ] Smaller reporting company [X]}

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes
[ 1No [X]

The aggrepate market value of the Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant is approximately
$20,558,997 based upon the closing price of the Common Stock on June 30, 2007.

Number of shares of Common Stock of the Registrant outstanding as of March 24, 2008: 32,043,763,
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrani’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with the 2008 Annual Meeting of Sharcholders are
incorporated by reference into Part [f of this Report.




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP
INDEX TO FORM 10-K

PART I
Item 1. BUISITECSS ... vv et eeivirves et erbeseesorraeeseasaseeesianeesemeaagsaeaaeasaes e eanteasaeeRaeeeseansetentaesnaseeataaaneenee
Iem AL RISK FACTOTS ..ottt ettt e e et snenre e s
Item 1B.  Unrcsolved Staff COMMENES oottt et et
Itcm 2. PIOPCITICS ... eietierieiieire st ee st e ettt a ettt saentsaesassresteatessansensesaesasssesbanesrassnsnans
ftem 3. Legal PrOCCOAINES ...oooveiiiii ittt et e s e ab e sas et e o
Item 4. Submission of Matters 1o a Votc of Sceurity Holders ..o
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters

and Issucr Purchascs of EQUity SCOUMUCS ..ottt
Item 6. Selected Financial Data ...t
ftem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial

Condition and Results of OpCrations.........c.ooiviiviiniiinciiiennniieceeeseriesse s eseisasssssnss
Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk ..cvieiiiiiicniiiiiinne,
Itcm §. Financial Statcments and Supplementary Data ... e
Item 9. Changes in and Disagrecments with Accountants on

Accounting and Financial DiscloSUrc..........cceeviiiinincncomee e e cneeens
Item QA(T). Controls and ProCCUUITS. ..o e et r s sar e e
Item 9B,  Other Information. ...ttt
PART IH
Item 10.  Dircctors and Exccutive Officers of the Registrant...........c.cocovevevieeeniecieiicee e,
Item 11, Exccutive COmMPCNSALION . ...ocoiiiiiiiiiieiitecriesiesiiieciresseisssiraesbressses saseesasssssnstasnssssssiissessian
Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and

Management and Related Stockholder Matters. ..o
Item 13, Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ... veneie s scnscreeveesnsnenee s
Item 14, Principal Accounting Fees and SErvices ..o e
PART IV
Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules ...

18
20

22
42
42

42
43
44

44
44

44
44
44

44



PART 1
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements which constitute forward-looking
statements within the mcaning of Section 27A of the Sccurities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, both as amended. Those statements include statements regarding our
intent, belief or current expectations. Prospective investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking
statcments are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties, and that actual
rcsults may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements.  Such risks and
uncertaintics include, among other things, our ability to facc stiff compctition, profitably manage a
sourcing and distribution business, the financial strength of our major customers, the continucd
acceptance of our cxisting and new products by our existing and new customers, dependence on key
customers, the risks of forcign manufacturing, competitive and cconomic factors in the textile and apparcl
markets, the availability of raw matenals, the ability to manage growth, weather-related dciays,
dependence on key personncl, the successful resolution of pending litigation, gencral cconomic conditions,
global manufacturing costs and restrictions, and other risks and uncertainties that may be detailed herein.
Sce “Item L A. Risk Factors.”

Item 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Tarrant Apparcl Group is a design and sourcing company for private label and private brand
casual apparcl scrving mass merchandisers, department stores, branded wholesalers and specialty chains
located primarily in the United States. Our major customers include retailers, such as Madcy’s
Mcrchandising Group, New York & Co., Chico’s, Kohl’s, Mothers Work, Mervyn’s, Charlotte Russc, the
Avcnue, Seven Licensing, Wal-Mart, and Lanc Bryant. Our products are manufacturcd in a variety of
woven and knit fabrications and include jeans wear, casual pants, shorts, skirts, dresscs, t-shirts, shirts and
other tops and jackets.

In 2005 and 2006, our total net sales were $215 million and $232 million, respectively. In 2007,
our nct sales increased by 5% to $244 million. In 2005, we experienced net income of $1.0 million. In
2006, we cxpericnced a net loss of $22.2 million, which included a non-cash charge of $27.1 million of a
loss on notes receivable - rclated parties. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Opcrations.” In 2007, our net income was $1.7 million.

We launched our private brands initiative in 2003, and have since acquircd ownership of or
license rights to a number of brand names and sold apparel products under the brand, generaily to a single
retail company within a geographic region. At March 24, 2008, we sell apparcl products under the
following brands at the following retailers:

Brand Stores

American Rag Cic Macy’s Mcrchandising Group
Marisa K Specialty stores & boutiques




Business Strategy

We believe that the following trends are currently affecting apparel retailing and manufacturing:

. Consolidation among apparel retailers has increased their ability to demand valuc-added
services from apparel manufacturers, including fashion cxpertisc, rapid response, just-in-
time delivery, Electronic Data Interchange and favorable pricing.

. Incrcased competition among retailers duc to consolidation has resulted in an increased
demand for private label and private brand apparel, which gencrally offers retailers
higher margins and permits them to differentiate their products.

. The current fashion cycle requires more design and product development, in addition to
quickly responding to cmerging trends. Apparel manufacturers that offer these
capabilities are m demand.

. A slower US cconomy or rccession will cause consolidation among apparcl
manufacturcrs and wholcsalcrs.

We belicve that we have the capabilitics to take advantage of these trends and remain a principal
valuc-added supplicr of casual, moderately priced apparel as well as increase our share of the higher retail,
“branded” segment that the major retailers are pursuing.

Design Expertise. As onc of the very few sourcing companics with our own design team, we
belicve that we have established a reputation with our customers as a fashion resource and manufacturer
that is capablc of providing design assistance to customers in the face of rapidly changing fashion trends.

Research and Development Capabilities. We believe our design capability combined with our
fabric research and development provide a major advantage that our customers respond to, and that we
have skills in the advanced development of washes and finishes that give us a position of competitive
strength.

Marketing Expertise. We have the understanding and resources to develop strong “brand-like”
product markcting to support the need to cxtend traditional store brands into product presentations that
have more valuc to the consumer in terms of product design and imaging,

Sumple-Making and Market-Testing Capabilities. We scck to support customers with our design
cxpertise, sample-making capability and ability to rapidly produce small test orders of products.

On-Time Delivery.  Wc have developed a diversified network of international contract
manufacturers and fabric supplicrs, which enable us to accept orders of varying sizes and delivery
schedules and to producce a broad range of garments at varying prices depending upon lead time and other
requirements of the customer.

Quality and Competitively Priced Products. We believe that our long time presence in the Far
East and our cxpericnced product management tcams provide a superior supply chain that enables us to
meet the individual nceds of our customers in icrms of quality and Iead time.

Product Diversification.  Our cxperiencing in designing and dclivering complete apparel
collections for some of our customers has improved our overall ability to deliver product classifications
beyond our core casual bottoms offerings, which has further diversified the merchandise we offer to other
customcrs.



Private Brands. With a private brand relationship, we own and control the brand and thus build
cquity in the brand as the product gains acceptance by consumers. In a private label relationship, we
source products for our customers who own and control the brand and thus benefit from any increase in
value of the brand.

We belicve that forming strong alliances with premier retailers allows us greater penctration of
apparel categories in addition to our core casual bottoms business. In addition to the increased breadth of
classifications, we have improved our ability to compete for private label business based on expertise
gaincd from our private brand development. We receive higher margins for development of product by
design and marketing assistance.

Products

Women’s jeans historically have been, and continue to be, our principal product. Our products
also include moderately priced women'’s apparel in casual, non-denim fabrications such as twill and other
cotton and cotton blends, in woven tops and bottoms. Our women’s apparcl products currently include
jeans wear, casual pants, shorts, skirts, dresses, t-shirts, blouses, shirts, other tops and jackets. These
products arec manufactured in petite, standard and large sizes and are sold at a variety of wholesale prices
gencerally ranging from less than $5 to over $20 per garment. We have produced men’s apparel in varying
significancc for the last scveral ycars.

Over the past three years, approximatcly 61% of total net sales were derived from the sales of
pants and jeans, approximatcly 7% from the salc of shorts, approximately 13% from the sale of shirts,
blouscs and tops and approximately 5% from the salc of skirts and skort-alls. The balance of net sales
consisted of sales of dresscs, jackets and other products.

Customers

We generally market our products to high-volume retailers that we belicve can grow into major
accounts. By limiting our customer base to a sclect group of larger accounts, we scck to build stronger
long-term relationships and leverage our operating costs against large bulk orders. Although we continue

to diversify our customer base, the majority of sales growth is most predictable from cxisting customers.

The following table shows the percentage of our net sales in fiscal ycar 2007 attributable to cach
customer that accounted for more than 10% of net sales.

Percentage of Net Sales

Customer 2007
Macy’s Merchandising Group.........ocoevevveneen. 21.}
New York & Co. oo 12.5
ChICO™S et 11.3

We currently scrve over 15 major retailers and over 200 specialty stores, which in addition to
those identified abovc, include, Kohl’s, Mothers Work, Mcrvyn’s, Charlotte Russc, the Avenue, Seven
Licensing, Wal-Mart and Lanc Bryant. In 2005, 2006 and 2007, net sales of private brands represented
approximately 26%, 22% and 18%, respectively, of our total net sales. We launched our private brands
imitiative in 2003, in which we acquire ownership of or license rights to a brand namc and sell apparel
products under this brand, gencrally to a single retail company within a geographic region. We scll
products in our brands “American Rag Cic” cxclusively to Macy’s Merchandising Group. We sold




products in our licensed brand “Alain Weiz” to Dillard’s during 2004 to 2006. We discontinued the
license of this brand after mid 2007,

We are currently involved in litigation with American Rag Cie, LL.C and American Rag Cic 1]
with respect to our license rights to the American Rag Cie trademark. American Rag Cie, LLC owns the
trademark “Amecrican Rag Cic”, which has been licensed to us on an exclusive basis throughout the world
cxcept for Japan and pursuant to which we scll American Rag Cie branded apparel to Macy’s
Merchandising Group and have sub-licensed to Macy’s Mcerchandising Group the right to manufacture
certain categorics of American Rag Cic branded apparel in the United States. American Rag Cic LLC has
purported to terminatc our license rights, and we have filed a counterclaim secking to a declaratory
judgment that the termination was invalid and alleging other causes of action. American Rag Cic, LLC is
owned 45% by Tarrant Apparcl Group and 55% by Amecrican Rag Cic Il. For a further description of this
action scc “llem 3. Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We do not have long-terin contracts with any of our customers except for Macy’s Merchandising
Group for Amcrican Rag Cic and, therefore, there can be no assurance that other customers will continue
to placc orders with us of the samc magnitude as it has in the past, or at ail. In addition, the apparel
industry historically has been subject to substantial cyclical variation, with consumer spending for
purchascs of apparcl and related goods tending to decline during recessionary periods. To the extent that
these financial difficuitics occur, there can be no assurance that our financial condition and results of
operations would not be adverscly affected. Sce “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Design, Merchandising and Sales

While many private label producers only arrange for the bulk production of styles specified by
their customers, we not only design garments, but also assist some of our customers in markct testing new
designs. We belicve that our design, sample-production and test-run capabilitics give us a competitive
advantage in obtaining bulk orders from our customers. We also often receive bulk orders for garments
we have not designed because many of our customers allocate bulk orders among more than one producer.

We have developed integrated teams of design, merchandising and support personnel, some of
whom serve on more than onc team, that focus on designing and producing merchandise that reflects the
stylc and image of their customers. Teams arc divided between private label and private brands for
sourcing opcrations.

Each tcam is responsible for all aspects of its customer’s nceds, including designing products,
developing product samples and test items, obtaining orders, coordinating fabric choices and procurement,
monitoring production and dclivering fimshed products. The tcam sccks to identify prevailing fashion
trends that meet its customer’s retail strategics and design garments incorporating those trends. The team
also works with the buyers of its customer to revisc designs as necessary to better reflect the style and
image that the customer desires to project to consumers. During the production process, the tcam is
responsible for informing the customer about the progress of the order, including any difficultics that
might affect the timetable for dclivery. In this way, our customer and we can make appropriate
arrangements regarding any delay or other change in the order. We belicve that this tcam approach
cnablcs our employces to develop an understanding of the customer’s distinctive styles and production
requirements in order to respond cifectively to the customer’s necds.

From timc to time and at scheduled scasonal meetings, we present samples to the customer’s
buycrs who determine which, if any, of the samples will be produced on a test run or a bulk order.
Samplcs arc often presented in coordinated groupings or as part of a product line. Some customers,
particularly spccialty retail stores, may require that a product be tested before placing a bulk order.



Testing involves the production of as few as scveral hundred copics of a given sample in different size,
fabric and color combinations. The customer pays for thesc test items, which arc placed in sclected stores
to gauge consumer response. The production of test items cnables our customers to identify garments that
may appcal to consumers and also provides us with important information regarding the cost and
feasibility of thc bulk production of the tested garment. If the test is determined to be successful, we
generally receive a significant percentage of the customer’s total bulk order of the tested item. In addition,
as is typical in the private label business, we receive bulk production orders to produce merchandise
designed by our compctitors or other designers, since most customers allocate bulk orders among a
numbecr of supplicrs.

Sourcing
General

When bidding for or filling an order, our international or domestic sourcing network cnables us 1o
choosc from among a number of supplicrs and manufacturers based on the customer’s price requirements,
product specifications and delivery schedules, Historically, we manufactured our products through
independent cutting, scwing and finishing contractors located primarily in Hong Kong and China, and
have purchascd our fabric from indcpendent fabric manufacturers with weaving mills located primarily in
Hong Kong and China. In rccent ycars, we have cxpanded our nctwork to include suppliers and
manufacturers locatcd in a number of additional countrics, including Mongolia, Vietnam, India,
Bangladesh and Thailand. Our sourcing strategy is based on a strong prescence in Asia, in particular, Hong
Kong, China and Southcast Asia.

Dependence on Contract Manufacturers

The use of contract manufacturers and the resulting lack of dircct control over the production of
our products could result in our failure to receive timely delivery of products of acceptable quality.
Although we belicve that alternative sources of cutting, sewing and finishing services are readily
available, the loss of one or more contract manufacturers coutd have a matcrially adverse cffect on our
results of operations until an alternative source can be located and commence producing our products.

Although we have adopted a code of vendor conduct and monitor the compliance of our
independent contractors with our code of conduct and applicable labor laws, we do not control our
contractors or their labor practices. The violation of federal, state or forcign labor laws by one of our
contractors can result in us being subject to fines and our goods, which arc manufactured in violation of
such laws, being scized or their salc in interstate commerce being prohibited. Additionally, certain of our
customers may rcfusc to do business with us based on our contractors’ labor practices. From time to time,
we have been notificd by federal, state or foreign authorities that certain of our contractors are the subject
of investigations or have been found to have violated applicable fabor laws. To date, we have not been
subject to any sanctions that, individually or in the aggregate, have had or could have a material adverse
cffect upon us, and we arc not aware of any facts on which any such sanctions could be based. There can
be no assurance, however, that in the future we will not be subject to sanctions or lose business from our
customers as a result of violations of applicable labor laws by our contractors, or that such sanctions or
loss of business will not have a material adverse cffect on us. In addition, our customers require strict
compliance by their apparel manufacturers, including us, with applicablc labor laws. To that end, we are
regularly inspected by some of our major customers. There can be no assurance that the violation of
applicablc labor laws by onc of our contractors will not have a material adverse effect on our relationship
with our customers.




Wc do not have any long-term contracts with independent fabric suppliers. The loss of any of our
major fabric supplicrs could have a material adverse cffect on our financial condition and results of
opcrations unti] altcrnative arrangements arc securcd.

Diversified Production Network

We have a production network that is capable of servicing a wide range of customer needs. Some
customers placc a priority on “specd to market,” and arc willing to pre-approve several different fabric
styles, and pay air freight in order to quickly get thc most current styling into their stores. Other
customers scck lower costs, and arc willing 1o source production from more remote arcas with long lead-
times. Although mass merchandisers, such as Wal-Mart, normally operate on shorter lead times for
fashion products, they can give us projections six months 10 nine months in advance for basic products
that do not changc in styles significantly from scason to scason. Qur ability to operate on diffcrent
production schedules helps us to meet our customers’ varying needs.

By allocating an order among diffcrent manufacturers, we seck to fill the high-volume orders of
our customers, while mecting their delivery requirements. Upon recciving an order, we determine which
of our supplicrs and manufacturers can best fill the order and meet the customer’s price, quality and
delivery requirements. We consider, among other things, the price charged by cach manufacturcr and the
manufacturcr’s available production capacity to complete the order, as well as the availability of quota, if
applicablc, for the product from various countrics and the manufacturer’s ability to produce goods on a
timecly basis subject to the customer’s quality specifications. Our personnel also consider the
transportation lcad times required to deliver an order from a given manufacturcr to the customer. In
addition, some customers prefer not to carry excess inventory and thercfore require that we stagger the
delivery of products over scveral weeks.

International Sourcing

We conduct and monitor our sourcing opcrations from our Hong Kong officc. The staff has
cxtensive knowledge about, and cxperience with, sourcing and production, including purchasing,
manufacturing and quality control. Several times cach ycar, members of our secnior management,
including local staff, visit and inspect the facilitics and operations of our international suppliers and
manufacturers,

Forcign manufacturing is subject to a number of risk factors, including, among other things,
transportation dclays and interruptions, political instability, cxpropriation, currency fluctuations and the
imposition of tariffs, import and export controls, other non-tariff barriers (including changes in the
allocation of quotas), natural disasters and cultural tssucs. Each of these factors could have a maicrial
adverse cffect on us.

While we are in the process of cstablishing business rclationships with manufacturers and
supplicrs located in countrics other than Hong Kong, Macau or China, such as in Mongolia, Victnam,
India, Bangladcsh and Thailand, we still primarily contract with manufacturers and supplicrs located in
Hong Kong and China for our international sourcing nceds, and currently cxpect that we will continue to
do so for the foresceable future. Any significant disruption in our operations or our relationships with our
manufacturers and supplicrs located in Hong Kong or China could have a matcrial adverse cffect on us.

The Import Sourcing Process

As is customary in the apparel industry, we do not have any long-term contracts with our
manufacturers. During the manufacturing process, our quality control personnel visit cach factory to




inspect garments when the fabric is cut, as it is being scwn and as the garment is being finished. Daily
information on the status of cach order is transmitted from the vartous manufacturing facilitics to our
offices in Hong Kong and Los Angeles. We, in turn, keep our customers apprised, often through daily
tclephone calls and frequent written reports. These catls and reports include candid asscssments of the
progress of a customer’s order, including a discussion of the difficulties, if any, that have been
encountercd and our plans to rectify them.

We oficn arrange, on behalf of manufacturers, for the purchase of fabric from a single supplicr.
We have the fabric shipped directly to the cutting factory and invoice the factory for the fabric. Generally,
the factories pay us for the fabric with offscts against the price of the finished goods. For our longstanding
program business, wec may purchasc or producc fabric in advance of receiving the order, but in
accordance with the customcr’s specifications. By procuring fabric for an entire order from onc source,
we believe that production costs per garment are reduced and customer specifications as to fabric quality
and color can be better controlled.

The anti-terrorist measurcs adopted by the U.S. government and in particular, by the U.S.
Customs, have meant morc stringent inspection processes before imported goods are cleared for delivery
into the U.S. In somc instances, these measures have causced delays in the pre-planned delivery of
products to customers.

Distribution

Bascd on our worldwide sourcing capability and in order to properly fulfill orders, we have
tailored our distribution system to mcet the nceds of the customer. Some customers, such as Macy’s
Mecrchandising Group, Wal-Mart and Kohl’s, use Electronic Data Interchange, or “EDI”, to send orders
and receive merchandisc and invoices. The EDI distribution function has been centralized in our Los
Angeles corporate headquarter in order to cxpedite and control the flow of merchandise and clectronic
information, and to insurc that the special requirements of our EDI customers are met.

For orders sourced outside the United States and Mcxico, the merchandise is shipped from the
production facility by truck to a port where it is consolidated and loaded on containerized vessels for
occan transport 1o the United States. For customers with West Coast and Midwest distribution centers, the
merchandisc is brought into the port of Los Angeles. After Customs clearance, the merchandisc is
shipped by truck to cither our Los Angcles warchouse facility, an independent public warchouse or an
independent bonded warchouse in Qhio. Proximity to the customer’s distribution center is important for
customer support. For merchandise produced in the Middle East and destined for an East Coast custorner
distribution center, the port of entry is New York. After Customs clearance, the merchandise is trucked to
an independent public warchouse in New Jerscy. The independent warehouses are instructed in writing by
the Los Angcles office when to ship the merchandise to the customer.

Backlog

As of March 24, 2008, we had unfilled customer orders of approximately $65 million as
compared to approximately $85 million as of March 22, 2007. We belicve that all of our backlog of
orders as of March 24, 2008 will be filled before the end of fiscal year 2008. Backlog is based on our
estimates derived from internal management reports. The amount of unfilled orders at a particular time is
affected by a number of factors, including the scheduling of manufacturing and shipping of the product,
which in some instances, depends on the customer’s requirements. Accordingly, a comparison of unfilled
orders from period to period is not nccessarily meaningful and may not be indicative of cventual annual
bookings or actual shipments. Our cxpericnce has been that the cancellations, rejections or returns of
orders have not materially reduced the amount of sales realized from our backlog.




Segment Information

Wc operate in a single business segment — the design, distribution and importation of privaie label
and private brand casual apparcl. Substantially all of our revenues are from the sales of apparel. We are
organized into two geographic regions: the United States and Asia. We evaluate performance of cach
region bascd on profit or loss from opcrations before income taxes not including the cumulative effect of
change in accounting principles. For information regarding the revenues and assets associated with our
geographic regions, sce Note 18 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Import Restrictions
Quotas

We imported substantially all of our products sold in 2007. A majority of the merchandise
imported by us in 2007 was manufactured in varicus countrics (such as China) with which the U.S. had
cntered into bilateral tradc agreements.

As of January 1, 2005, quota on apparcl from all WTO countrics, including China (cxcept that
certain commoditics still require quotas as a result of “safeguard mcasures™), was climinated. As China is
now a member of the WTQO, its exports of textiles and apparel to the U.S. arc covered by the WTO
Agreement on Textiles and Clothing. In 2006, quota was temporarily reinstated for China until 2008 for
certain import merchandise catcgorics. Quota is traded on the open market through quota holders who
posscss the quota holdings. We purchase quota from the open market. Quota gives us the right within the
year to ship our goods to the U.S. Quota purchascd from a third party is not subject to dutics.

Duties and Tariffs

As with all goods imported into the U.S., our imported merchandise is subject to duty (unless
statutorily cxempt from duty) ai rates cstablished by U.S. law. These rates range, depending on the types
of product and fabric content, from approximately 3% to 40% of the FOB valuc of the product. In
addition to dutics, in the ordinary course of our business, we are occasionally subject to claims by the
U.S. Burcau of Customs and Border Protcction for penaltics, liquidated damages and other charges
relating to import activities. Similarly, we are at times entitled to refunds from Customs, resulting from
the overpayment of dutics.

Products imported from China into the United States receive the same preferential tariff treatment
accorded goods from other countrics granted Normal Trade Relations status. This status has been in place
conditionally for a number of years and is now guarantced on a more permanent basis by China’s
accession to WTO membership in December 2001.

Our continued ability to source products from foreign countries may be adversely affected or
improved by future trade agrecements and restrictions, changes in U.S. trade policy, embargocs, the
disruption of trade from cxporting countrics as a result of political instability or the imposition of
additional dutics, taxes and other charges or restrictions on all imports or specified classes of imports.

Competition

There is intensc compcetition in the scctors of the apparel industry in which we participate. We
compete with many other manufacturers, many of which are larger and have greater resources than us.
We also facc compctition from our own customers and potential customers, many of which have
cstablished, or may cstablish, thcir own intcrnal product development and sourcing capabilitics. We




belicve that we compete favorably on the basis of design and sample capabilities, the quality and value of
our products, price, and the production flexibility that we enjoy as a result of our sourcing network.

Trademarks

As part of our privatc brands stratcgy, we acquire ownership of or rights to a brand name and sell
apparel products under this brand. We have owncership rights to the registered trademarks “American Rag Cie,”
“Marisa K7, “NO! Jeans™ and “American Star”. As described elsewhere in this report, we are currently involved
in litigation with respect to our license rights to the American Rag Cic trademark. For a further description of
this action sce “Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report ont Form 10-K.

Seasonality

Wec have typically experienced scasonal fluctuations in sales volume. These scasonal fluctuations
result in sales volume decreases in the first and fourth quarters of cach year duc to the seasonal fluctuations
cxpericnced by the majority of our customers.

Employees

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately 150 full-time employees in the United States, 150
in Hong Kong and 10 in China. Nonc of our employeces arc unionized. We consider our relations with
our employees to be satisfactory in all arcas of our opcrations.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to a
varicty of risks and uncertaintics. Qur actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth below.

Risks related to our business

We depend on a group of key customers for a significant portion of our sales. A significant adverse change
in a customer relationship or in a customer’s financial position could harm our business and financial
condition.

Three customers accounted for approximately 45% of our net sales in fiscal year 2007. We
believe that consolidation in the retail industry has centralized purchasing decisions and given customers
greater leverage over suppliers, like us, and we cxpect this trend to continue. If this consolidation
continues, our nct sales and results of operations may be increasingly scnsitive to deterioration in the
financial condition of, or other adverse developments with, one or more of our customers.

While we havce long-standing customer rclationships, we gencrally do not have long-term
contracts with them except for Macy’s Merchandising Group for American Rag Cie. Purchases gencrally
occur on an ordcr-by-order basis, and relationships cxist as long as there is a perceived benefit to both
partics. A dccision by a major customer, whether motivated by compctitive considerations, financial
difficultics, and cconomic conditions or otherwise, to decrease its purchases from us or to change its
manner of doing business with us, could adverscly affect our business and financial condition. In
addition, during recent ycars, various retailers, including some of our customers, have expenienced
significant changes and difficultics, including consolidation of owncrship, increased centralization of
purchasing decisions, restructurings, bankruptcics and liquidations.




Thesc and other financial problems of some of our rctailers, as well as general weakness in the
rctail environment, increasc the risk of extending credit to these retailers. A significant adverse change in
a customer rclationship or in a customer’s financial position could causc us to limit or discontinuc
business with that customer, require us to assume more credit risk relating to that customer’s receivables,
limit our ability to collcct amounts related to previous purchases by that customer, or result in required
prepayment of our reccivables securitization arrangements, all of which could harm our business and
financial condition.

Our growth and operating results could be materially, adversely affected if we are unsuccessful in
resolving a dispute that now exists regarding our rights under our license agreement with American
Rag Cie LLC,

We arc currently involved in litigation with American Rag Cic, LLC and Amecrican Rag Cic 11
with respect to our license rights to the American Rag Cic trademark. Amcrican Rag Cie, LLC owns the
trademark “American Rag Cic”, which has been licensed to us on an exclusive basis throughout the world
cxcept for Japan and pursuant to which we scll American Rag Cic branded apparcl to Macy’s
Mcrchandising Group and have sub-licensed to Macy's Mcrchandising Group the right to manufacturc
certain catcgories of American Rag Cie branded apparct in the United States. American Rag Cic LLC has
purported to terminatc our license rights, and we have filed a counterclaim seeking to a dcclaratory
judgment that the termination was invalid and alleging other causes of action. See Item 3, “Legal
Proccedings™ for discussion of this litigation. We derive a significant portion of our revenucs from the
sale of American Rag Cie products pursuant to the license rights. Our business, results of opcerations and
financial condition could be materially adverscly affccted if we arc unable 1o reach a scitlement in a
manncr acceptable 10 us and ensuing litigation is not rcsolved in a manner favorable to us. Additionally,
we may incur significant legal fees in this litigation, and unless the casc is scttled, we will continue to
incur additional legal fees in increasing amounts as the case moves toward trial.

Failure of the transportation infrastructure to move sea freight in acceptable time frames could adversely
affect our business.

Because the bulk of our freight is designed to move through the West Coast ports in predictable
time frames, we arc at risk of cancellations and penaltics when thosc ports opcrate incfficiently creating
delays in dclivery. Unpredictable timing for shipping may causc us to utilize air freight or may result in
customer penaltics for late delivery, any of which could reduce our opcrating margins and adverscly
affect our results of opcerations.

Unpredictable delays as the result of increased and intensified Customs activity,

U.S. Customs has stepped up efforts to scrutinize imports from Hong Kong in order to verify all
details of shipments under the OPA rules allowing certain proccsses to be performed in China without
shipping under China country of origin documentation. Such “detentions” arc unpredictable and causc
scrious interruption of normally expected freight movement timetables.

Failure to manage our growth and expansion could impair our business.

Since our inception, we have experienced periods of rapid growth. No assurance can be given that
we will be successful in maintaining or increasing our sales in the future. Any future growth in sales will
require additional working capital and may place a significant strain on our management, management
information systems, inventory management, sourcing capability, distribution facilities and reccivables
management. Any disruption in our order processing, sourcing or distribution systems could causc orders
to be shipped late, and under industry practices, retailers generally can cancel orders or refuse to accept
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goods duc to late shipment. Such canccllations and returns would result in a reduction in revenue,
increased administrative and shipping costs and a further burden on our distribution facilities.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to cxpericnce, substantial variations in our net sales
and operating results from quarter to quarter. We believe that the factors which influence this vanability
of quarterly results include the timing of our introduction of new product lines, the level of consumer
acceptance of cach new product hine, general economic and industry conditions that affect consumer
spending and rctailer purchasing, the availability of manufacturing capacity, the seasonality of the
markets in which we participate, the timing of trade shows, the product mix of customer orders, the
timing of the placement or cancellation of customer orders, the weather, transportation delays, the
occurrence of charge backs in cxcess of reserves and the timing of expenditures in anticipation of
increased sales and actions of competitors. Due to fluctuations in our revenue and operating expenses, we
belicve that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not a good indication of our
futurc performance. It is possible that in some futurc quarter or quarters, our operating results will be
bclow the cxpectations of sccuritics analysts or investors. In that case, our stock price could fluctuate
significantly or decline.

We depend on our computer and communications systems.

As a multi-national corporation, we rely on our computer and communication network to operate
efficiently. Any intcrruption of this service from power loss, telecommunications failure, weather, natural
disasters or any similar event could have a material adverse affect on our business and operations.
Additionally, hackcrs and computer viruscs have disrupted opcrations at many major companies. We
may be vulnerable to similar acts of sabotage, which could have a material adverse effect on our business
and opcrations.

We may require additional capital in the future.

We¢ may not be able to fund our future growth or react to competitive pressures if we lack
sufficient funds. Currently, we belicve we have sufficient cash on hand and cash available through our
bank credit facilitics, issuance of long-term debt and equity sccuritics, and proceeds from the exercise of
stock options to fund cxisting operations for the foresecable future. However, in the futurc we may need
to raisc¢ additional funds through equity or debt financings or collaborative rclationships. This additional
funding may not be available or, if available, it may not be available on economically reasonable terms. In
addition, any additional funding may result in significant dilution to existing sharcholders. If adequate
funds arc not available, we may be required to curtail our operations or obtain funds through collaborative
partners that may rcquirc us to rclcase matcrial rights to our products.

Our business is subject to risks associated with importing products.

Substantially all of our import operations arc subjcct to tariffs imposed on imported products,
safeguards and growth targets imposcd by trade agrcements. In addition, the countries in which our
products arc manufactured or imported may from time to time imposc additional new duties, tariffs or
other restrictions on our imports or adverscly modify existing rcstrictions. Adverse changes in these
import costs and restrictions, or our supplicrs’ failurc to comply with customs or similar laws, could harm
our business. We cannot assurc that future trade agreements will not provide our competitors with an
advantage over us, or increasc our costs, cither of which could have an adverse effect on our business and
financial condition.
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Our operations are also subject to the cffects of international trade agreements and regulations
such as the North American Free Trade Agreement, and the activitics and regulations of the World Trade
Organization. Generally, these trade agreements benefit our business by reducing or climinating the dutics
asscsscd on products manufactured in a particular country. However, trade agreements can also imposc
requircments that adversely affect our business, such as limiting the countrics from which we can
purchase raw materials and sctting dutics or restrictions on products that may be imported into the United
States from a particular country. In addition, the World Trade Organization may commence a new round
of trade ncgotiations that liberalize textile trade by further climinating or reducing tariffs. The climination
of quotas on World Trade Organization member countrics in 2005 has resulted in explosive growth in
textile imports from China, and subsequent safeguard measures including embargo of certain China
country of origin products. Actions taken to avoid these measurcs caused disruption, and a ncgative
impact on margins. In 2006, quota was temporarily reinstated for China until 2008 for certain import
merchandise categories. Such disruptions and the temporary measurcs may continue to affect us to some
extent in the future.

We have voluntarily implemented the guiding principles for the Customs-Trade Partnership
Against Terrorism (C-TPAT) Program as proposed by the US Customs and Border Protcction to protect
our supply chain from conccalment of terrorist weapons. While we have a strong commitment to this
program, we arc not immunc to thrcats of terronst activitics.

Our dependence on independent manufacturers reduces our ability to control the manufacturing
process, which could harm our sales, reputation and overall profitability.

We depend on independent contract manufacturers to sccure a sufficient supply of raw materials
and maintain sufficient manufacturing and shipping capacity in an environment characterized by
declining prices, labor shortage, continuing cost pressure and incrcascd demands for product innovation
and spccd-to-market. This dependence could subject us to difficulty in obtaining timely delivery of
products of acceptable quality. In addition, a contractor’s failure to ship products to us in a timely manner
or to meet the required quality standards could cause us to miss the delivery date requirements of our
customers. The failure to make timely deliverics may cause our customers to cancel orders, refuse to
accept deliveries, impose non-compliance charges through invoice deductions or other charge-backs,
demand reduced prices or reduce future orders, any of which could harm our sales, reputation and overall
profitability. We do not have material long-term contracts with any of our independent contractors and
any of these contractors may unilaterally terminate their relationship with us at any time. To the extent we
arc not able to secure or maintain rclationships with independent contractors that are able to fulfill our
requirements, our business would be harmed.

We have implemented a factory compliance agreement with our suppliers, and monitor our
independent contractors” compliance with applicable labor laws, but we do not control our contractors or
their labor practices. The violation of federal, state or foreign labor laws by one of the our contractors
could result in our being subjcct to fines and our goods that are manufactured in violation of such laws
being scized or their sale in interstate commerce being prohibited. From time to time, we have been
notificd by federal, statc or forcign authorities that certain of our contractors arc the subject of
investigations or have been found to have violated applicable labor laws. To datc, we have not been
subjcct to any sanctions that, individually or in the aggregate, have had a matenial adverse cficct on our
business, and we are not aware of any facts on which any such sanctions could be bascd. There can be no
assurance, however, that in the future we will not be subject to sanctions as a result of violations of
applicable labor laws by our contractors, or that such sanctions will not have a material adverse effect on
our business and rcsults of opcrations. In addition, certain of our customers, require strict compliance by
their apparel manufacturers, including us, with applicablc labor laws and visit our facilitics often. There




can be no assurance that the violation of applicable labor laws by onc of our contractors will not have a
material adverse effect on our relationship with our customers.

Our business is subject to risks of operating in a foreign country and trade restrictions.

We are subject to the risks associated with doing business in foreign countrics, including, but not
limited to, transportation dclays and interruptions, political instability, ecxpropriation, currency
fluctuations and the imposition of tariffs, import and export controls, other non-tariff barriers and culturat
issucs. Any changes in thosc countrics’ labor laws and government regulations may have a negative effect
on our profitability.

Risk associated with our industry
Our sales are heavily influenced by general economic cycles.

Apparel is a cyclical industry that is hcavily dependent upon the overall level of consumer
spending. Purchases of apparcl and related goods tend to be highly correlated with cycles in the
disposable income of our consumers. Qur customers anticipate and respond to adverse changes in
cconomic conditions and uncertainty by reducing inventories and canceling orders. As a result, any
substantial deterioration in gencral economic conditions, increases in intcrest ratcs, acts of war, terrorist
or political cvents that diminish consumer spending and confidence in any of the regions in which we
compete, could reduce our salces and adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Our business is highly competitive and depends on consumer spending patterns.

The apparcl industry is highly competitive. We face a varicty of competitive challenges
including;

. anticipating and quickly responding to changing consumer demands;

. developing innovative, high-quality products in sizes, colors and styles that appeal to
consumers of varying age groups and tastes;

. compctitively pricing our products and achicving customer perception of value; and

. the nced 1o provide strong and cffective marketing support.

We must successfully gauge fashion trends and changing consumer preferences to succeed.

Our success is largely dependent upon our ability to gauge the fashion tastes of our customers and
to provide merchandise that satisfies retail and customer demand in a timely manner. The apparel
business fluctuates according to changes in consumer preferences dictated in part by fashion and season.
To the extent we misjudge the market for our merchandisc our sales may be adverscly affected. Our
ability to anticipate and cffectively respond to changing fashion trends depends in part on our ability to
attract and rctain key personnel in our design, merchandising and marketing staff. Competition for these
personnel is intensc, and we cannot be sure that we will be abie to attract and retain a sufficient number of
qualified personnel in future periods.

Our business is subject to seasonal trends.
Historically, our opcrating results have been subject to seasonal trends when measured on a

quarterly basis. This trend is dependent on numerous factors, including the markets in which we operate,
holiday seasons, consumer demand, climate, cconomic conditions and numerous othcer factors beyond our
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control. There can be no assurance that our historic operating patterns will continue in future periods as
we cannot influence or forccast many of these factors.

Other risks related to an investment in our common stock

The requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including section 404, are burdensome, and our failure to
comply with them could have a material adverse affect on our business and stock price.

Effective internal control over financial reporting is nccessary for us to provide reliable financial reports
and cffectively prevent fraud. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires our management to
evaluate and report on our internal control over financial reporting beginning with our annuat report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. Our independent registered public accounting firm will
need to annually attest to our cvaluation, and issuc their own opinion on our internal control over financial
reporting beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2008, unless
this requirement is further postponed by the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission. We have prepared for
compliancc with Section 404 by strengthening, asscssing and testing our system of internal control over
financial reporting to provide the basis for our report. The process of strengthening our internal control over
financial reporting and complying with Scction 404 is cxpensive and time consuming, and requires significant
management attention.  We cannot be certain that the measures we will undertake will ensure that we will
maintain adequatc controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. Failure to implement
required controls, or difficultics encountered in their implementation, could harm our operating results or cause
us to fail to mecet our reporting obligations. If we or our auditors discover a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting, the disclosure of that fact, cven if the weakness is quickly remedied, could
diminish investors’ confidence in our financial statements and harm our stock price. In addition, non-
compliance with Scction 404 could subject us to a varicty of administrative sanctions, including the suspension
of trading, incligibility for listing on NASDAQ or onc of the national sccuritics exchanges, and the inability of
registered broker-dealers to make a market in our common stock, which would further reduce our stock price.

Insiders own a significant portion of our common stock, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to
influence the outcome aof key transactions.

As of March 24, 2008, our cxccutive officers and directors and their affiliates owned
approximatcly 45% of our common stock. Gerard Gucz, our Chairman and Interim Chief Executive
Officer, and Todd Kay, our Vicc Chairman, alonc own approximatcly 32% and 8%, respectively, of our
common stock at March 24, 2008. Accordingly, our cxccutive officers and dircctors have the ability to
affect the outcome of, or cxcrt considerable influence over, all matters requiring sharcholder approval,
including the clection and removal of dircctors and any change in control.  This concentration of
ownership of our common stock could have the cffect of delaying or preventing a change of control of us
or otherwisc discouraging or preventing a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us. This,
in turn, could have a ncgative cffect on the market price of our common stock. It could also prevent our
sharcholders from realizing a premium over the market prices for their shares of common stock.

We have adopted a number of anti-takeover measures that may depress the price of our commaon stock.

Our sharcholdcrs rights plan, our ability to issuc additional shares of preferred stock and some
provisions of our articlcs of incorporation and bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to
make an unsolicited takcover attempt of us. These anti-takcover measures may depress the price of our
common stock by making it more difficult for third partics to acquirc us by offering to purchase sharcs of
our stock at a premium to its market price without approval of our beard of dircctors,




Our stock price has been volatile,

Our commeon stock 1s quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market, and there can be substantial
volatility in the market price of our common stock. The market price of our common stock has been, and
is likcly to continue to be, subject to significant fluctuations duc to a varicty of factors, including
quarterly variations in operating results, operating, results which vary from the expectations of securitics
analysts and investors, changes in financial estimates, changes in market valuattons of competitors,
announccments by us or our competitors of a material nature, loss of one or more customers, additions or
departures of kcy personnel, futurc sales of common stock and stock market price and volume
fluctuations. In addition, general political and economic conditions such as a recession, or interest rate or
currency rate fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In addition, the stock market in gencral has expericneed extreme price and volume fluctuations
that have affected the market price of our common stock. Often, price fluctuations are unrelated to
operating performance of the specific companies whose stock is affecied. In the past, following periods
of volatility in thc market price of a company’s stock, sccuritics class action litigation has occurred
against the issuing company. If we were subject to this type of litigation in the future, we could incur
substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources, cach of which could have a
material adverse cffcet on our revenue and eamings. Any adverse determination in this type of litigation
could also subjcct us to significant liabilities.

Absence of dividends could reduce our attractiveness to you.

Some investors favor companies that pay dividends, particularly in gencral downturns in the stock
market. We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to
retain any futurc earings for funding growth, and we do not currently anticipatc paying cash dividends
on our common stock in the foreseeable futurc. Additionally, we cannot pay dividends on our common
stock unless the terms of our bank credit facilities and outstanding preferred stock, if any, permit the
payment of dividends on our common stock. Because we may not pay dividends, your return on this
investment likely depends on your selling our stock at a profit.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

15




Item 2. PROPERTIES

At March 24, 2008, we conducted our operations from 9 facilitics, 7 of which were leased. The
following table sets forth our facilities, and for lcascd facilitics the annual rental amount of, expiration of
the current leasc:

Annual
Location Purpose Rental Amount Expiration
Los Angeles, CA Executive offices and $656,000 July 2011
(Washington Blvd.) warehouse
New York, NY Showroom $576,600 June 2015
Ruleville, MS (2 facilities) Office and warehouse Owned
Hong Kong Office and warehouse $480,000 Month-to-month
Hong Kong Warehouse $22,000 July 2009
Shanghai, China Office $82,000 December 2008
Tehuacan, Mexico Storage £5,000 Month-to-month
Puebla, Mexico Office and Storage $5,000 March 2008

We lcase our cxccutive offices and warchousc in Los Angeles, California from GET, a
corporation which is owned by Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Interim Chief Execcutive Officer, and
Todd Kay, our Vice Chairman. Additionally, we lcase our warchouse and office space in Hong Kong
from Lynx International Limited, a Hong Kong corporation that is owned by Messrs. Guez and Kay. Our
leasc for the exccutive offices and warchouse in Los Angeles has a term of five years expiring in 2011,
with an option to renew for an additional five year term. Our leasc for the office space and warchouse in
Hong Kong has expired and we are currently renting this space on a month to month basis.

We own two facilitics in Ruleville, Mississippi with an aggregate of 70,000 square fect.

Wec cntered into a lease agreement in June 2005 for our showroom in New York through June
2015. This s currently the location used for the private brands sales, design and technical departments,
which functions werc moved from our Los Angeles exccutive office.

Our lease agreement in Puebla, Mexico for our office and storage expired in March 2008.

We believe that all of our existing facilitics arc well maintained, in good opcerating condition and
adcquatc to mect our current and foresceable needs.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On Fcbruary 1, 2008, Tarrant Apparcl Group and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Privatc Brands,
Inc., filed and scrved a cross-complaint against Amcrican Rag Cic, LLC (the “LLC”) and American Rag
Cic Il (*ARC II”) in the, in the action American Rag CIE v. Private Brands, Inc., Superior Court of the
State of California, County of Los Angeles, Central District, Casc No. BC 384428. The original action
had been filed on January 28, 2008 against Privatc Brands by the LLC. The LLC owns the trademark
“Amcrican Rag Cic”, which mark has been licensed to Private Brands on an cexclusive basis throughout
the world except for Japan and pursuant to which Private Brands sclls American Rag Cie branded apparcl
to Macy’s Merchandising Group and has sub-liccnsed to Macy’s Merchandising Group the right to
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manufacture certain catcgorics of American Rag Cie branded apparel in the United States. The LLC 1s
owned 55% by ARC Il and 45% by Tarrant Apparel Group. In the original complaint the LLC sccks a
declaratory judgment that we have breached the license agreement and that the license agreement has
been properly terminated.  Our cross-complaint counters this claim, and sccks a declaration that the
license agreement is valid and continues to be in cffect. Additionally, the cross-complaint secks relief on
a number of causcs of action, including breach of the license agreement, a declaration by the Court
imposing a rcasonablc term into the agreement for sublicensing royalties, dissolution of LLC, damages
for breach of fiduciary duty, and an accounting of thc monics diverted by defendants’ actions. Bascd
upon a clause in the LLC operating agreement, the causcs of action asserted in the cross-complaint for
breach of fiductary duty and an accounting are subjcct to determination by a Judicial Referce, and the
partics arc currcntly in the process of sclecting one. On March 3, 2008, we dismissed, without prejudice,
our claim for dissolution of LLC after being notified that ARC Il had elected to buy out our sharc in the
LLC, a permitted defense to an action for dissolution. On March 19, 2008, the LLC and ARC II filed an
amended complaint, in which they expanded their claims against us to include claims for breach of
contract, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty, and sccking further declaratory relicf and compensatory and
punitive damages. The action is in the carly stages of discovery.

In April 2006, we commenced an action against the licensor of the Jessica Simpson brands (captioned
Tarrant Apparel Group v. Camuto Consulting Group, Inc., VCIS LLC, With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson) in
the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The suit named Camuto Consulting Group,
Inc., VCIS LLC, With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson as dcfendants, and asserted that the defendants failed to
providc promiscd support in connection with our sublicense agreement for the Jessica Simpson brands, as well
as fraud against Camuto Consulting. The complaint was amended to add Vincent Camuto as a defendant and
included nine causes of action, including two secking a declaration that the sublicensc agreement was exclusive
and remains in full foree and cffect, as well as claims for breach of contract, breach of the duty of good faith and
fair decaling and fraudulent inducement against Camuto Consulting, a claim against Vincent Camuto
individually for fraudulent inducement, and a claim against With You, Inc. and Ms. Simpson that we were an
intended third party bencficiary of the license between those defendants and Camuto Consulting. Camuto
Consulting, VCIS and Vincent Camuto filed a counterclaim against us for breach of the sublicense agreement
and allcged damages of no less than $100 million. With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson also filed counterclaims
against us alleging trademark infringement, unfair competition and business practices, violation of the right of
privacy and other claims, and sccking injunctive relief and damagces in an amount to be determined but no less
than $100 million plus treble and punitive damages. By Order filed January 17, 2007, the Court granted the
motion of With You, Inc. and Ms. Simpson to discontinue all of Ms. Simpson’s counterclaims, and her personal
countcrclaims were dismissed with prejudice. In November 2007, we entered into a settlement agreement with
Camuto Consulting Group, Inc., VCJS LLC, With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson with respect to the litigation
rcgarding our previous agrecement to design, manufacture and distribute Jessica Simpson branded jeans and
casual apparel. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the parties agreed to dismiss with prejudice all claims
rclating to these actions or the sublicense agreement and we reccived a payment of $3 million.

From time to time, we are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to the conduct of our
busincss. Our management does not believe that any of these legal proceedings will have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition or results of operations, ¢ither due to the nature of the claims, or
because our management believes that such claims should not exceed the limits of the our insurance coverage.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

There were no matters submitted to a vote of our sharcholders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART 11

Iltem 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLD¥R
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

NASDAQ Global Market
Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Stock Market’s Global Market under the symbol

“TAGS.” The following table scts forth, for the periods indicated, the range of high and low sale prices
for our common stock as reported by NASDAQ.

Low High
2007
FIrSt QUATTCT ..ot e et e e e et eme e emee et 1.41 2.01
SCCONA QUATTICT .ot e e e e e e e e e e st e e e s ssneesssnseesarees 1.01 2.10
THIFA QUATTCT 1o ieeeiiitieciiee ettt e s e e s s erbeeressssrnssseserbbensssssnressesnnsen 1.08 1.33
FOUN QUATTCT ...ttt at e re s ereeeteseneesreeertsenneene 1.10 1.27
2006
FAESE QUATICT 1..vviiiriecviieeerier e vtr et sesrnt i e e rrieasessereessessnnresssanbnssassessbeeesssnnenssesnnss .06 1.44
SCCONA QUATICT...eciiiiitiiie ittt retes st et e sesaetreessarateee s it basaaessssnassssntseeasins 1.25 2.11
THIPA QUATICT coevveiiee e e ee et e e eb e e re e e s snseeennee e 1.29 2.00
FOUh QUATTCT ..ottt e sme e e ce et e b e e 1.19 1.60

On March 24, 2008, the last reported sale price of our common stock as reported by NASDAQ
was $0.57. As of March 24, 2008, we had 24 sharcholders of record.

Dividend Policy

We have not declarcd dividends on our common stock during cither of the last two fiscal years.
We intend to retain any future camnings for usc in our business and, thercfore, do not anticipate declaring
or paying any cash dividends in the forcsecable future. The declaration and payment of any cash
dividends in the futurc will depend upon our carnings, financial condition, capital nceds and other factors
deemed relevant by the Board of Dircctors. In addition, our credit agreements prohibit the payment of
dividends during the term of the agrecements.

Performance Graph

The following graph scts forth the pereentage change in cumulative total sharcholder return of our
common stock during the five-year period from December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2007, compared
with the cumulative returns of the NASDAQ Composite Index and a pecr group of companies. The
component entitics of the peer group consist of Accesstel Inc., GS Energy Corp., Maidenform Brands Inc.
and Nitches Inc. and were gencrated by Rescarch Data Group, Inc. The comparison assumes $100 was
invested on December 31, 2002 in our common stock and in cach of the forcgoing indices. The stock
price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Fiscal year ending December 31.

Cumulative Total Return

12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 12/07
Tarrant Apparel Group 100.00 87.78 59.66 2592 3594 28.36
NASDAQ Composite 100.00 149.75 164.64 168.60 187.83 205.22
Peer Group 100.00 18.55 9.62 1.70 245 1.74

The information under this “Performance Graph” subhcading shall not be deemed to be “filed” for the
purposcs of Section 18 of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwisc subject to the liabilities of such
section, nor shall such information or cxhibit be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the
Sccuritics Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly sct forth by specific reference in such a

filing.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following sclected financial data is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in
conjunction with, the other information and financial statements, including the notes thercto, appearing
clsewhere hercin.

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(In thousands, except per share data)

Income Statement Data:

Total netsales..........occoceeeeeeeee. S 320,423 § 155453 $ 214,648 § 232402 S 243721
Total cost of sales ..o 288,445 134,492 169,767 181,760 194,821
Gross profit... 31,978 20,961 44 881 50,642 48,900
Sclling and dmtnbutlon CXpenscs 11,329 9,291 10,726 11,016 14,724
General and administrative

CXPENSCS.. o cicr e aneas 31,767 312,084 26,865 26,879 24,312
Royalty expense... 242 605 3,665 2,815 1,864
Impairment chargcs (”) 22217 77.982 - -- --
Cumulative translation Ioss (3) - 22,786 -- - --
Loss on notes reccivable-related

partics (4}.... crrererenre - - -- 27,137
Terminated acqmsmon expcnse - - - -- 2,000
Adjustment to fair value of long-term

rcceivable — related partics..... -- -- -- - 808
Income (loss) from eperations ... §  (33,637) (121,787) 3,625 (17,205) 5,192
INtCrest CXPCNSC vovvevnivvceiieerienn (5,603) (2,857) {4,625) {6,060} {4,118)
Interest income . 425 377 2,081 1,181 169
Interest in income 0f<.quuy

method investee .. - 770 560 80 157
Other income (Do 4,784 6,366 354 336 4,094
Adjustment to fair value of

derivative ... -- - - 315 196
Other expense (1).... (1,183) (529) - (436) (4.977)

Income {loss) bcf'orc crcdlt
(provision)} for income

taxcs and minority interest ... (35,214) (117,660} 1,995 (21,789} 713
Credit (proviqion) for income

L0 L SR (4,132) (2,348) (927) (453) 1,041
Minority mtcrcst 3461 15,331 (75) 21 (6}
Net income (1088)..venne. S (35.885) 5 (104,677} 5 993 5 (22,221) 3 1,748

Dividend to prcfcrrcd stockholdurﬁ (7.494) - - -- -
Net income (loss) available to
common stockholders {as

restated). e S (43.37%) S (104,677} 3 993 3 (22.221) $ 1748
Net income (loss) per sharc-
Basic e, 8 (2.38) 3 (3.64) $ 0.03 b {0.73) $ 0.06
Diluted ..o $ (2.38) 5 (3.64) $ 0.03 $ (0.73) 3 0.06
Weighted average shares

mllslandmg (000)

Basic ...cooieene e 18,215 28,733 29,729 30,546 30,618

Dllulcd 18,215 28,733 29,734 30,546 30,618
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As of December 31,
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital .......cocovvneee. § (18,018) $  (12,295) $ (11,004} 3 (9,794) $ 6,826
Total assets .......oovvveeereeeieeenens 253,105 131,811 151,242 11,132 70,989
Bank borrowings, convertible

debenture and long-term

obligations ......c...ccceeee e 68,587 48,455 56,148 44,501 §2,748
Sharcholders” equity ......oocvvivenes 107,709 30,678 35,360 17,922 21,243
(1)  Major components of other income (expensc) (as presented above) include rental and lcase income, and foreign currency
gains or losses. Sec “ltem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

(2) The expense in 2004 was the impairment of long-lived assets of our Mcxico operations duc to our decision to scll the
manufacturing operations in Mexico. The expense in 2003 was the impairment of our goodwill and intangible assets and write-off
of prepaid expenses due to our decision to cease dircctly operating a substantial majority of our cquipment and fixed assets in
Mexico commencing in the third quarter of 2003.

(3}  Cumulative translation loss attributable to liquidated Mexico operations in 2004 was due to our decision to cease our Mexico
opcrations.

@ In the third quarter of 2006, we evaluated the recoverability of the notes receivable — related partics and recorded a reserve on the

notes receivable in an amount equal to the outstanding balance less the value of the underlying assets sceuring the notes. The loss
was estimated to be approximately $27.1 million, resulting in a notes receivable balance at September 30, 2006 of approximately
$14 million. We believe there was no significant change subsequently on the valuc of the underlying asscts sccuring the notes;
therefore, we did not have additional reserve after the third quarter of 2006. See Note 5 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.”
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be rcad together with the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Tarrant Apparel Group and the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Staiements” included
clsewhere in this Form 10-K. This discussion summarizcs the significant factors affecting the
consolidated operating resuits, financial condition and liquidity and cash flows of Tarrant Apparcl Group
for the fiscal ycars ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007. Except for historical information, the
matters discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Opcrations arc forward looking statements that involve risks and uncertaintics and arc based upon
judgments concerning various factors that arc beyond our control. Sce “Cautionary Statcment Regarding
Forward-Looking Statcments™ and “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Overview

Tarrant Apparcl Group is a design and sourcing company for private label and private brand
casual apparcl scrving mass merchandisers, department stores, branded wholcsalers and specialty chains
located primarily in the United States. Qur private brands include Amcrican Rag Cie, Marisa K, and
American Star.

We gencrate revenues from the sale of apparcl merchandise to our customers that we have
manufactured by third party contract manufacturers located outside of the United States. Revenues and
net income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Revenues and Net Income (Loss): 2005 2006 2007
Total NEl SAICE ..oovei e § 214,648 $ 232402 $ 243721
Nel InComMe (10S5)...ocevieieiieeeeeee e $ 993 $ (22,221) % 1,748

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Cash Flows: 2005 2006 2007

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities..........ccco.o..... $  (12,900) § 15047 % 12,476

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .............ceeee.. h 3,555 $ 5,071y § 21,455

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities..................... b 9772  $ 10,713y § (34,345

Significant Developments in 2007

Private Label

Privaic label busincss has been our core competeney for over twenty years, and involves a onc to
onc relationship with a large, centratly controlled retailer with whom we can develop product lines that fit
with the charactenistics of their particular customer. Private tabel sales in 2007 were $198.8 million
comparcd to $181.2 million in 2006.
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Private Brands

We launched our private brands initiative in 2003, pursuant to which we acquirc ownership of or
license rights to a brand name and scll apparcl products under this brand, generally to a single retail
company within a geographic region. Private brands sales in 2007 werc $44.9 miilion compared to $51.2
million in 2006. During 2007, we owncd or licensed rights to the following private brands:

o American Rag Cie: During the first quarter of 2005, we extended our agrecement with
Macy’s Merchandising Group through 2014, pursuant to which we cxclusively distribute
our Amcrican Rag Cic brand through Macy’s Merchandising Group’s national
Department Storc organization of more than 600 storcs. Net sales of American Rag Cic
branded apparcl totaled $43.3 million in 2007 compared to $33.2 million in 2006.

o Alain Weiz: Wc have previously sold Alan Weiz apparel cxclusively to Dillard’s
Department Storcs. From January 1, 2007, we werc able to scll our licensed brand “Alain
Weiz” to spccialty stores and department stores. Net sales of Alain Weiz branded apparcl
totaled $131,000 in 2007 compared to $5.5 million in 2006. The “Alain Weiz” brand was
discontinucd in mid 2007 after disappointing performance.

e  Marisa K: This brand is being sold to specialty stores and boutiques. Net sales of Marisa
K branded apparel totaled $1.1 million in 2007.

e American Star: This brand is currently sold to Mothers’ Work. Sales in 2007 were
insignificant.

We are currently involved in litigation with American Rag Cie, LLC and American Rag Cic I
with respect to our license rights to the American Rag Cie trademark. American Rag Cie, LLC owns the
trademark “American Rag Cic”, which has been ticensed to us on an exclusive basis throughout the world
cxcept for Japan and pursuant to which we scll American Rag Cic branded apparel to Macy’s
Merchandising Group and have sub-licensed to Macy’s Merchandising Group the right to manufacturc
certain categorics of American Rag Cic branded apparel in the United States. American Rag Cie LLC has
purported to terminatc our licensc rights, and we have filed a counterclaim sccking to a declaratory
judgment that the termination was invalid and alleging othcr causcs of action. Amcrican Rag Cic, LLC is
owncd 45% by Tarrant Apparc! Group and 55% by American Rag Cic Il. For a further description of this
action scc “lItem 3. Legal Procecdings” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Buffalo Group

On December 6, 2006, we entered into a definitive stock and assct purchase agreement to acquirc
certain asscts and entities comprising The Buffalo Group. The Buffalo Group designs, imports and sells
contemporary branded apparel and accessorics, primarily in Canada and the United States.

Pursuant to the purchasc agrcement, we and our subsidiarics agreed to acquirc (1) all the
outstanding capital stock of four principal opcrating subsidiarics of The Buffalo Group - Buffalo Inc.,
3163946 Canada Inc., 3681441 Canada Inc. and Buffalo Corporation, and (2) certain assets, consisting
primarily of intellectual property rights and licenses, from The Buffalo Trust, for a total aggregate
purchase price of up to approximatcly $120 million. At signing of the purchase agreement, we delivered
$5.0 million to the sellers as a deposit against the purchase pricc payable under the agreement.

On April 19, 2007, we entered into a Mutual Termination and Release Agreement with The
Buffalo Group, pursuant to which we and the other partics to the purchase agreement mutually agreed to
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terminate the purchasc agreement. The parties determined that it was in the mutual best intcrest of cach
party to terminate the proposed agreement. Under the terms of the Mutual Termination and Relcase
Agreement, Buffalo agreed to return to us $4,750,000 of the $5,000,000 deposit previously provided by
us to The Buffalo Group pursuant to the purchasc agreement, and the partics have released cach other
from any claims arising under or related to the purchasc agreecment. The $5.0 million deposit was
previously recorded in other asscts in consolidated balance sheets. We received $4,750,000 in April 2007,
The remaining portion of the deposit of $250,000 and other due diligence fees incurred in the acquisition
process were recorded as terminated acquisition expenscs in the consolidated statements of opcerations in
the first quarter of 2007,

Notes Receivable — Related Party Reserve

In connection with the sale in 2004 of our asscts and rcal property in Mexico, the purchasers of
the Mexico asscts, Solticio, S.A. dc C.V. (“Solticio™), and Acabados y Cortes Textiles, S.A. de C.V.
(“Acotex™), issucd us unsccurced promissory notes of $3,910,000 that maturcd on November 30, 2007 and
sccured promissory notcs of $40,204,000 with payments duc on December 31, 2005 and cvery year
thercafter untit December 31, 2014. The sccured notes were sccured by the real and personal property in
Mexico that we sold to the purchasers. As of September 30, 2006, the outstanding balance of the notes
and intcrest receivables was $41.1 mitlion prior to the reserve.  Historically, we had placed orders for
purchases of fabric from the purchasers pursuant to the purchase commitment agreement we entered into
at the time of the sale of the Mexico asscts, and we had satisficd our payment obligations for the fabric by
offsctting thc amounts payablc against the amounts duc to us under the notes. However, during the third
quarter of 20006, the purchasers ceased providing fabric and were not making payments under the notes.
We further cvaluated the recoverability of the notes receivable and recorded a loss on the notes receivable
in the third quarter of 2006 in an amount cqual to the outstanding balance less the vatue of the underlying
asscts sccuring the notes. The loss was cstimated to be approximately $27.1 million, resulting in a nct
notes reccivable balance at September 30, 2006 of approximately $14 million. We belicve there was no
significant change subscquently on the value of the underlying assets sccuring the notes; therefore, we did
not have additional rescrve after the third quarter of 2006,

On March 21, 2007, our wholly-ownced subsidiary, Tarrant Luxembourg S.a.r.l., entered into a
ictter agreement with Solticio, Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. (“Inmobiliaria’), and Acotex, (Acolcx
and together with Solticio and Inmobiliania, the “Sellers™), and Tavex Algodonera, S.A. (“Tavex™), which
was subsequently amended. Pursuant to the agreement, as amended, Tavex had the right and option (but
not an obligation), at any timc on or prior to September 1, 2007, to pay to Tarrant Luxcmbourg an
aggregate of U.S. $17.75 multion in cash, whercupon, among other things, Tarrant Luxembourg would
terminate the Solticio and Acotex promissory notcs described above and releasc the Scllers from any
further obligations thercunder, and terminate and releasc all liens on the collateral securing thosc notes.

On August 21, 2007, we reccived a payment of $17.75 million from Tavex upon the exercisc by
Tavex of its option in accordance with the agrecement among the partics. In return for the Tavex’s
payment of $17.75 million, we have taken the following actions in accordance with the terms of the
agrcement:

e Tarrant Luxcmbourg terminated the Solticio and Acotex promissory notes described

above and relecased the Sellers from any further obligations thercunder, and
terminated and released all liens on the collateral sccuring thosc notes;
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e Tarrant Luxembourg and the Scllers terminated all other exccutory obligations
among the partics, including any obligation of ours to purchasc fabric from Soliticio
and Acotex; and

e Tarrant Luxembourg agreed to purchase from Tavex at least U.S. $1.25 million of
fabric prior to the end of 2007, and Tarrant Luxembourg agreed to deliver an
irrevocable lctter of credit for the full purchasc price.

Upon closing of the transaction and recciving the payment of $17.75 million, we recorded a gain
of $3.75 million on our consolidated statcments of operations as other income in the third quarter of 2007.
We placed a fabric order with Tavex on August 21, 2007 for $1.25 million pursuant to the agreement. At
Dccember 31, 2007, the irrevocablc letter of credit expired and we did not have any further commitment
to purchasc fabric from Tavex.

Credit Facility

In Junc 2006, we entered into a new $65 million credit facility with Guggenheim Corporate
Funding, LLC (as administrative and collatcral agent for certain lenders) and expanded our existing
facilitics with GMAC Commercial Finance Credit, LLC from $45 million to $55 million and DBS Bank
(Hong Kong) Limited from $4.5 million to $25 million. The credit facility with Guggenheim consisted of
an initial tcrm loan of $25 mitlion, of which $15.5 million was advanced at the initial closing. A second
term loan of up to $40 million was available to finance acquisitions acceptable to Guggenheim as agent.
On September 26, 2007, we repaid in full the term loan of $15.5 million outstanding under the
Guggenheim credit facility. In November 2007, we executed a payoff letter with Guggenheim and the
lenders, which released all liens held by Guggenheim and the lenders.

Internal Revenue Service Audit

In January 2004, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed its examination of our Federal
income tax returns for the ycars ended December 31, 1996 through 2001. The IRS had proposed
adjustments to incrcase our incomc tax payable for the six years under cxamination. In addition, in July
2004, the IRS initiated an cxamination of our Federal income tax return for the year ended December 31,
2002. In December 2007, we received a final asscssment from the IRS of $7.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 1996 through 2002, and in the first quarter of 2008, we cntered into a final settlement
agrecment with the IRS. Under the scttlement, which totals $13.9 million, including $6.5 million of
intcrest, we agreed to pay the IRS $4 million in March 2008 and an additional $250,000 per month until
rcpayment in full. The settlement with the IRS is within amounts accrued for as of December 31, 2007 in
our financial statements, and we therefore do not anticipate the scttlement to result in any additional
charges to income other than intercst on the outstanding balance.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and rcsults of opcrations arc based upon
our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of Amecrica. The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make cstimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilitics,
revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent asscts and liabilitics. We are required to
makc assumptions about matters, which arc highly uncertain at the time of the cstimate. Different .
cstimates we could rcasonably have used or changes in the estimates that arc rcasonably likely to occur
could have a matcrial effect on our financial condition or result of operations. Estimalcs and assumptions
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about future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty. On an ongoing basis, we
cvaluate estimates, including those related to allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts, inventory,
notes rcceivable — rclated parties reserve, valuation of long-lived and intangible asscts and goodwill,
accrucd cxpenscs, incomce taxcs, stock options valuation, contingencies and litigation. We base our
estimates on historical experience and on various assumptions belicved to be applicable and rcasonable
under the circumstances. These cstimates may change as new cvents occur, as additional information is
obtaincd and as our opcrating cnvironment changes. In addition, wc arc periodically faced with
uncertainties, the outcomes of which arc not within our control and will not be known for prolonged
period of time.

We belicve our financial statements arc fairly stated in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principlcs in thc United States of Amcrica and provide a meaningful presentation of our
financial condition and results of operations.

We belicve the following critical accounting policics affect our more significant judgments and
cstimates uscd in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. For a further discussion on the
application of these and other accounting policics, scec Note | of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statemcents.”

Accounts Receivable--Allowance for Returns, Discounts and Bad Debts

We cvaluate the collectibility of accounts reccivable and chargebacks (disputes from the
customer) bascd upon a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are awarc of a specific
customer’s inability to mect its financial obligations (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or
substantial downgrading of credit sources), a specific reserve for bad debts is taken against amounts duc
to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. For all other
customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts and uncollectible chargebacks bascd on our historical
collection cxpericnce. If collection expericnce deteriorates (for cxample, duc to an uncxpected material
adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations to us), the estimates of the
rccoverability of amounts duc to us could be reduced by a material amount.

As of December 31, 2007, the balance of the allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts was
$2.0 million, compared to $2.1 million at December 31, 2006.

Inventory

Our inventorics arc stated (valued) at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or markct. Under certain
market conditions, we use estimates and judgments regarding the valuation of inventory to properly value
inventory. Inventory adjustments are made for the difference between the cost of the inventory and the
cstimated market value and charged to opcrations in the period in which the facts that give risc to the
adjustments become known.

Valuation of Long-lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We have adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” We assess the need for impairment of identifiable intangibles, long-lived asscts
and goodwill with a fair-valuc-based tcst on an annual basis or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair valuc of a reporting unit below its
carrying amount. Factors considered important that could trigger an impairment review include, but arc not
limited to, the following:
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. a significant undcrperformance relative to expected historical or projected future
opcrating results;

. a significant change in the manner of the usc of the acquired assct or the stratcgy for the
ovcrall busingss; or

. a significant ncgative industry or cconomic trend.

We utilized the discounted cash flow methodology to cstimate fair valuc. At December 31, 2007,
wc had a goodwill balance of $9.9 million, and a net property and equipment balance of $1.5 million, as
comparcd to a goodwill balance of $9.9 million and a nct property and equipment balance of $1.4 million
at December 31, 2006. During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we did not recognize any
impairment related to goodwilt and property and equipment.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilitics of our Hong Kong subsidiarics are translated at the rate of exchange in effect
on the balance sheet date; income and expenses arc translated at the average rates of exchange prevailing
during the year. The functional currency in which we transact business in Hong Kong is the Hong Kong
dollar. At December 31, 2006, we had one open forcign cxchange forward contract with a maturity of less
than onc year. Hedge incffectivencss resulted in a loss totaling $196,000 during 2006. At December 31,
2007, we had no open forcign cxchange forward contracts. Hedge incffectivencss resulted in a gain of
$196,000 during 2007.

Transaction gains or losses, other than inter-company debt deemed to be of a long-term nature,
arc included in net income (loss) in the period in which they occur. Foreign currency gains and losses
resulting from translation of asscts and liabilitics related to our Hong Kong subsidiaries were insignificant
in 2006 and 2007.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized at the point of shipment for all merchandisc sold based on FOB shipping
point. For merchandisc shipped on landed duty paid (or “LDP”’} terms, revenuc is recognized at the point
of cither leaving Customs for direct shipments or at the point of leaving our warchouse where title is
transferred, net of an cstimate of returned merchandise and discounts. Customers are allowed the rights of
return or non-acceptance only upon receipt of damaged products or goods with quality different from
shipment samples. We do not undertake any after-sale warranty or any form of price protcction.

We often arrange, on behalf of manufacturers, for the purchase of fabric from a single supplicr.
We have the fabric shipped dircectly to the cutting factory and invoicc the factory for the fabric. Generally,
the factories pay us for the fabric with offscts against the price of the finished goods.

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, wc adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Sharc-Bascd Payment,” (“SFAS
No. 123(R)”) which requires thc measurement and recognition of compensation cxpense for all share-
bascd payment awards made to employees and dircctors bascd on estimated fair valucs. SFAS No. 123(R)
supcrsedes our previous accounting under Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” for periods beginning in fiscal 2006. In March 2005, the
SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107 relating to SFAS No. 123(R). We have applied
the provisions of SAB No. 107 in our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).
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We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective transition method, which requires
the application of the accounting standard as of January 1, 2006, the first day of our fiscal year 2006. Our
financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 reflect the impact of
SFAS No. 123(R). In accordance with the modificd prospective transition method, our financial
statements for prior periods have not been restated to reflect, and do not includc, the impact of SFAS No.
123(R). Stock-bascd compensation expense rccognized under SFAS No. 123(R) during the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007 was $187,000 and $771,000, respectively. Basic and dilutive carnings per
share for the ycar ended December 31, 2006 were decrcased by $0.01 from $(0.72) to $(0.73) by the
additional stock-basced compensation recognized. Basic and dilutive carnings per share for the year ended
Dccember 31, 2007 were decrcased by $0.02 from $0.08 to $0.06 by thc additional stock-bascd
compensation recognized.

The fair valuc of cach option granted to employces and dircclors is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing modcl (“Black-Scholes model”) with the following weighted
average assumptions used for grants in 2005, 2006 and 2007: weighted-average volatility factors of the
cxpected market price of our common stock of 0.55 for 2005, 0.7 for 2006 and 0.7 for 2007, weighted-
average risk-free interest rates of 4% for 2005, 5.075% for 2006 and 3.9% to 4.67% for 2007, dividend
vicld of 0% for 2005, 2006 and 2007, and weighted-average expected life of the options of 4 ycars for
2005, 6.25 ycars for 2006 and 0.06 ycars to 6.18 ycars for 2007.

Income Taxes

As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to
cstimate incomce taxcs in cach of the jurisdictions in which we operate. The process involves cstimating
actual currcnt tax expensc along with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing trecatment
of items for book and 1ax purposes. These timing differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilitics,
which arc included in our consolidated balance shects. We record a substantial valuation allowance to
reduce its deferred tax asscts to the amount that is more likcly than not to be realized. We have considered
futurc taxable income and ongoing tax planning stratcgics in asscssing the nced for the valuation
allowancc. Increascs in the valuation allowance result in additional expense to be reflected within the tax
provision in the consolidated statement of operations.

In addition, accruals are also cstimated for ongoing audits regarding U.S. Federal tax issucs that arc
currently unresolved, based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be duc.
We routinely monitor the potential impact of these situations and belicve that amounts are properly accrued for.
If we ultimately determine that payment of these amounts is unnccessary, we will reverse the liability and
recognize a tax benefit during the period in which we determine that the hability is no longer necessary, We will
record an additional charge in our provision for taxes in any period we determing that the original cstimatc of a
tax liability is less than we expect the ultimate assessment to be. See Note 12 of the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements™ for a discussion of current tax matters.

In Junc 2006, thc Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issucd Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes- An Interpretation of FASB  Statement No. 109”
(“FIN48™). FIN 4% clarifics the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s
financial statlements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 also prescribes
a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a
tax position taken or cxpected to be taken in a iax retumn that results in a tax benefit. Additionally, FIN 48
provides guidance on de-rccognition, income statement classification of interest and penaltics, accounting in
intcrim periods, disclosure, and transition. We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result
of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognized no material adjustment for unrecognized tax benefits but
reduced retained camings as of fanuary 1, 2007 by approximately $1 million attributable to penaltics accrued as
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a component of income tax payable. As of the datc of adoption, our unrccognized tax benefits totaled
approximately $8.9 million.

Wc and scveral of our subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S., Hong Kong, Luxembourg,
Mexico and various state jurisdictions. We are currently subject to an audit by the State of New York for the
years 2002 to 2005, but arc not currently being audited by other states or subject to non-U.S. income tax
jurisdictions for years open in those taxing jurisdictions.

In January 2004, the IRS completed its examination of our Federal income tax returns for the years
ended December 31, 1996 through 2001, The IRS had proposed adjustments to increase our income tax payable
for these years under cxamination. In addition, in July 2004, the IRS initiatcd an examination of our Federal
income tax rcturn for the ycar ended December 31, 2002. In December 2007, we received a final assessment
from the IRS of $7.4 million for the ycars ended December 31, 1996 through 2002, and in the first quarter of
2008, we cntered into a final scttlement agreement with the IRS. Under the settlement, which totals $13.9
million, including $6.5 million of interest, we agreed to pay the IRS $4 million in March 2008, and an additional
$250,000 per month until repayment in full. The settlement with the IRS is within amounts accrued for as of
December 31, 2007 in our financial statements, and we thercfore do not anticipate the settlement to result in any
additional charges to income other than interest on the outstanding balance. Due to the negotiated settlement, we
reclassified the IRS and state tax liabilities from unccrtain tax position to current payable on December 31,
2007.

The total unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007 were $8.9 million, excluding intercst,
penaltics and related income tax benefits and would be rccorded as a component of income tax expense if
recognized. We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penaltics as a component of
income 1ax cxpense. As of January 1, 2007, the accrued interest and penaltics were $8.0 million and $1.2
million, respectively, excluding any related income tax benefits. During 2007, we de-recogniized a previous
unccrtain tax position through negotiations with the state tax jurisdiction. The negotiated settlement resulted in a
decrease of $1.5 million in unrecognized tax benefits and $1.0 million in penalties. During 2007, we also de-
rccognized a previous uncertain tax position through scttlement with the IRS. The negotiated settlement resulted
in a decrcasc of $7.4 million in unrecognized tax bencfits. After the above adjustments, there was no
unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, the acerued interest and penaltics
were $7.2 million and $142,000, respectively.

In many cascs, the uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain subject to examination by
the rclevant tax authoritics. Federal and state statutcs are open from 2003 through the present peried. Hong
Kong statutes arc open from 2001, Luxembourg from 2003 and Mcxico from 2001.

Debt Covenants

Qur dcbt agrecements require certain covenants including a minimum level of EBITDA and
specified tangible net worth; and required interest coverage ratio and leverage ratio as discusscd in Note 9
of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.” If our results of operations crode and we are not able
to obtain waivers from the lenders, the debt would be in default and callabie by our lenders. In addition,
duc to cross-dcfault provisions in our debt agrecments, substantially all of our long-term debt would
become duc in full if any of the debt is in default. In anticipation of us not being able to meet the required
covenants duc to various reasons, we either ncgotiate for changes in the relative covenants or an advance
waiver or reclassify the relevant debt as current. We also believe that our lenders would provide waivers
if necessary. However, our expectations of future operating results and continued compliance with other
debt covenants cannot be assured and our lenders’ actions arc not controllable by us. If projections of
future operating results arc not achieved and the debt is placed in default, we would be required to reduce
our expenscs, including by curtailing operations, and to raisc capital through the salc of asscts, issuance of
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cquity or otherwise, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations. As of December 31, 2007, we were in violation of the EBITDA and tangible net
worth covenants and waivers of the defaults were obtained in March 2008 from our lenders.

Derivative Activities
Warrant Derivatives

SFAS No. 133 “Accounting for Decrivative Instrumcnts and Hedging Activitics” requires
measurcment of certain derivative instruments at their fair valuc for accounting purposcs. In determining
the appropriate fair value, we usc the Black-Scholes modcl. Derivative liabilities are adjusted to reflect
fair valuc at cach pcriod end, with any incrcase or decreasc in the fair value being recorded in
consolidated statcments of opcrations as adjustment to fair valuc of derivative. At December 31, 2006,
there was an income of $511,000 recorded as adjustment to fair valuc of derivative on our consolidated
statcments of opcrations. Sce Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”

Foreign Currency Forward Contract

We source our products in a number of countries throughout the world, as a result, are exposed to
movements in foreign currency exchange rates. The primary purpose of our foreign currcncy hedging
activitics is to manage the volatility associated with forcign currency purchases of materials in the normal
course of business. We utilize derivative financial mstruments consisting primarily of forward currency
contracts. These instruments are intended to protect against exposurc rclated to financing transactions and
income from intcrnational operations. We do not cnter into derivative financial instruments for
spcculative or trading purposcs. We may enter into certain foreign currency derivative instruments that do
not mecet hedge accounting criteria.

SFAS No. 133 rcquires mcasurcment of certain derivative instruments at their fair valuc for
accounting purposes. All derivative instruments are recorded on our balance shect at fair value; as a result,
wc mark to market all derivative instruments. Derivative liabilitics arc adjusted to reflect fair valuc at
cach period end, with any incrcasc or decrease in the fair valuc being recorded in consolidated statcments
of operations as adjustment to fair value of derivative. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we
entered into forcign currency forward contracts 1o hedge against the ceffcct of exchange rate fluctuations on
cash flows denominated in foreign currencics and certain inter-company financing transactions. This
transaction is undesignated and as such an ineffective hedge. At December 31, 2006, we had one open
forcign exchange forward contract which has a maturity of lcss than once year. Hedge incffectiveness
resulted in a loss of $196,000 in our consolidated statcments of operations as of December 31, 2006. At
December 31, 2007, we had no open foreign exchange forward contracts. Hedge ineffectiveness resulted in
a gain of $196,000 in our consolidated statements of opcerations as of December 31, 2007.

New Accounting Pronouncements
For a deseription of recent accounting pronouncements including the respective expected dales of

adoption and cffects on results of operations and financial condition, see Note | of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.”
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, certain items in our consolidatcd
statcments of income as a percentage of net sales:

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

INCESALES .. 100.0 % 98.1 % 92.0 %
Net sales to related party......oococveieneiiiiinen -- 1.9 8.0
Total net sales....coovvivenieicnieceicenece e, 100.0 100.0 100.0
Costofsales.........cooieeeiiiiiecenees e 79.1 76.6 72.7
Cost of sales to related party......ocovveeieennee -- 1.6 7.2
Total cost of sales......ccovcciviiiiiiiiiinnenns 79.1 78.2 79.9
Gross profit ... 20.9 21.8 20.1
Sclling and distribution expenses...........co.... 5.0 4.7 6.0
General and administration ¢Xpenscs........... 12.5 11.6 10.0
Royalty CXPenses .......coeveeiccninecnncnienenens 1.7 1.2 0.8
Loss on notcs receivable-related partics ... - 11.7 -
Terminated acquisition CXpenscs ... -- -- 0.8
Adjustment to fair value of long-term

rcccivable — related parties.........oocoveenns -- -- 0.3
Income (loss) from operations ..........c.ccocenen. 1.7 (7.4) 2.2
INLCTCSt CXPLNSC....oeeviereereiacenaaesrranerrreeraraens (2.2) (2.6) (1.7n
Interest inCome ... 1.0 0.5 0.0
Interest in income of equity method invesiee 03 0.0 0.0
Other INCOME ...t 0.1 0.2 1.7
Adjustment to fair value of derivative .......... 0.0 0.1 0.1
OLhEr CXPENSC..euri e e (0.0) (0.2) (2.0)
Income (loss) before provision (credit) for

income taxes and minority interest .......... 0.9 (9.4) 0.3
Provision (credit) for income taxcs............... 0.4 0.2 (0.4)
Minority Interest.. .o e 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net Income (1088) vounereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeae 0.5% (9.6)% 0.7 %

Comparison of 2007 to 2006

Total net sales increased by $11.3 million, or 4.9%, from $232.4 million in 2006 to $243.7
million in 2007. The increasc in total nct salcs was primarily due to increased sales in our private label
busincss which amounted to $198.8 million in 2007 compared to $181.2 million in 2006, The increasc in
2007 camc primarily from sales to New York & Co and Seven Liccnsing, and was partially offsct by
decreasced sales to Kohl’s and Mervyn’s. Private brands sales in 2007 totaled $44.9 million compared to
$51.2 million in 2006. Sales of “Jessica Simpson”, “House of Dercon” and “Alain Weiz” brands werc
discontinucd in 2007, comparcd to salcs of these brands amounting to $16.7 million in 2006. The loss in
the sales of these brands was partially offsct by an increasc of $9.6 million in the sales of the “American
Rag Cic” brand in 2007.

31




Gross profit consists of total net sales less product costs, direct labor, duty, quota, freight in,
brokcrage, warchouse handling and markdown. Gross profit for 2007 was $48.9 million, or 20.1% of total
nct salcs, comparcd to $50.6 million, or 21.8 % of total nct salcs for 2006, representing a decrcasc of $1.7
million or 3.4%. The decreasc in gross profit for 2007 was primarily caused by a $1.5 million loss on the
sale of Mexico fabric inventory in 2007 after the completion of the Tavex transaction selling all our assets
in Mexico for cash.

Sclling and distribution expenscs increased by $3.7 million, or 33.7%, from $11.0 million in 2006
to $14.7 million in 2007. As a percentage of total net sales, these variable expenses increased from 4.7%
in 2006 to 6.0% in. 2007. The increase in sclling and distribution expenses was primarily caused by the
incrcascd cxpenscs incurrcd in cstablishing new brands such as “Marisa K” and incrcascd advertising
expenses on “American Rag Cie” brand in 2007 due te more advertising cfforts.

General and administrative cxpenses decrcased by $2.6 million, or 9.5%, from $26.9 million in
2006 to $24.3 million in 2007. As a percentage of total nct salces, these expenses decreased from 11.6% in
2006 to 10.0% in 2007. The main reduction in gencral and administrative expenses in 2007 resulted from
the settlement of the Jessica Simpson litigation and the reimbursement 1o us of $3.0 million of lcgal
cxpenses we previously incurred in the litigation. This reduction was partially offsct by a $1.0 million
reserve on a long-term receivable - related partics.

Adjustment to fair value of long-term rcccivable - related party was $0.8 million, or 0.3% of total
nct sales in 2007 comparcd to $0 in 2006. Basced on the repayment history of the related partics and
litigation they are currently subject to, we estimated that our receivable of $3.4 mallion will take
approximately threc ycars for collection in full. We therefore made a $1.0 million reserve and then fair-
valucd the balance of this assct using our weighted average cost of capital as the discount rate and a term
of three years as the discount period. See “Related party transactions.”

Royalty and marketing allowance cxpenses decrcased by $951,000, or 33.8%, from $2.8 million
in 2006 to $1.9 million in 2007. The decrcase was caused by the discontinucd sales under the Jessica
Simpson license in 2007, compared to $1.1 million of royalty paid on the brand in 2006, As a pereentage
of total nct salcs, these cxpenses decreased from 1.2% in 2006 to 0.8% in 2007.

Loss on notes receivable - related parties was $27.1 million or 11.7% of total net sales in 2006,
compared to no such expense in 2007. During 2006, the purchasers of our Mexico assets ccased providing
fabric and were not making payments under the notes. We cvaluated the recoverability of the notes
rcceivable and recorded a loss on the notes reccivable in an amount cqual to the outstanding balancce lcss
the valuc of the underlying asscts securing the notes. Sce Note 5 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statemcnts™.

Terminated acquisition expenses in 2007 were $2.0 million, or 0.8% of total net sales, compared
to no such expensc in 2006. These expenscs consisted of the non-refunded portion of a deposit in the
amount of $250,000 and other expenses including duc diligence and lcgal fees incurred in connection
with our proposcd acquisition of The Buffalo Group. The transaction was mutually terminated on April
19, 2007. Sce Note 7 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™.

Loss from opcrations was $17.2 million in 2006, or (7.4)% of total net sales, compared to income
from opceration of $5.2 million in 2007, or 2.2% of total net sales. The higher revenue in 2007 as well as
thc absence of any further charge for the write-down on notes receivable accounted for the improvement
in the operating results in 2007 compared to 2006.
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Intcrest expensc decrcased by $1.9 million, or 32.0%, from $6.1 million in 2006 to $4.1 million
in 2007. As a percentage of total net sales, this expense decreased from 2.6% in 2006 to 1.7% in 2007.
The decrease was primarily due to decreased borrowings under our credit facilitics and the repayment of
our term loan facility in September 2007. Also included in interest expense in 2006 was $711,000 of debt
discount rclated to intrinsic value of the conversion option of debentures and the remaining valuc of the
warrants issucd to holders of debenturcs as a result of the repayment of the debentures in June 2006.

Interest income decreased by $1.0 million, or 85.7%, from $1.2 million in 2006 to $169,000 in
2007. Interest carned from the notes receivable-related party amounted to $901,000 in 2006, compared to
no such income in 2007.

Interest in income of equity method investee represented our 45% share of equity interest in the
owner of the trademark “Amecrican Rag Cic” and the operator of Amcrican Rag retail stores. Interest in
income of equity mecthod investee increased by $76,000 or 96.3%, from $80,000 in 2006 to $156,000 in
2007. The increase came mainly from increased royalty paid by our subsidiary Private Brands, Inc. on
increased sales to Macy’s.

Other income increased by $3.8 million, or 1,119.5%, from $336,000 in 2006 to $4.1 million in
2007. Included in other income in 2007 was a gain of $3.8 million on notes reccivable — related parties.
Sce Note 5 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”. Adjustment to fair value of derivative
was $196,000 in 2007, compared to $315,000 in 2006,

Othcr cxpenscs increased by $4.5 million, or 1,042.6%, from $436,000 in 2006 to $5.0 million in
2007. Other cxpenscs in 2006 consisted of a payment of $400,000 upon the termination of the license
agreements with Cynthia Rowley. Other expenses of $5 million in 2007 consisted of expensing all the
financing and related cxpenses and the remaining value of the warrants issued to tenders and the
placement agent upon repaying our term loan in full. Sce Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements”.

Income (loss) before provision (credit) for income taxcs and minority interest was $(21.8) million
in 2006 and $713,000 in 2007, rcpresenting (9.4)% and 0.3% of total net salcs, respectively. Loss before
provision for incomc taxcs in 2006 included the loss on notes receivable — related parties of $27.1 million.

Provision for incomc taxes was $453,000 in 2006 comparcd to credit for income taxes of $1.0
million in 2007, representing 0.2% and (0.4)% of total net sales, respectively. The tax credit in 2007 was
primarily a result of write-backs of FIN 48 accruals after our scttlements of some uncertain tax positions
with the State and Federal tax authorities.

Loss allocated to minority intcrest in 2006 was $21,000, for the minority partner’s 25% sharce in
the loss of PBG7, LLC. Income allocated to minority interest in 2007 was $6,000, for the minority partner
in PBG7, LLC’s 25% sharc in the income.

Net income {loss) was $(22.2) million in 2006 as compared to $1.7 million in 2007, representing
(9.6)% and 0.7% of total net sales, respectively. Included in the $22.2 million nct loss in 2006 was a loss
on notes receivable - related partics of $27.1 miilion.

Comparison of 2006 to 2005
Total nct sales incrcased by $17.8 million, or 8.3%, from $214.6 million in 2005 to $2324

million in 2006. The increase in total nct sales was primarily duc to increased sales of our private label
business, which was $181.2 million in 2006 comparcd to $159.6 million in 2005, with the increase in
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2006 resulting primarily from higher sales 1o Mothers Work and Charlottc Russe which was a new
customer. Private brands sales in 2006 were $51.2 million compared to $55.0 million in 2005 with the
dccrease resuiting primarily from no sales of Gear 7 in 2006, compared to $14.4 million in 2005, and
offsct by an increase in sales to Macy’s Merchandising Group of $11.6 million which included $1.5
million of sublicensing royalty income in 2006.

Gross profit consists of total nct sales less product costs, direct labar, duty, quota, freight in,
brokerage, warchouse handling and markdown. Gross profit for 2006 was $50.6 million, or 21.8% of total
nct sales, compared to $44.9 million, or 20.9 % of total nct sales for 2005, representing an increase of
$5.8 million or 12.8%. The incrcase in gross profit for 2006 occurred primarily because of an increase in
sales volumne, including $1.5 million of subliccnsing royalty income, and gross margin. The improvement
in gross margin is primarily attributablc to the change of relative product mix in private label business and
improved sourcing in privatc brand busincss in 2006,

Sclling and distribution cxpenscs incrcased by $290,000, or 2.7%, from $10.7 million in 2005 10
$11.0 million in 2006. As a pereentage of total net sales, these variable cxpenses decreased from 5.0% in
2005 to 4.7% in 2006 due to the increase in sales volume in 2006.

Genceral and administrative expenses increased by $14,000, or 0.1%, from $26.86 million in 2005
to $26.88 million in 2006. As a percentage of total net sales, these expenses decreased from 12.5% in
2005 to 11.6% in 2006 duc to the increasc in sales volume in 2006. Included in general and administrative
expenses in 2006 was $187,000 stock-based compensation as compared 1o no such cxpense in 2005.

Royalty and marketing allowance cxpenses decreased by $850,000, or 23.2%, to $2.8 million in
2006 from $3.7 million in 2005. The dcerease was primarily due to the royalty payment to House of
Dereon in 2005 as compared to no such cxpensc in 2006, As a percentage of total net sales, these
cxpenscs decreased to 1.2% in 2006 from 1.7% in 20035.

Loss on notcs rcecivable - related partics was $27.1 million or 11.7% of total net sales in 2006,
compared to no such cxpensc in 2005. During 2006, the purchascrs of our Mcxico asscts ccased providing
fabric and were not currently making payments under the notes, We cvaluated the recoverability of the
notes reccivable and recorded a loss on the notes receivable in an amount equal to the outstanding balance
less the value of the underlying asscts sccuring the notes. Sce Notc 5 of the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements™.

Loss from operations was $17.2 million in 2006, or (7.4)% of total net sales, compared to income
from opcration of $3.6 million in 2005, or 1.7% of total nct sales, duc to the factors described above.

Interest expensc increased by $1.4 million, or 31.0%, from $4.6 million in 2005 to $6.1 million in
2006. As a percentage of total net sales, this cxpense increased to 2.6% in 2006 from 2.2% in 2005. The
increasc was primarily duc to an interest expensc of $1.6 million in 2006 related to interest payments and
amortization of debt discount arising from the credit facility from Guggenheim Corporate Funding LLC.
Included in the interest expense was $1.3 million in 2005 and $1.1 million in 2006 rclated o interest
payments to holders of convertible debentures and amortization of debt discount arising from convertible
debentures issucd in 2005, Intcrest income decreased by $900,000, or 43.2%, from $2.1 million in 2005
to $1.2 million in 2006. The decrcase was primarily duc to the interest earned from the notes receivable
rclated to the sale of our fixed assets in Mcexico of $1.9 million in 2005, compared to $901,000 in 2006
due to the purchasers of the Mexico assets discontinuing making payments under the notes. Other income
decrcased by $19,000, or 5.3%, from $354,000 in 2005 to $336,000 in 2006. Other cxpenses were $1,000
in 2005, comparcd to $436,000 in 2006 duc to a payment of $400,000 upon the termination of the license
agrecements with Cynthia Rowley.
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Interest in income of equity method investee represented our 45% share of equity interest in the
owner of the trademark “American Rag Ci¢” and the opcrator of Amcrican Rag retail stores. Interest in
income of cquity method investee decreascd by $480,000 or 85.8%, from $560,000 in 2005 to $80,000 in
2006, This decrease of interest in income of equity method investee could be attributed to an increase of
$230,000 in markdown on slow-moving invcntory, an incrcasce in occupancy and depreciation expenses
by $546,000 and an incrcasc in personnel expenses by $270,000 duc to the opening of a new retail store.

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes and minority interest was $(21.8) million in 2006
and $2.0 million in 2005, representing (9.4)% and 0.9% of total net sales, respectively. The increase in
loss before provision for income taxes was primarily due to the loss on notes receivable — related partics
of $27.1 million recorded in 2006 and the other factors discusscd above.

Provision for income taxes was $453,000 in 2006 compared to $927,000 in 2005, representing
(.2% and 0.4% of total nct sales, respectively.

In 2005, wc allocated $75,000 of profit to minority interest, which consisted of profit shared with
the minority partner in the PBG7, LLC. Loss allocated to minority interest in 2006 was $21,000, for its
25% share in the loss.

Nect income (loss) was $(22.2) million in 2006 as compared $1.0 million in 2005, representing
(9.6)% and 0.5% of total net salcs, respectively. Included in the $22.2 million net loss in 2006 was a loss
on nolcs rcceivable - related parties of $27.1 million. There was no such cxpense in 2005.

Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table scts forth, for the periods indicated, certain items in our consolidated
statcments of income in millions of dollars and as a percentage of total nct salcs:

Quarter Ended

Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31 Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31
2000 2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007

Total net Sales $61.3 $59.1 $54.6 $57.4 $56.1 $60.1 $70.2 $57.3

Gross profit 12.5 12.7 11.8 13.6 12.3 12.6 12.9 11.1

Operating income (loss) 1.6 2.6 (24.7) 33 0.1 25 2.7 (0.1)

Net income (loss) 0.8 0.6 (25.3) 1.7 (1.0) 0.8 1.6 03
Quarter Ended

Mar.31 Jun.30 Sep.30 Dec.31 Mar.31 Jun, 30 Sep.30 Dec 31

2006 2006 2006 2006 2007 2007 2007 2007
Total net sales 100.0%  100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Gross profit 204 214 21.6 23.8 22.0 20.9 18.4 19.3
Operating income (loss) 2.7 44 (45.3) 5.7 0.1 42 3.8 0.1)
Net income (loss) 1.4 1.0 (46.4) 29 (1.8) 1.3 2.3 0.5
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As is typical for us, quarterly total net sales fluctuated significantly because our customers
typically place bulk orders with us, and a change in the number of orders shipped in any onc pcriod may
have a material effect on the total net sales for that period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
We had cash and cash cquivalents of approximatcly $491,000 at December 31, 2007.

We significantly strengthened our balance sheet and improved our liquidity in 2007. The sale of
all our Mexico assets for cash cnabled us to repay our most expensive loans and as a result our financing
cost has since substantially decreased. The IRS settlement and installment repayment plan has rcmoved a
significant uncertainty in our financial condition which we have operated under for the past several years.

Our liquidity rcquircmcents arisc from the funding of our working capital nceds, principally
inventory, finished goods shipments-in-transit, work-in-process and accounts receivable, including
rcccivables from our contract manufacturers that relate primarily to fabric we purchasc for usc by those
manufacturers. Our primary sources for working capital and capital expenditures arc cash flow from
operations, borrowings under our bank and other credit facilities, issuance of long-term debt, sales of
cquity and debt sccuritics, and vendor financing. In the ncar term, we expect that our operations and
borrowings under bank and other credit facilitics will provide sufficient cash to fund our opcrating
cxpenscs, capital expenditurcs and intcrest payments on our debt. In the long-term, we cxpect 1o use
internally generated funds and cxternal sources to satisfy our debt and other long-term liabilitics,

Our liquidity is dependent, in part, on customers paying on time. Any abnormal chargebacks or
returns may affect our source of short-term funding. Any changes in credit terms given to major
customers may have an impact on our cash flow. Supplicrs’ credit is another major source of short-term
financing and any adverse changes in their terms will have negative impact on our cash flow.

Other principal factors that coutd affect the availability of our internally generated funds include:

» deterioration of sales duc to weakness in the markets in which we sell our products;
s decreases in market prices for our products;
+ incrcascs in costs of raw matcerials;

e loss of rights to the American Rag Cic trademark if litigation in which arc involved is
resotved in a matter unfavorable to us; and

e changes in our working capital requircments.

Principal factors that could affcct our ability to obtain cash from cxternal sources include:

* financtal covenants contained 1n our current or future bank and debt factlitics; and
» volatility in thec market price of our common stock or in the stock markets in gencral.
Certain of our privatc brands product lines arc gencrally associated with higher selling, gencral

and administrative expenscs, due Lo significant design, development, and marketing costs compared to our
privatc label business.
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Cash flows for the ycars ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Cash Flows: 2005 2006 2007

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities .........coe... $§ (12900 § 15,047  § 12,476
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .........ccceveeee. $ 3,555 % (5,071) § 21,455
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities.........cccceeeeee. $ 9772 $  (10,713) §  (34,345)

Nct cash provided by operating activitics was $12.5 million in 2007, as compared to nct cash
provided by operating activitics in 2006 of $15.0 million and nct cash uscd in operating activitics in 2005
of $12.9 million. Net cash provided by opcrating activities in 2007 rcsulted primarily from a net income
of $1.7 million, $1.9 million of depreciation and amortization of fixcd asscts and deferred financing cost,
$5.0 million write-off of deferred financing cost and debt discount and a decrease of $14.1 million in
accounts rcccivable and $4.6 million in inventory, offsct by a gain on notes receivable - related partics of
$3.8 million and a decrease of $10.9 million in accounts payable. The decrease in inventory was primarily
duc to the increase in sales in 2007, the decrcase in accounts payable resulted from the pay down of
payables and the decrease in accounts receivable was duc to increased collections.

During 2007, nct cash provided by investing activities was $21.5 million, as compared to net cash
used in investing activitics of $5.1 million and net cash provided by investing activitics of $3.6 million in
2005. Nct cash provided by investing activities in 2007 rcsulted primarily from $17.8 million procceds
from notes receivable and a return of a $4.8 million of deposit in conncction with the termination of our
previously proposed acquisition of The Buffalo Group, offset by approximatety $700,000 of duc diligence
fees incurred in connection with that proposed acquisition.

During 2007, net cash used in financing activities was $34.3 million as compared to net cash used
in financing activitics of $10.7 million in 2006 and net cash provided by financing activitics of $9.8
million in 2005. Net cash used in financing activities in 2007 resulted primarily from the re-payment of
$15.5 million of our term loan, $16.6 million of our long-term borrowings and $3.9 million on our short-
term bank borrowings, offsct by proceeds from excrcises of stock options of $1.7 million.

Debt Obligations

The following table summarizes our debt obligations:

December 31,
2006 2007
Short-term bank borrowings:
Import trade bills payable - DBS Bank and Aurora Capaal.... $  5,844887 3 4600293
Bank direct acceplances - DBS Bank ... 3,368,054 1,222,998
Other Hong Kong credit facilities - DBS Bank................ 4.483.241 3,921,927

§ 13,696,182 $_9,745.218

Long-term obligations:

Equipment financing ..o, 3 38,148 3 5,338
Credit facility - Guggenheim, nel ... 11,212,724 --
Debt facility and factoring agreement - GMAC CF ... 19,553,755 2,997,793
30,804,627 3,003,131

LeSS CUITeNt POTHION...evveeeecaceecececeeric e eec e e e ee e (19.586,565) (3.003,131)
511218062 3 0.00
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DBS Bank Credit Facility

In Junc 2006, our subsidiarics in Hong Kong, Tarrant Company Limited, Marble Limited and
Trade Link Holdings Limited, entered into a new credit facility with DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
(“DBS”), which replaced our prior letter of credit facility for up to HKD 30 million (cquivalent to US
$3.9 million). Under this facility, we may arrange for letiers of credit and acceptances. The maximum
amount our Hong Kong subsidiaries may borrow under this facility at any time is US $25 million. The
interest rate under the letter of credit facility is equal to the Standard Bills Rate quoted by DBS minus
0.5% if paid in Hong Kong Dollars, which the intercst rate was 7.5% per annum at December 31, 2007, or
the Standard Bills Rate quoted by DBS plus 0.5% if paid in any other currency, which the interest rate
was 8.12% per annum at December 31, 2007. This is a demand facility and is secured by a sccurity
interest in all the asscts of the Hong Kong subsidiaries, by a pledge of our office property where our Hong
Kong officc is located, which is owned by Gerard Guez and Todd Kay and by our guarantce. The DBS
facility includes customary default provisions. In addition, wc arc subject to certain restrictive covenants,
including that we maintain a specified tangible net worth, and a minimum level of EBITDA at December
31, 2006 and 2007, interest coverage ratio, leverage ratio and limitations on additional indebtedness. As
of December 31, 2007, we were in violation with the EBITDA and tangible net worth covenants and a
waiver was obtained on March 18, 2008. As of December 31, 2007, $8.6 million was outstanding under
this facility. In addition, $11.3 million of open lctters of credit was outstanding and $5.1 million was
availablc for future borrowings as of December 31, 2007,

In September 2006, a tax loan for HKD 8.438 million (cquivalent to US §1.1 million) was also
madc availablc by DBS to our Hong Kong subsidiarics and bore intercst at the rate equal to the Hong
Kong prime rate plus 1% and were subject to the same sccurity. The interest rate was 8.75% per annum
at October 31, 2007. We paid off this tax loan in October 2007. As of December 31, 2007, $0 was
outstanding under this tax loan.

Revolving Credit Facility — GMAC Commercial Finance

On Junc 16, 2006, we cxpanded our previously cxisting credit facility with GMAC CF by
enlering into a new Loan and Security Agreement and amending and restating our previously existing
Factoring Agrcement with GMAC CF. UPS Capital Corporation is also a lender undcer the Loan and
Sccurity Agrecement. This is a revolving credit facility and has a term of 3 ycars. The amount we may
borrow under this credit facility is determined by a percentage of cligible accounts receivable and
inventory, up to a maximum of $55 million, and includes a letter of credit facility of up to $4 million.
Interest on outstanding amounts under this credit facility is payable monthly and accrues at the rate of the
"prime ratc” plus 0.5%. Our obligations under the GMAC CF credit facility are securcd by a lien on
substantially all our domestic assets, including a first priority licn on our accounts reccivable and
inventory. This credit facility contains customary financial covenants, including covenants that we
maintain minimum levels of EBITDA and interest coverage ratios and limitations on additional
indcbtedness. This facility includes customary default provisions, and all outstanding obligations may
become immediately due and payable in the event of a default. The facility bore interest at 7.75% per
annum al Dccember 31, 2007. As of Dccember 31, 2007, we were in violation with the EBITDA
covenant and a waiver was obtained on March 25, 2008. A total of $3.0 million was outstanding with
respect to reecivables factared under the GMAC CF facility at December 31, 2007,

The amount we can borrow under the factoring facility with GMAC is determined basced on a
defined borrowing base formula related to cligible accounts reecivable. A significant decreasc in cligible
accounts receivable duc to the aging of receivables, can have an adverse cffect on our borrowing
capabilitics under our credit facility, which may adversely affect the adequacy of our working capital. In
addition, we have typically experienced scasonal fluctuations in sales volume. These scasonal fluctuations
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result in sales volumc dccreases in the first and fourth quarters of cach yecar due to the scasonal
fluctuations expericnced by the majority of our customers. During these quarters, borrowing availability
under our credit facility may dccrease as a result of decrease in cligible accounts receivables generated
from our sales.

Term Loan Facility — Guggenheim Corporate Funding LLC

On June 16, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agrecement with certain lenders and Guggenheim
Corporate Funding LLC (“Guggenheim™), as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders.
This credit facility provided for borrowings of up to $65 million. This facility consisted of an initial term
loan of up to $25 million, of which we borrowed $15.5 million at the initial funding, to be used to repay
certain cxisting indcbtedness and fund general operating and working capital nceds. An additional term
loan of up to $40 mitlion would be availablc under this facility to finance acquisitions acceptable to
Guggenheim. All amounts under the term loans became duc and payable in December 2010. Interest
under this facility was payable monthly, with the interest rate equal to the LIBOR rate plus an applicable
margin based on our debt leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement). Our obligations under the
Guggenheim credit facility were secured by a lien on substantially all of our asscts and our domestic
subsidiarics, including a pledge of the cquity interests of our domestic subsidiarics and 65% of our
Luxcmbourg subsidiary.

On September 26, 2007, we repaid in full the term loan of $15.5 million outstanding under the
Guggenheim credit facility. Upon paying off the loan, the unamortized loan fee paid to Guggenheim of
$401,000 and the unamortized value of the warrants to purchasc 3.5 million sharcs of our common stock of $3.5
million was expensed. The unamortized loan fec paid to Durham of $178,000 and the unamortized value of the
warrants to purchase 70,000 sharcs of our common stock of $75,000 was also cxpensed. Other unamortized
expenses of $822,000 rclated to obtaining the loan were also cxpensed. All the above cxpenses amounted to
$5.0 million were recorded on our consolidated statements of operations as other expense in the third quarter of
2007. On November 2, 2007, we exccuted a payoft letter with Guggenheim and the lenders, which relcased all
liens held by Guggenheim and the lenders.

Equipment Loans

We had three cquipment loans outstanding during 2007, One of these cquipment toans bore intercest at
15.8% payablc in installments through 2007, which we paid off in December 2007. The sccond loan bore
interest at 6.15% payable in installment through 2007, which we paid off in December 2007, The third loan
bears interest at 4.75% payablc in installment through 2008. As of December 31, 2007, $5,000 was outstanding
under the remaining loan.

Letters of Credit
From time to time, we open letters of credit under an uncommitted line of credit from Aurora Capital
Associatcs which issues these letters of credits out of Isracli Discount Bank. As of December 31, 2007, $1.2

million was outstanding under this facility and $903,000 of letters of credit was open under this arrangement.
We pay a commission fee of 2.25% on all letters of credits issucd under this arrangement.

The effective intcrest rates on bank borrowings as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 were 10.9%
and 12.7%, respectively.

The credit facility with GMAC CF prohibits us from paying dividends or making other distnbutions on
our common stock. In addition, GMAC CF prohibits our subsidiarics that are borrowers under the facility from
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paying dividends or making other distributions to us. The credit facility with DBS Bank prohibits our Hong
Kong subsidiarics from paying any dividends or making other distributions or cash advances to us.

We have financed our operations from our cash flow from operations, borrowings under our bank
and other credit facilitics, issuance of long-term debt, and sales of cquity and debt sccurities. Our short-
term funding relics very heavily on our major customers, banks and suppliers. From time to time, we have
had temporary over-advances from our banks. Any withdrawal of support from these parties will have
serious conscquences on our liquidity.

We may scck to finance future capital investment programs through various methods, including,
but not limited to, borrowings under our bank credit facilitics, issuance of long-tcrm debt, sales of cquity
sccuritics, leases and long-term financing provided by the scilers of facilitics or the suppliers of certain
cquipment uscd in such facilitics.

We do not believe that the moderate levels of inflation in the United States in the last three years
have had a significant effect on net sales or profitability.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

Following is a summary of our contractual obligations and commercial commitments available to
us as of December 31, 2007 (in millions):

Payments Due by Period
Between Between

Less than 23 4-5 After
Contractual Obligations Total | year years years 5 years
Long-term debt {1}...corirerererecrinnas $3.2 $3.2 $-- 3-- 3--
Operating 18ases......coveveecerrerennne. 376 $14 326 $1.8 $1.8
Minimum royalties ........cccccovneen. $7.6 $0.9 $2.2 $2.8 $1.7
Total Contractual Cash Obligations $18.4 $5.5 $4.8 $4.6 £3.5

(1) Includes interest on long-term debi obligations. Based on outstanding borrowings as of December 31, 2007,
and assuming all such indebtedness remained outstanding during 2007 and the inlerest rates remained
unchanged, we estimate thal our interest cost on long-term debt would be approximately $233.,000.

Total Amounts _Amount of Commitment Expiration per Period

Commercial Committed Less than Between Between After
Commitments Available to Us to Us 1 year 2-3 years  4-5years 5 years
Lines of credit.....ccoveiviiiniviiiiiireecee, $30.0 $80.0 - - —
Letters of credit (within lines of credit) ... $25.0 $25.0 - - —
Total Commercial Commitments ............ $80.0 $80.0 - — —

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entitics or
financial partnerships, such as entitics ofien referred to as structured finance or special purpose entitics, which
would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually
narrow or limited purposcs. As such, we arc not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that
could arise if we had engaged in such relationships.
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Related Party Transactions

We lcasc our exccutive offices and warchousc in Los Angeles, California from GET and office
spacc and warchousc in Hong Kong from Lynx International Limitcd. GET and Lynx International
Limited are each owned by Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer, and Todd
Kay, our Vice Chairman. We believe, at the time the lcases were entercd into, the rents on thesc
properties were comparable to then prevailing market rents. Our leasc for the Los Angeles offices and
warchouse has a term of five years expiring in 2011, with an option to renew for an additional five year
term. Our leasc for the office space and warchouse in Hong Kong has expired and we are currently
renting on a month to month basis. We paid $1.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively, in
2005, 2006 and 2007 in rcnt for office and warchousc facilitics at these locations. On May 1, 2006, we
sublct a portion of our exccutive office in Los Angeles, California and our sales office in New York to
Scven Licensing Company, LLC (“Seven Licensing™) for a monthly payment of $25,000 on a month to
month basis. Scven Licensing is beneficially owned by Gerard Guez. We received $200,000 and
$300,000, respectively, in rental income from this subleasc for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007.

From time to time in the past, we had advanced funds to Mr. Guez. These were net advances to
Mr. Guez or paymenis paid on his behalf before the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 2002, The
promissory note documenting these advances contains a provision that the entirc amount together with
accrued interest is immediately due and payable upon our written demand. The greatest outstanding
balance of such advances to Mr. Guez during 2007 was approximately $2,151,000. At December 31, 2007,
the entire balance due from Mr. Guez totaling $1.9 million was reflected as a reduction of shareholders’
cquity. All amounts duc from Mr. Guez bore interest at the rate of 7.75% during the period. Total intercst
paid by Mr. Guez was $209,000, $171,000 and $158,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006
and 2007, respectively. Mr. Gucez paid cxpenses on our behalf of approximatety $397,000, $299,000 and
$365,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, which amounts were
applicd to reduce accrucd intcrest and principal on Mr. Guez’s loan. These amounts included fuel and
rclated expenses incurred by 477 Aviation, LLC, a company owned by Mr. Guez, when our exccutives
uscd this company’s aircraft for business purposes. Since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actin
2002, no further personal loans (or amendments to cxisting loans) have been or will be made to our
officers or dircctors.

On July 1, 2001, we formed an entity to jointly market, share certain risks and achieve economics
of scale with Azteca Production International, Inc. (“Azicca™), called United Apparel Ventures, LLC
(“UAV™). This entity was created to coordinate the production of apparel for a single customer of our
branded business. Azicca is owned by the brothers of Gerard Guez. UAV made purchases from a related
party in Mexico, an affihate of Azieca, UAV was owned 50.1% by Tag Mcx, Inc., our wholly owned
subsidiary, and 49.9% by Aztcca. Results of the operation of UAV had been consolidated into our results
sincc July 2001 with thc minority partner’s sharc of gain and losses eliminated through the minority
intcrest linc in our financial statements until 2004. Duc to the restructuring of our Mexico operations, we
discontinued manufacturing for UAV customers in 2004. We had been consolidating 100% of the results
of the operation of UAV into our results since 2005. UAV was dissolved on February 27, 2007. Wec
purchased $135,000, $1.1 million and $499,000 of finishced goods, fabric and scrvice from Azteca and its
affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Our total sales of fabric
and scrvice to Azteca in 2005, 2006 and 2007 were $88,000, $9,000 and $0, respectively. Based on the
rcpayment history of Azteca and litigation which Azteca is currently subject to, we cstimated that our receivable
of $3.4 million will takc approximatcly three years for collection in full. We therefore made a $1.0 million
reserve and then fair-valued the balance of this asset using our weighted average cost of capital as the discount
rate and a term of three years as the discount period. Net amounts due from this related party as of December 31,
2006 and 2007 were $4.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively.
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On Scptember 1, 2006, our subsidiary in Hong Kong, Tarrant Company Limited, entered into an
agreement with Seven Licensing to be its buying agent to source and purchase apparcl merchandisc.
Scven Licensing is beneficially owned by Gerard Guez. Total sales to Scven Licensing for the years ended
Dccember 31, 2006 and 2007 were $4.4 million and $19.4 million, respectively. Net amounts duc from
this related party as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 were $3.5 million and $6.8 million, respectively.

We belicve that cach of the transactions described above has been entered into on terms no less
favorable to us than could have been obtained from unaffiliated third partics. We have adopied a policy
that any transactions between us and any of our affiliates or related partics, including our cxccutive
officers, directors, the family members of those individuals and any of their affiliates, must (i) be
approved by a majority of the members of the Board of Dircctors and by a majority of the disinterested
members of the Board of Dircctors and (ii) be on terms no less favorable to us than could be obtained
from unaffiliated third partics.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Currency Risk. Our carnings arc affected by fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar as
compared to forcign currencies as a result of doing business in foreign jurisdictions. As a result, we bear
the risk of exchange rate gains and losses that may result in the future. At times we use forward cxchange
contracts to reduce the effect of fluctuations of foreign currencies on purchasces and commitments. These
short-term asscts and commitments are principally related to trade payables positions. At December 31,
2007, we had no open forcign exchange forward contracts. We do not utilize derivative financial
instruments for trading or other speculative purposes. We actively cvaluate the creditworthiness of the
financial institutions that arc counter parties to derivative financial instruments, and we do not expect any
counticr partics to fail to meet their obligations.

Interest Rate Risk. Because our obligations under our various credit agreements bcear intercst at
floating ratcs, we arc sensitive to changes in prevailing interest rates. Any major increasc or decrease in
market interest rates that affect our financial instruments would have a material impact on caming or cash
flows during the next fiscal ycar.

Our interest expense is sensitive o changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. In this
rcgard, changes in U.S. interest rates affect interest paid on our debt. A majority of our credit facilitics are
at variable rates. As of December 31, 2006, we had $228,000 of fixed-rate borrowings and $48.6 million
of vanable-ratc borrowings outstanding. As of December 31, 2007, we had $1.2 million of fixed-rate
borrowings and $11.6 million of variable-rate borrowings outstanding. A one percentage point increasc in
interest rates would result in an annualized increase (o interest cxpense of approximately $486,000 and
$116,000 on our variable-rate borrowings for 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Sce “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules™ for our financial statements, and the notes
thercto, and the financial statcment schedulces filed as part of this report.

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH THE ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

42




Item 9A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Controls and Procedures

Members of our management, including our Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chicef Financial Officer,
have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurcs, as defined by paragraph (c) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15, as of December 31, 2007, the end of the period covered by this
report. Members of the our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officcr, also conducted an evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting to determine whether
any changes occurred during the fourth quarter of 2007 that have matcrially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Based upon that cvaluation, the
Chicf Exccutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosurc controls and
procedures are effective.

Changes in Controls and Procedures

During the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2007, there were no changes in our internal control
over financial accounting that has materially affected, or is rcasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for cstablishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our Chief Exccutive Officer and Chicf
Financial Officer and effected by our board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statcments for external
purposes in accordance with gencrally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedurcs that:

(i) pertain 1o thc maintenance of records that, in rcasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
our transactions and dispositions of our asscts;

(ii) provide rcasonable assurancc that transactions arc recorded as nccessary to permit
preparation of financial statcments in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our
management and directors; and

(iit) provide rcasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our asscts that could have a material cffcct on our financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting detcrmined to be cffective
can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and may not prevent or
detect all misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of cffectivencss to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedurcs may deteriorate.

Our management asscssed the effectivencss of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007 based on the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission in “Internal Control-Intcgrated Framework”. Based on management’s evaluation and
those criteria, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was cffective as of December 31,
2007.

43




This annual report docs not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm
rcgarding intcrnal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subjcct to attestation by
our registercd public accounting firm pursuant to tcmporary rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission that permit us to provide only management’s report in this annual report.

Item 98B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART I
Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information concerning our dircctors and cxccutive officers will appear in our dcfinitive
Proxy Statcment to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our last fiscal
ycar (the “Proxy Statement™), and is incorporated hercin by reference,

Item 1l. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information concemning executive compensation will appear in our definitive Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information concerning the sccurity ownership of certain beneficial owners and management
and rclated stockholder matters will appear in our definitive Proxy Statement and 1s incorporated herein

by reference.

Item 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information concerning certain rclationships and related transactions will appear in our
dcfinitive Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference,

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information concerning principal accounting fees and services will appear in our definitive
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
ftem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
{(a) List the following documents filed as a part of this report:
(N Financial Statements.
Reference is madce to the Index to Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-1 for a list of

financial statements and the financial statement schedule filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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(2) Financial Statement Schedules.

Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements and Schedule on page F-1 for a list of
financial statements and the financial statcment schedule filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. All other schedules are omitted because they arc not applicable or the required information is shown

in the Company’s financial statements or the related notes thereto.

3) Exhibits.
Secc the Exhibit Index attached to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated herein

by reference.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Tarrant Apparel Group
Los Angeles, CA

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Tarrant Apparel Group and subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2007. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule of Tarrant
Apparel Group listed in ltem 15(a). These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statemment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Tarrant Apparel Group and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2007, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" on January 1, 2007.

We were not engaged to examine management's assertion about the effectiveness of Tarrant
Apparel Group's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 included in the
accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and,
accordingly, we do not express an opinion thereon.

4“?4— éwak Mvewhawm #ptdates efP
SINGER LEWAK GREENBAUM & GOLDSTEIN LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 27, 2008




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current asscts:
Cash and cash cquIVBIENS ..o e s
Accounts reccivable, net of $2.1 million and $2.0 million allowance for returns, discounts
and bad debts at December 31, 20006 and 2007, tespectivelY .
IIC TTOM S PIAMICS 11 cveierers it rerer s s b e e s st s
Inventory

Temporary QUOEE TIERES vttt b b e
Deferred lax asscts ...
Income taxes reccivable

Total Current asSClS...o.emieveeiee e e

Property and equipment, nct of $9.4 million and $8.3 million accumulated depreciation
at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively ...

Notes reccivable - related partics, nel of $27.1 mlllmn rescrve al l)cccmbcr 3I 2006........

Due from rclated parties, net of $1.0 million reserve and $0.8 million adjusiment to fair vnluc
at December 31, 2007 .

Equity method invcstmcnt ...............................................................................................................

Deferred financing cost, net of $1.7 million and $226,000 accumulated amortization at

December 31, 2006 and 2007, 1CSPECHVEIY vttt re et e
RCT BSSCIS. vttt bbb bbbt s bbb et bbb bbb s e et b
GOOAWILE, NCL vttt st b e bbbt s e ben

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY

Current liabilitics:
Short-term bank BOITOWINES ..c.o.vvvricrrierenirsr s e sers s sns s sessesssesssssmssnsesorsnen
Accounts payablc ................
Accrued cxpensces..
Derivative liability ...
Income laxcs.. .
Current pomon of Ionb tcrm obhgauons and fnclormg armné,cmcm .

Total current liabilitics ..

Term loan, net of $4.3 million debt discount at December 31,2006 ...
Other long-term obHZalions ......c.oovoiieee e
Deferrod X HabBIlIHES oo ettt e e ot et s s a s s aes et eeesamnn

TO1A) HABIIEICS 1. eveceeee ettt e eee e et ee e em ks ab et ca st et s hms e eb bt e emr s arasnrse e

Minority IErestin PBGT ..ot e e s e
Commitments and conlingencics

Sharcholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, 2,000,000 shares authorized:
no shares at December 31, 2006 and 2007 issucd and outstanding,...
Commeon stock, no par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 30,543 763 sh wres and
32,043,763 sharcs at December 31, 2006 and 2007 issucd and outstandmg, rcspcclwcly ........
Warranis 1o purchaﬁc common stock ..
Contributed capital ...
Accumulated dcﬁcn
Notes reccivable frum ochcn‘sharcholdcr

Total Sharcholders” CQUITY ..ot s e e s s n s b rre s nn s b e

Totul liabilitics and sharcholders’ CQUILY ...o.ovii ettt esreneas

Sec accompanying notes.
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3 13,696,182

December 31,

2006 2007
8 904,553 $ 491,416
48,079,527 34,622,119
3,688,355 6,812,951
17,774,103 13,140,598
32,217 5,028
1,515,087 1,277,361
123.607 161,818
25,468 -
72,142.917 56,511,291
1414354 1,531,322
14,000,000 -
4,168,205 1,740,707
788,901 945,342
2,448,526 213,876
6223816 101,692
9.945.005 9,945,005
§  LLIL131.724 3____ 70,989,235

5 9.745.218

22,685,674 11,784,534
8.907.658 8,627,445
195,953 -
16,865,125 16,525.237
19,586,565 3,003,131
81,937,157 49,685,565
11,212,724 -
5,338 -
93,155,219 49,685,565
54,338 60,520

114,977,465

© 116,672,465

7,314,239 7,314,239
10,191,511 10,862,902
(112,410,363) (111,662,856)
(2,150,685} (1,943,600
17,922,167 21,243,150

B _.LI1,135,724 $__ 70,989.235




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Net sales ... .
Net sales to rclatcd party
Total net salcs....

Cost of sales...
Cost of sales to rclatcd party
Total cost of salcs .. .

Gross profit...

Sclling and dlsmbutxon cxpenseq

Generatl and administrative cxpcnscs

Royalty cxpenses ..

Loss on notes rcccwablc - rclatcd partlc'i .................

Terminated acquisition CXPCNSCS .oovvevvveireereiranns

Adjustment to fair vatue of Iong-tcrm rocuvablt, -
related partics...

Income (loss) from operations .........cvecviinsniinenne.
INIETESE EXPERNSE 1vvvervirnsverremrmerr e eesnssre s esbe et erae e
Intcrest income
Interest in income of equity method investee...
Other income..
Adjustment to falr va]uc of derivative ...
Other expense ..

Income (loss) before provision (credit) for income
taxcs and minority INterest............ooevinc e

Provision {credit) for income taxes..

MIROTIY INIETESL s ivevnrcrinrissrarinrinsimsssirms s sanstsenssnnis

Net ineomME (J0SS) e rene e
Net income (loss) per share — Basic.......ccooceeieeee.
Net income (loss) per share — Diluted......coveennine
Weighted average common and common cquivalent
shares outstanding:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
§ 214648218 $ 228,038,373 S 224,289,591
- 4363316 19,431,054
214,648.218 232,401,689 243,720,645
169,767,051 178,100,779 177,109,432
— 3.658.806 17,711,950
169,767,051 181,759,585 194 821,382
44,381,167 50,642,104 48,899,263
10,726,425 11,016,352 14,723,837
26,864,789 26,878,871 24,312,038
3,664,454 2,814,929 1,863,507
- 27,137,297 -
- - 2,000,000
- - 807,875
3,625,499 (17,205,345) 5,192,006
(4,624,590 ) (6,059,628) (4,117,914)
2,081,456 1,181,437 168,690
559,634 79,696 156,441
354,347 335,731 4,094,317
- 315,134 195,953
(580 ) (435.586) (4976813 )
1,995,766 (21,788,561 712,680
927,181 453,090 (1,041,010)
75.241 (20,903 ) 6.183
$ 993,344 $_(22220,748).  $__ 1,747,507
$. 0.03 $ (0.73) $ 0.06
§ 003§ (0.73) s 0.06
_ 29728997 30,545,599 30,617,736
29,734,291 30,545,814 30,617,736

See accompanying notes.
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TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating activitics:

Net Income (loss) ... reerann

Adjustments to ruconcn!c nct income (!cm) lo ncl c.ﬁh provndcd by (uscd m)

Operating activitics:
Deferred taxcs.. .
[Depreciation and amomzalmn uf’ ﬁxcd asscls..
Amortization of deferred financing cost.. s
Write-off of deferred financing cost and dcbl dlscounl -
Receipt of merchandise in lico of interest on notes rcccwablc rclalcd parly .....
Adjustment to fair valuc of derivative
Reserve of long-term receivable — related partics
Adjustment to fair value of long-term receivable - related panics oo
Loss (gain} on noles receivable - related partics
Terminatcd aCqUISIION CXPCNSCS..a..vvrrresrrrermsesiarssessaresiessssnsarssns

Income from cquity method INVESIMENL ...
Loss {gain) on salc of fixed asscts ...
MiInority ICrest ...
Compcnsation cxpensc related (o stock options .
Stock-based compensation ..o
Change in the provision for returns and discounts . .
Change in the provision for bad debls i
Changes in operating asscts and liabilitics:
Accounts reccivablt o
Duc toffrom retated partics...
Inventory.... -
Temporary quola nghls
Prepaid expenscs ...
Othcr asscts ..
Accounts payablc
Accrued cxpenscs and income lax payablc .
Nct cash provided by (used in) Operating activitics. .o ieinrvriiseemens

Invesling activitics:
PUrchase Of fIXEA BSSEIS ...o.eiee et e
Procecds from sale of fixed assets ..o,
Collection on notes receivable - related partics .,
Proceeds from notes receivable.....ooe.. .
Distribution from cquity method INVESICC ..veirvervvrnnrerrerermirisssensmsresee s eese e eeeen
Deposit in acquisition...
Refund of depesit in acqu:smon
Duc diligence fees in acquisition .
Trademark. .
Collection ofadvanccs from sharcholdcr%fofﬁccrs .
Net cash provided by (used in) investing actwmcs

Financing activitics:

Shott-term bank BOITOWINES, MCE .....viiiivnrerrerevirsts i senererasresssnssssrsrsnsreses
Procceds from long-term obligations
Payment of financing Costs ... cerecminnciinnes
Payment of long-term obligations and bank borrowings.
Repayment of term 10an....neiinim
Proceeds (repayments) from convertible debenturcs..... e
Excreisc of stock options ... .

Net cash provided by (uscd |n) ﬁnancmb activilics..

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... "
Cash and cash cquivalents at beginning of YEOr ..oo.veivevieer i e e

Cash and cash cquivalents at cind of year. ...

Sec accompanying noles

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

993,344 $ (22,220,748) $ 1,747,507
(166.,686) 257,045 (38211
727,233 455,124 414,909
1,399,352 2,525.210 1,532,295
- - 4950616
(1.742,540) - -
- (315,134) {195,953)

- - 1,000,000

- - £07,875

- 27137297 (3.750.000)

- - 2,000,000
1,165,970 - -
(559.634) (79,696 (156.441)
(124,041) 35,587 20,048
75,241 (20,903) 6.183
38,740 - -

- 187,180 771.392
(78.060) 292,356 (333.648)
591,945 (1,167,248) 234,066
(17,352.985) 6,528,104 14,056.128
2,702,047 (1,160,821) (3.118.230)
(8,503.086) 13,305,121 4,633.506
- (32.217) 27,189

47055 900,886 263.193

" - 125,000
9,248,667 (10,593.284) (10,901,140)
(1,362218) (967,312) (1.620.101)
(12,899,656) 15,046,547 12,476,183
(559.081) (208,571) (553,060)
130,552 6,346 1,134
1,194,722 1,086,110 -
- - 17,750,000

301,050 67,500 -

- (5,000,000) -

- - 4,750,000

- (1,050,256 (699.744)

- {100,000) -
2,487,360 128,018 207,086
3,554,603 {5.070,853) 21455416
@,117,625) (137.351) (3.950,964)
218,367,495 235,101,785 205,837,789
- £2,405,201) -
(204,477,993) (236,339,516) (222,426,561)
- - (15.500,000)

- (6.912,626) -

- - 1,695,000
9371877 (10.712.909) (34.344.736)
426,824 (737.215) (413,137
1,214,944 1,641,768 904,553
$__1,641,768 $_ 504,553 $__ 491416




TARRANT APPAREL GROUP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization and Basis of Consolidation

The accompanying financial statements consist of the consolidation of Tarrant Apparel Group, a California
corporation, and its majority owned subsidiaries located primarily in the U.S., Asia, Mexico, and Luxembourg. At
December 31, 2007, we own 75% of PBG7, LLC (“PBG7"). We previously owned 50.1% of United Apparel
Ventures (“UAV™), which was dissolved on February 27, 2007. The dissolution of UAV did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements. We consolidate these entities and reflect the minority interests in
earnings (losses) of the ventures in the accompanying financial statements. All inter-company amounts are
eliminated in consolidation. The 49.9% minority interest in UAV was owned by Azleca Production [nternational, a
corporation owned by the brothers of our Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer, Gerard Guez. The 25%
minority interest in PBG7 is owned by BH7, LLC, an unrelated party.

We serve specialty, retail, mass merchandisers, department store chains and branded wholesalers by designing,
merchandising, contracting for the manufacture of, and selling casual apparel for women, men and children under
private label and private brand.

Historically, our operating results have been subject to seasonal trends when measured on a quarterly basis. This
trend is dependent on numerous factors, including the markets in which we operate, holiday seasons, consumer
demand, climate, economic conditions and numerous other factors beyond our control. Generally, the second and
third quarters are stronger than the first and fourth quarters. There can be no assurance that the historic operating
patlerns will continue in future periods.

Risk and Uncertainties — IRS Examination

in January 2004, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed its examination of our Federal income tax returns
for the years ended December 31, 1996 through 2001, The IRS had proposed adjustments to increase our income tax
payable for these years under examination. In addition, in July 2004, the IRS initiated an examination of our Federal
income 1ax return for the year ended December 31, 2002. In December 2007, we received a final assessment from
the 1RS of $7.4 million for the years ended December 31, 1996 through 2002, and in the first quarter of 2008 we
entered into a final settlement agreement with the 1IRS. Under the settlement, which totals $13.9 million, including
$6.5 million of interest, we agreed 1o pay the IRS $4 million in March 2008 and an additional $250,000 per month
until repayment in full. The settlement with the IRS is within amounts previously reserved for in our financial
stalements, and we therefore do not anticipale the settlement to result in any additional charges to income other than
interest on the outstanding balance.

Risk and Uncertainties — Debt Covenants

As discussed in Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” our debt agreements require certain
covenants including a minimum level of EBITDA and specified tangible net worth; and required interest coverage
ratio and leverage ratio. 1f our results of operations erode and we are not able 10 obtain waivers from the lenders, the
debt would be in default and callable by our lenders. In addition, due to cross-default provisions in our debt
agreements, substantially all of our long-term debt would become due in full il any of the debt is in default. In
anticipation of us not being able to meet the required covenants due lo various reasons, we either negotiate for
changes in the relalive covenants or an advance waiver or reclassify the relevant debi as current. We also believe
that our lenders would provide waivers if necessary. However, our expectations of future operating results and
conlinued compliance with other debl covenants cannot be assured and our lenders’ actions are not controllable by
us. [ projections of future operating resulls are not achieved and the debt is placed in default, we would be required
to reduce our expenses, including by curtailing operations, and to raise capital through the sale of assets, issuance of
equily or otherwise, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations. See Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™ for a further discussion of the credit
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facilities and related debt covenants. As of December 31, 2007, we were in violation of the EBITDA and tangible
net worth covenants and waivers of the defaults were obtained in March 2008 from our lenders.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized al the point of shipment for all merchandise sold based on FOB shipping point. For merchandise
shipped on landed duty paid (“LDP”) terms, revenue is recognized at the point of either leaving Customs for direct
shipments or at the point of leaving our warehouse where title is transferred, net of an estimate of returned merchandise and
discounts. Customers are allowed the rights of retumn or non-acceptance only upon receipt of damaged products or goods
with quality different from shipment samples. We do not undertake any afler-sale warranty or any form of price protection,

We often arrange, on behalf of manufacturers, for the purchase of fabric from a single supplier. We have the fabric
shipped directly to the cutting factory. Generally, the factories pay us for the fabric with offsets against the price of
the finished goods.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Freight charges are included in selling and distribution expenses in the statements of operations and amounted to
$667,000, $781,000 and $641,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. In 2005,
2006 and 2007, we did some billing for freight to specialty stores although the amount was insignificant,

Cash and Cash Equivalenty

Cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid mvestments with an original maturity of three months or less
when purchased. Cash and cash equivalents held in foreign financial institutions totaled $260,000 and $262,000 as
of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Cash is deposited with what we believe are highly credited quality
financial institutions and may exceed FDIC insured limits. As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, cash deposited in
financial institutions that exceeded FDIC insured limits was $1.4 million and $660,000, respectively.

Accounts Receivable--Allowance for Returns, Discounts and Bad Debis

We evaluate the collectibility of accounts receivable and chargebacks (disputes from the customer) based upon a
combination of factors. In circumslances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inabilily 1o meet its financial
obligations (such as in the case of bankruplcy filings or substantial downgrading of credit sources), a specific
reserve for bad debts is taken against amounts due to reduce the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably
expecied to be collected. For all other customers, we recognize reserves for bad debts and uncollectible chargebacks
based on our historical collection experience. If collection experience deteriorates (for example, due to an
unexpected material adverse change in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations to us), the
estimates of the recoverability of amounts due to us could be reduced by a material amount. As of December 31,
2006 and 2007, the balance of the allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts was $2.1 million and $2.0 million,
respectively.

Inventory

Our inventories are stated (valued) at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Under certain market conditions,
we use estimates and judgments regarding the valuation of inventory to properly value inventory. Inventory adjustments are
made for the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value and charged to operations in the
petiod in which the facts that give rise to the adjustiments become known.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales includes costs related to product costs, direct labor, duty, quota, freight in, brokerage, warehouse
handling and markdown.



Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses include expenses related to samples, travel and entertainmeni, salaries, rent,
warehouse handling, other office expenses, professional fees, freight out, and selling commissions incurred in the
sales process.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include expenses related to research and product development, travel and
entertainment, salaries, rent, other office expenses, depreciation and amortization, professional fees and bank
charges.

License Agreements and Royalty Expenses

We enter into license agreements from lime to time that allow us to use certain trademarks and trade names on
cerlain of its products. These agreements require us to pay royalties, generally based on the sales of such products,
and may require guaranteed minimum royalties, a portion of which may be paid in advance. Our accounting policy
is (o match royally expense with revenue by recording royalties al the time of sale at the greater of the contractual
rate or an effective rate calculated based on the guaranieed minimum royalty and our estimate of sales during the
contract period. 1f a portion of the guaranteed minimum royally is determined not to be recoverable, the
unrecoverable portion is charged to expense at that time. See Note 13 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements™ regarding various agreements we have entered into.

Royalty expense for each of the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were $3.7 million, $2.8
million and $1.9 million, respectively.

Deferred Rent Provision

When a lease requires fixed escalation of the minimum lease payments, rental expense is recognized on a straight
line basis over the initial term of the lease, and the difference between the average rental amount charged to expense
and amounts payable under the lease is included in deferred amount. As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, deferred
rent of $93,000 and $260,000, respectively was recorded under accrued expense in our consolidated financial
slatements.

Derivative Activities
Warrant Derivatives

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities” requires measurement of certain derivative instruments at their fair value for accounting
purposes. In determining the appropriate fair value, we use the Black-Scholes model. Derivative liabilities are
adjusted to reflect fair value at each period end, with any increase or decrease in the fair value being recorded in
consolidated statements of operations as adjustiment 1o fair value of derivative. At December 31, 2006, there was an
income of $511,000 recorded as adjustment 1o fair value of derivalive on our consolidated statements of operations.
See Note 9 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Stalements™

Foreign Currency Forward Contract

We source our product in a number of countries throughout the world, as a result, are exposed to movements in
foreign currency exchange rates. The primary purpose of our foreign currency hedging activities is to manage the
volatility associated with foreign currency purchases of malterials in the normal course of business. We utilize
dertvative financial instruments consisting primarily of forward currency contracts. These instruments are intended
to protect against exposure related o financing transactions and income from international operations. We do not
enter into derivative financial insiruments for speculative or trading purposes. We may enter inlo cerlain foreign
currency derivalive instruments that do not meet hedge accounting criteria.




SFAS No. 133 requires measurement of certain derivative instruments at their fair value for accounting purposes.
All derivative instruments are recorded on our balance sheet at fair value; as a result, we mark to market all
derivative instruments. Derivative liabilities are adjusted to reflect fair value at each period end, with any increase or
decrease in the fair value being recorded in consolidated slatements of operations as adjustment to fair value of
derivative. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we entered into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge
against the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash flows denominated in foreign currencies and ceriain inter-
company financing transactions, This transaction is undesignated and as such an ineffective hedge. At December 31,
2006, we had one open foreign exchange forward contract which has a maturity of less than one year. Hedge
ineffectiveness resulted in a loss of $196,000 in our consolidated statemenits of operations as of December 31, 2006, At
December 31, 2007, we had no open foreign exchange forward contracts. Hedge ineffectiveness resulted in a gain of
$196,000 in our consolidated statements of operations as of December 31, 2007.

Product Design, Advertising and Sales Promotion Costs

Product design, advertising and sales promotion costs are expensed as incurred. Product design, advertising and
sales promotion costs included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying statements of
operations {excluding the costs of manufacturing production samples) amounted 1o approximately $3.0 million, $2.7
million and $3.9 million in 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Additions and betterments are capitalized while repair and maintenance
costs are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation of property and equipment is provided for by the straight-
ling method over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method
over the lesser of their estimaled useful lives or the term of the lease, Upon retirement or disposal of property and
equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss is
reflected in the statement of operations. The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Buildings ......ccoevmininnii e 35 10 40 years
EQUIPIENL ...coviiiiirirrineiiinieen s 510 15 years
Furniture and FixIures .....occooceieninincconneninccnnn. 510 7 years
VERICIES ..ot 5 years
Leasehold Improvements ......... Term of lease or Estimated usefut life

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The carrying value of long-lived assets are reviewed when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carffying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If it is determined that an impairment loss has occurred based on the lowest
level of identifiable expected future cash flow, then a loss is recognized in the statement of operations using a fair value
based model.

Valuation of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill

We have adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” We assess the need for impairment of
identifiable intangibles, long-lived assets and goodwill with a fair-value-based test on an annual basis or more
frequently if an event oceurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying amount. Factors considered important that could trigger an impairment revicw
include, but are not limited to, the following:

. a significant underperformance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results;

. a significant change in the manner of the use of the acquired asset or the strategy for the overall business;
or

. a significant negative industry or economic trend.
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We utilized the discounted cash flow methodology to estimate fair value. At December 31, 2006, we had a goodwill
balance of $9.9 million, and a net property and equipment balance of 3.4 million, as compared to a goodwill
balance of $9.9 mitlion and a net property and equipment balance of $1.5 million at December 31, 2007. See Note 6
and Nole 8 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, we did not recognize any need for impairment related to
goodwill and property and equipment.

Deferred Financing Cost

Deferred financing costs were $2.4 million and $214,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respeclively. These costs
of obtaining financing and issuance of debt instruments are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of
the related debl. Amortization expenseas for deferred charges were $1.4 million, $2.5 million and $1.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Income Taxes

We ulilize SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which prescribes the use of the liability method to
compute the differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the related financial reporting amounts
using currently enacted tax faws and rates. A valuation allowance is recorded 10 reduce deferred taxes 1o the amount
that is more likely than not to be realized.

Our foreign subsidiary had an accumulated earning and profit deficit at December 31, 2006 and 2007. Any current
year foreign earning and profit will be reported by us as dividends on our tax retums.

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in income Taxes - An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48™). FIN 48 clarifies the
accounting for uncertainly in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a (ax position taken or expected 1o be taken in a
tax return that resulls in a tax benefit. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on de-recognition, income statement
classification of interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. We adopted the
provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, we recognized no material
adjustment for unrecognized tax benefits but reduced retained earnings as of January 1, 2007 by approximately $1
million attributable to penalties accrued as a component of income tax payable. As of the date of adoption, our
unrecognized tax benefits totaled approximaitely $8.9 million.

We and several of our subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S., Hong Kong, Luxembourg, Mexico and
various state jurisdictions. We are currently subject to an audit by the State of New York for the years 2002 to 2005
but are not currently being audited by other states or subject to non-U.S. income tax jurisdictions for years open in
those taxing jurisdictions.

In January 2004, the IRS completed its examination of our Federal income tax returns for the years ended December
31, 1996 through 2001. The 1RS had proposed adjustments to increase our income lax payable for these years under
examination. In addition, in July 2004, the IRS initiated an examination of our Federal income tax return for the year
ended December 31, 2002. In December 2007, we received a final assessment from the IRS of $7.4 million for the years
ended December 31, 1996 through 2002, and in the first quarter of 2008, we entered into a final settlement agreement with
the IRS. Under the settlement, which totals $13.9 mllion, including $6.5 million of interest, we agreed to pay the IRS $4
million in March 2008 and an additional $250,000 per month until repayment in full. The settlement with the IRS is within
amounts accrued for as of December 31, 2007 in our financial statements, and we therefore do not anticipate the settlement
to result in any additional charges to income other than interest on the outstanding balance, Due to the negotiated
settlement, we reclassified the 1RS and state tax liabilities from uncertain tax position to current payable on
December 31, 2007.

The total unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007 were $8.9 million, excluding interest, penalties and related
income tax benefits and would be recorded as a component of income tax expense if recognized. We recognize
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interest accrued relaled to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as a component of income tax expense. As of
January 1, 2007, the accrued interest and penalties were $8.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, excluding any
related income tax benefits. During 2007, we de-recognized a previous uncertain tax position through negotiations
with the state tax jurisdiction. The negotiated settlement resulted in a decrease of $1.5 million in unrecognized tax
benefits and $1.0 million in penalties. During 2007, we also de-recognized a previous uncertain lax position through
seftlement with the IRS. The negotialed setilement resulled in a decrease of $7.4 million in unrecognized tax
benefits. Afier the above adjusiments, there was no unrecognized tax benefil as of December 31, 2007. As of
December 31, 2007, the accrued interest and penalties were $7.2 million and $142,000, respectively.

In many cases, the uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain subject to examination by the relevant
tax authorities. Federal and state stalutes are open from 2003 through the present period. Hong Kong statutes are
open from 2001, Luxembourg from 2003 and Mexico from 2001.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share |
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share has been computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per

Share”. A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic income (loss) per share and diluted income
(loss) per share is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007
Basic EPS Computation:
Numerator:
Reported net income (l0$8) .......oocvorrcncececncanee $ 993,344 $ (22220,748) § 1,747,507
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding 29,728,997 30,545,599 30,617,736
BasiC EPS ... b 0.03 $ 0.73) $§ 0.06
Diluted EPS Computation:
Numerator:
: Reported net income (1088) ..ocveraervernerncnerneeneenes $ 993,344 $ (22,220,748) § 1,747,507
' Denominator;
' Weighted average common shares oulistanding 29,728,997 30,545,599 30,617,736
‘ [ncremental shares from assumed exercise of
warrants - - -
convertible debentures -- - --
options 5,294 215 --
Total ShATES.......ccovivcicrmrcrces e 29,734,29] 30,545,814 30,617,736
Diluted EPS ..o cnseseersesenssenensenes 5 0.03 i (0.73) 3 0.06

The following potentially dilutive securities were not included in the computation of income (loss) per share,
because to do so would have been anti-dilutive:

2005 2006 2007
OPLIONS...c..cvverrrererseneeremsecsees 6,727,756 7,673,444 8,214,209
Warmants ........o.ocvecemeereneences 2,361,732 5,931,732 5,931,732
Convertible debentures ....... 3456313 -- -
[ 71 SRR 12,545,801 13,605,176 14,145,941
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Dividends

We did not declare or pay any cash dividends in 2005, 2006 or 2007. We intend to retain any future eamings for use in our
business and, therefore, do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The declaration
and payment of any cash dividends in the future will depend upon our eamnings, financial condition, capital needs and other
factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors. In addition, our credit agreements prohibit the payment of dividends
during the term of the agreements.

Foreign Currency Translation

Assels and liabilities of our Hong Kong subsidiaries are translated at the rate of exchange in effect on the balance
sheet date; income and expenses are translated al the average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. The
functional currency in which we transact business in Hong Kong is the Hong Kong dollar.

Transaction gains or losses, other than inter-company debt deemed (o be of a long-term nature, are included in net
income (loss) in the period in which they occur. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from translation of
assets and habilities related to our Hong Kong subsidiaries were insignificant in 2006 and 2007.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is determined by reference 1o various market data and other valuation
techniques as appropriate. Considerable judgment is required in estimating fair values. Accordingly, the estimates
may not be indicative of the amounts that we could realize in a current market exchange. The carrying amounis of
cash and cash equivalents, receivables, inventory, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximate fair values. The carrying amounts of our variable rate borrowings under the various short-term
borrowings and long-term debt arrangements approximate fair value.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which polentially expose us to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of cash
equivalents, trade accounts receivable, related party receivables and amounts due from factor.

Our products are primarily sold to mass merchandisers and specialty retail stores. These customers can be
significantly affected by changes in economic, competitive or other factors. We make subslantial sales to a relatively
few, large customers. In order to minimize the risk of loss, we assign certain of our domestic accounts receivable Lo
a factor without recourse or require leiters of credit from our customers prior to the shipment of goods. For non-
factored receivables, account-monitoring procedures are utilized to minimize the risk of loss. Collateral 1s generally
not required. Al December 31, 2006 and 2007, approximately 23% and 31%, respectively of accounts receivable
were due from two customers. The following table presents the percentage of net sales concentrated with cerlain
customers.

Percentage of Net Sales

Customer 2005 2006 2007
Macy’s Merchandising GFOUpP ....o.cooeeeinininnnnnen 13.4 18.9 21.1
New York & Co. v, 8.6 4.5 12.5
ChICO™S oo sveesres e sresaseens 83 8.5 11.3
KORE'S v 13.5 14.1 8.5
Mervyn's ... 11.2 11.9 8.3
Wal-Mart ......coocviniiiiinescinies e, 1.1 4.5 3.5

We maintain demand deposiis with several major banks. At times, cash balances may be in excess of Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or equivalent foreign insurance limits.




Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America requires us lo make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates used by us in preparation of the financial staiements
include allowance for returns, discounts and bad debts, inventory, notes receivable — related parties reserve,
valuation of long-lived and intangible assets and goodwill, accrued expenses, income taxes, slock options valuation,
contingencies and litigation, Actual results could differ from those estimates,

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”. SFAS No. 157 establishes a
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning afier
November 15, 2007. We are required to adopt the provision of SFAS No. 157, as applicable, beginning in fiscal
year 2008. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 157 on our results of operations and financial
condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employer’s Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)”. SFAS No. 158 requires us 1o (a)
recognize a plan’s funded status in the slatement of financial position, (b) measure a plan’s assets and its obligations that
determine its funded status as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year and (c) recognize changes in the funded status of a
defined postretirement plan in the year in which the changes occur through other comprehensive income. SFAS No, 158
was effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2006. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 did not have a material
impacl on our results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the SEC issued SAB No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying
Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements”, to address diversity in practice in quantifying financial statement
misstalements. SAB No. 108 requires the quantification of misstatements based on their impact on both the balance sheet
and the income statement to determine matenality. The guidance provides for a one-time cumulative effect adjustment to
correct for misstatermnents that were not deemed material under a company’s prior approach but are material under the SAB
No. 108 approach. SAB No. 108 was effective for fiscal years ending afier November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108
did not have a material impact on our resulls of operations and financial condition,

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities- Including
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 1157, SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure certain financial assels
and liabilities at fair value (the “fair value option™). Unrealized gains and losses, anising subsequent to adoption, are reported
in earnings. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning afler November 15, 2007. We are currently assessing the
impact of SFAS No. 159 on our results of operations and financial condition,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “‘Business Combinations”. The objective of SFAS No.
141(R) is to improve the relevance, representational faithfulness, and comparability of the information that a reporting entity
provides in its financial reports about a business combination and its effects. The new standard requires the acquiring entity
in a business combination to recognize all (and only) the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction;
establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and
requires the acquirer to disclose to investors and other users all of the information they need to evaluate and understand the
nature and financial effect of the business combination. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning afler
December 15, 2008. We are currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 141(R) on our results of operations and
financial condition. ‘

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an
amendment of ARB No.517. The objective of SFAS No. 160 is to improve the relevance, comparability, and transparency
of the financial information that a reporting entity provides in its consolidated financial statements by establishing
accounting and reporting standards by requiring all entities to report noncontrolling (minorily) interests in subsidiaries in the
same way — as an entity in the consolidated financial statements. Moreover, SFAS No. 160 eliminates the diversity that
currently exists in accounting for transactions between an entily and noncontrolling interests by requiring they be treated as
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equity transactions. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning afler December 15, 2008. We are currently
assessing the impact of SFAS No. 160 on our results of operations and financial condition.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified 1o conform to the current year presentation. Equily method
investment of $1.4 million has been reclassified to goodwill in fiscal 2006 to conform to the fiscal 2007
presentation.

2. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consists of the following:

December 31,
2006 2007
U.S. trade accounts receivable ... e S 2,975,840 $ 4277218
Foreign trade accounts receivable ..., 16,986,357 6,209,971 |
Factored accounts receivable o e 29,697,935 25,294,525
OUher TeCeIVABIES ..o e 496,253 217,681
Allowance for returns, discounts and bad debis ..........ccoccvecevnvereranee. (2,076,858 ) (1,977,276)

S 48079527  § 34,622,119

At December 31, 2007, substantially all trade receivables, irrespective of their debt ratings, were factored under our
credit facility with GMAC and GMAC advances up to 90% of the invoice value to us immediately upon the
submission of invoices. See Note 9 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

3. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:

December 31,
2006 2007
Raw materials — fabric and trim acCessonies ..o sseesenns § 3271610 $ 558,996
WOIK-I0-PIOCESS 1vvitietiiirsiseis s sie e aie sttt evs s s nsa et sraearassnasssses -- 5,040
Finished goods shipments-in-transit ... 7331422 7,023,981
FInished goods ... 7.171.071 5,552,581

$..17,774,103 $ 13,140,598
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following:

December 31,
2006 2007

LN oo e ens s sss s saaresssaseansssssssssasssasassserassnss s sesssaseassens b 85,000 b 85,000
BUITAINES. ...ttt er e e 819,372 819,372
EQUIPINENL....coiiiiiiieiee ettt ee s e e aae s meanns 4,621,339 3,820,098
Furniture and fIXIUIES ....voovevvirriierorresisireseressaesssrasssrvngess s escessensnsnes 2,197,648 1,801,508
Leasehold improvements...........ccoee e nmnsnneecn e 2,727,243 2,932,366
WEHICTES woeiuiitecinensiriiii ettt s ettt ettt s anraessraesab e s eneeeree s 333311 384,661

10,783,913 9,843,005
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .......c.ccoocevveeeninnene, {9.369,559) (8311,683)

5 1414354 S 1,531,322

Depreciation expense, including amortization of assets recorded under capital leases, totaled $727,000, $455,000
and $415,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

5. Notes Reccivable — Related Party Reserve

In connection with the sale in 2004 of our assets and real property in Mexico, the purchasers of the Mexico assets,
Solticio, S.A. de C.V. (“Solticio™}, and Acabados y Cortes Textiles, S.A. de C.V. (“Acotex™), issued us unsecured
promissory notes of $3,910,000 that matured on November 30, 2007 and secured promissory notes of $40,204,000
with payments due on December 31, 2005 and every year thereafter until December 31, 2014. The secured notes
were secured by the real and personal property in Mexico that we sold 1o the purchasers. As of September 30, 2006,
the outstanding balance of the notes and interest receivables was $41.1 million prior to the reserve. Historically, we
had placed orders for purchases of fabric from the purchasers pursuant to the purchase commitment agreement we
entered into at the time of the sale of the Mexico assets, and we had satisfied our payment obligations for the fabric
by offsetting the amounts payable against the amounts due to us under the notes. However, during the third quarter
of 2006, the purchasers ceased providing fabric and were not making payments under the notes. We further
evaluated the recoverability of the notes receivable and recorded a loss on the notes receivable in the third quarter of
2006 in an amount equal to the outstanding balance less the value of the underlying assets securing the notes. The
loss was estimated to be approximately $27.1 million, resulting in a net notes receivable balance at Seplember 30,
2006 of approximately $14 million. We believe there was no significant change subsequently on the value of the
underlying assets securing the notes; therefore, we did not have additional reserve afler the third quarter of 2006.

On March 21, 2007, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Tarrant Luxembourg S.a.r.l.,, entered into a letter agreement with
Solticio, Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. (*Inmobiliaria™}, and Acotex, (Acotex and together with Solticio and
[nmobiliaria, the “Sellers™), and Tavex Algodonera, S.A, (“Tavex”), which was subsequently amended. Pursuant to
the agreement, as amended, Tavex had the right and option (but not an obligation), at any time on or prior to
September 1, 2007, to pay to Tarrant Luxembourg an aggregate of U.S. $17.75 million in cash, whereupon, among
other things, Tarrant Luxembourg would terminate the Solticio and Acotex promissory noies described above and
release the Sellers from any further obligations thereunder, and terminate and release all liens on the collateral
securing those notes.

On August 21, 2007, we received a payment of $17.75 million from Tavex upon the exercise by Tavex of its option
in accordance with the agreement among the parties. In return for the Tavex’s payment of $17.75 million, we have
taken the following actions in accordance with the terms of the agreement:

e Tarrant Luxembourg terminated the Solticio and Acotex promissory notes described above

and released the Sellers from any further obligations thereunder, and terminated and released
all liens on the collateral securing those notes;
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o Tarrant Luxembourg and the Sellers terminated all other executory obligations among the
parties, including any obligation of ours to purchase fabric from Soliticio and Acotex; and

e  Tarrant Luxembourg agreed to purchase from Tavex at least U.S. $1.25 million of fabric prior
to the end of 2007, and Tarrant Luxembourg agreed 1o deliver an irrevocable letter of credit
for the full purchase price.

Upon closing of the transaction and receiving the payment of $17.75 million, we recorded a gain of $3.75 million on
our consolidated statements of operations as other income in the third quarter of 2007. We placed a fabric order
with Tavex on August 21, 2007 for $1.25 million pursuant to the agreement. At December 31, 2007, the irrevocable
lewter of credit expired and we did not have any further commitment to purchase fabric from Tavex.

6. Equity Method Investment — American Rag

In 2003, we acquired a 45% equity interest in the owner of the trademark “American Rag Cie™ and the operalor of
American Rag retail stores for $1.4 million, and our subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., acquired a license io certain
exclusive rights to this trademark. We have guaranieed the payment to the licensor of minimum royalties of $10.4
million over the initial 10-year term of the agreement, The guarantced annual minimum royalty is payable in
advance in monthly installments during the term of the agreement. The royalty owed to the licensor in excess of the
guaranteed minimum, if any, is payable no later than 30 days after the end of the preceding full quarter with the
amount for last quarter adjusted based on actual royalties owed for the year. If a portion of the guaranieed minimum
royalty is determined not to be recaverable, the unrecoverable portion is charged to expense al that time. The
guaranieed annual minimum royalty for 2007 is $760,000. At December 31, 2007, the total commitment on royalties
remaining on the term was $7.6 million. Private Brands also entered into a multi-year exclusive distribution
agreement with Macy’s Merchandising Group, LLC, the sourcing arm of Federated Department Stores, 1o supply
Macy’s Merchandising Group with American Rag Cie, a casual sporiswear collection for juniors and young men.
Under this arrangement, Private Brands designs and manufactures American Rag apparel, which is distributed by
Macy’s Merchandising Group exclusively 10 Federated stores across the country. Beginning in August 2003, the
American Rag collection was available in select Macy’s locations and is currently available in approximately 600
Macy’s stores nationally. The investiment in American Rag Cie, LLC totaling $789,000 and $945,000 at December
31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, is accounted for under the equity method and included in equity method invesiment
on the accompanying consolidaled balance sheets. In 2007, we re-classed $1,362,160 from equity method
investment to goodwill to rectify the goodwill portion arrived from the excess of the initial investment over our 45%
share of the net assets of American Rag. Income from the equity method investment is recorded in the United States
geographical segment. The change in investment in American Rag for 2006 and 2007 is as follows:

Balance as of December 31,2005 .............. $ 2,138,865
Reclassification to goodwill ... (1,362,160}
Share 0f INCOME ....ooooiviireeerererec s 79,696
DiIstribution ... e, (67,500)
Balance as of December 31,2006 .............. 3 788,901
Share of inCoMe .........cocoooviiceeeiieeeee 156,441
Balance as of December 31, 2007............... $ 945342

We hold a 45% member interest in American Rag Cie, LLC. The remaining 55% belongs o an unrelated third party
entity who contributed the American Rag trademark and other assets and liabilities relating (o two retail stores
operating under the name of “American Rag”. Royalty incomes paid by us 10 American Rag is classified as its other
income and is ancillary (o its primary operations. Reported revenues from the retail business in fiscal 2005, 2006
and 2007 were approximately $10 million, $10 million and $11 million, respectively. Royalty income paid 1o
American Rag in 2005, 2006 and 2007 were $575,000, $1.1 million and $1.7 million, respectively.

We have determined that we are not the primary beneficiary of American Rag Cie, LLC under FIN 46. There is no
guaranteed return on our investment. American Rag Cie, LLC has sufficient cquity to finance its activities without
any financial support from us. We are not involved in its day to day management decisions and it is effectively
controlled by its Chief Executive Officer who is also the majority sharcholder of the 55% owners. In June 2006, we
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signed a guarantee of certain liabilities of American Rag Cie, LLC to California United Bank to the aggregaie
amount equal at all times to the lesser of (A) 45% of the aggregate amount of the outstanding liabilities or (B)
$675,000, which guarantee was re-affirmed in September 2007. Upon execution of the guarantee, we re-evaluated
our investment under the provisions of FIN 46 and concluded that consolidation under FIN 46 is still not appropriate.
Our variable interest will not absorb a majority of the VIE’s expected losses. We record our proportionate share of
income and losses but are not obligated nor do we intend to absorb losses beyond our 45% investment interest.
Additionally, we do not expect lo receive the enlity’s expecled residual returns, other than their 45% ownership
interest.

We are currently involved in litigation with American Rag Cie, LLC and American Rag Cie II with respect to our
license rights to the American Rag Cie trademark. See Note 21 of these “Notes o Consolidated Financial
Statements”.

7. Other Assets and Write off of Acquisition Expenses
The Buffalo Group

On December 6, 2006, we entered into a definitive stock and asset purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) (o
acquire certain assets and entities comprising The Buffalo Group. The Buffalo Group designs, imports and sells
contemporary branded apparel and accessories, primarily in Canada and the United States.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, we and our subsidiaries agreed to acquire (1} all the outstanding capital stock
of four principal operating subsidiaries of The Buffalo Group — Buffalo Inc., 3163946 Canada Inc., 3681441 Canada
Inc. and Buffalo Corporation, and (2) certain assets, consisting primarily of intellectual property rights and licenses,
from The Buffalo Trust, for a total aggregate purchase price of up to approximately $120 million. At signing of the
Purchase Agreement, we delivered $5.0 million to the sellers as a deposit against the purchase price payable under
the agreement.

On April 19, 2007, we entered into a Mutual Termination and Release Agreement with The Buffalo Group, pursuant
to which we and the other parties to the Purchase Agreement mutually agreed to terminate the Purchase Agreement.
The parties determined that it was in the mutual best interest of each party to terminate the proposed agreement.
Under the terms of the Mutual Termination and Release Agreement, Buffalo agreed 1o return to us $4,750,000 of the
$5,000,000 deposit previously provided by us to The Buffalo Group pursuant 1o the Purchase Agreement, and the
parties have released each other from any claims arising under or related to the Purchase Agreement, The $5.0
million deposit was previously recorded in other assets in consolidated balance sheets. We received $4,750,000 in
Aprit 2007. The remaining portion of the deposit of $250,000 and other due diligence fees incurred in the
acquisition process were recorded as terminated acquisition expenses in the consolidated statements of operations in
the first quarter of 2007.

8. Impairment of Assets
Impairment of Geodwill

Goodwill on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets represents the “excess of costs over fair value of nei
assets acquired in previous business combination”. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires
that goodwill and other intangibles be tested for impairment using a two-step process. The first step is lo determine
the fair value of the reporting unit, which may be calculated using a discounted cash flow methodology, and
compare this value 10 its carrying value, If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, no further work is required and
no impairment loss would be recognized. The second step is an allocation of the fair value of the reporting unit to all
of the reporting unit’s assets and liabilities under a hypothetical purchase price allocation.

The following table displays the change in the gross carrying amount of goodwill by reperting units for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007. The reporting units below arc one level below the reportable segments included in
Note 18, “Operations by Geographic Areas”. The reporting units FR TCL — Chazzz & MGI Division and Private Brands —
American Rag Division were included within the United States geographical segment of Note 18 of the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.”




Reporting Units

FR TCL ~ Private Brands —
Chazzz & MGI Division American Rag Division
Balance as of January 1,2006............ $8,582,845 $1,362,160
Activities for the year,, 0 0
Balance as of Decunber 3l 2006 ........ $8,582,845 $1,362,160
Activities forthe year...................... 0 0
Balance as of December 31, 2007........ $8,582,845 $1,362,160

9. Debt
Debt consists of the following:

December 31,

2000 2007
Short-term bank borrowings:
Import trade bills payable - DBS Bank and Aurora Capital.... $ 5,844,887 $ 4,600,293
Bank direct acceptances - DBS Bank ..o, 3,368,054 1,222,998
Other Hong Kong credit facilities - DBS Bank ................ 4,483,241 3.921.927

§ 13606182  § 9745218

Long-term obligations:

Equipment financing ... 3 38,148 h) 5,338
Credit facility - Gu%enhelm net ..................................... 11,212,724 -
Debt facility and factoring agreement —- GMACCF ........ 19,553,755 2,997,793
30,804,627 3,003,131
L85 CUITENL POTLION coviiiiiiieeie ettt s s s ssr e {19.586.565) (3.003.131D)

$_11.218.062 h =

Import Trade Bills Payable, Bank Direct Acceptances and Other Hong Kong Credit Facilities

[n June 2006, our subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Tarrant Company Limited, Marble Limited and Trade Link Holdings
Limited, entered into a new credit facility with DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“DBS”™), which replaced our prior
letter of credit facility for up to HKD 30 million (equivalent to US $3.9 mitlion). Under this facility, we may arrange
for letters of credit and acceplances. The maximum amount our Hong Kong subsidiaries may borrow under this
facility at any time is US $25 million. The interest rate under the letler of credil facility is equal to the Standard Bills
Rate quoted by DBS minus 0.5% if paid in Hong Kong Dollars, which the interest rate was 7.5% per annum at
December 31, 2007, or the Standard Bills Rate quoted by DBS plus 0.3% if paid in any other currency, which the
interest rate was 8.12% per annum at December 31, 2007. This is a demand facility and is secured by a security
intercst in all the assets of the Hong Kong subsidiaries, by a pledge of our office property where our Hong Kong
office 1s located, which is owned by Gerard Guez and Todd Kay and by our guarantee. The DBS facility includes
customary default provisions. In addition, we are subject to certain restrictive covenants, including that we maintain
a specified tangible net worth, and a minimum level of EBITDA at December 31, 2006 and 2007, interesl coverage
ratio, leverage ratio and limitations on additional indebtedness. As of December 31, 2007, we were in violation with
the EBITDA and tangible net worth covenants and a waiver was oblained on March 18, 2008. As of December 31,
2007, $8.6 million was outstanding under this facility. In addition, $11.3 million of open letters of credit was
outstanding and $5.1 million was avatilable for future borrowings as of December 31, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, the total balance outstanding under the DBS Bank credil facilities was $8.6 million

(classified above as follows: $3.5 million in import trade bills payable, $1.2 million in bank direct acceplances and
$3.9 miltion in other Hong Kong credit facilities),
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In September 2006, a tax loan for HKD 8.438 million (equivalent to US $1.1 million) was also made available by
DBS to our Hong Kong subsidiaries and bore interest at the rate equal to the Hong Kong prime rate plus 1% and
were subject to the same security. The interest rate was 8.75% per annum at October 31, 2007. We paid off this tax
loan in October 2007. As of December 31, 2007, $0 was outstanding under this tax loan.

From time to time, we open letters of credit under an uncommitted line of credit from Aurora Capital Associates
which issues these letters of credits out of lsraeli Discount Bank. As of December 31, 2007, $1.2 miilion was
outstanding under this facitity {classified above under import trade bills payable) and $903,000 of letters of credit
was open under this arrangement. We pay a commission fee of 2.25% on all letters of credits issued under this
arrangement.

Equipment Financing

We had three equipment loans outstanding during 2007. One of these equipment loans bore interest at 15.8%
payable in installments through 2007, which we paid off in December 2007. The second loan bore interest at 6.15%
payable in installment through 2007, which we paid off in December 2007. The third loan bears interest at 4.75%
payable in installment through 2008. As of December 31, 2007, $5,000 was outstanding under the remaining loan.

Debt Facility and Factoring Agreement — GMAC CF

On June 16, 2006, we expanded our previously existing credit facility with GMAC Commercial Finance Credit,
LLC (*GMAC CF™) by entering into a new Loan and Securily Agreement and amending and restaiing our
previously existing Factoring Agreement with GMAC CF. UPS Capital Corporation is also a lender under the Loan
and Security Agreement. This is a revolving credit facility and has a term of 3 years. The amount we may borrow
under this creditl facility is determined by a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory, up to a
maximum of $55 million, and includes a letier of credit facility of up to $4 million. Interest on outstanding amounts
under this credit facility is payable monthly and accrues at the rate of the "prime rate™ plus 0.5%. Qur obligations
under the GMAC CF credit facility are secured by a lien on substantially all our domestic assets, including a first
priority lien on our accounts receivable and inventory. This credit facility contains customary financial covenants,
including covenants that we maintain minimum levels of EBITDA and interest coverage ratios and limitations on
additional indebtedness. This facility includes customary default provisions, and all outstanding obligations may
become immediately due and payable in the event of a default. The facitity bore interest at 7.75% per annum at
December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, we were in violation with the EBITDA covenant and a waiver was
obtained on March 25, 2008. A total of $3.0 million was outstanding with respect to receivables factored under the
GMAC CF facility at December 31, 2007.

Credit Facility from Guggenheim Corporate Funding LLC and Warrants

On June 16, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agrecment with certain lenders and Guggenheim Corporate Funding
LLC (“Guggenheim™), as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders. This credit facility provided for
borrowings of up to $65 million. This facility consisted of an initial term loan of up to $25 million, of which we
borrowed $15.5 million at the initial funding, to be used to repay certain existing indebtedness and fund general
operating and working capital needs. An additional term loan of up 1o 340 million would be available under this
facility to finance acquisitions acceptable 1o Guggenheim. All amounts under the term loans became due and
payable in December 2010. Interest under this facilily was payable monthly, with the interest rale equal to the
LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin based on our debt leverage ratio (as defined in the credit agreement). Qur
obligations under the Guggenheim credit facility were secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets and our
domestic subsidiaries, including a pledge of the equily interests of our domestic subsidiaries and 65% of our
Luxembourg subsidiary.

In connection with Guggenheim credit facility, on June 16, 2006, we issued the lenders under this facility warrants
to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,857,143 shares of our common stock. These warrants have a term of 10 years.
These warrants are exercisable at a price of $1.88 per share with respect 10 20% of the shares, $2.00 per share with
respect to 20% of the shares, $3.00 per share with respect to 20% of the shares, $3.75 per share with respect to 20%
of the shares and 34.50 per share with respect to 20% of the shares. The exercise prices are subject to adjustment for
certain dilutive issuances pursuant to the terms of the warrants. These warrants are exercisable for 3,500,000 shares,

F-20



and the remaining 357,143 shares of the warrants will not become exercisable because a specified portion of the
initial term toan was not funded by the lenders. The warrants were evaluated under SFAS No. 133 and Emerging
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 00-19, “Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to, and
Potentially Settled in, a Company’s Own Stock™ and determined to be a derivative instrument due 1o certain
registration rights. As such, the warrants excluding the ones not exercisable were valued at $4.9 million using the
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 5.1%; dividend yields of 0%;
volatility factors of the expected markel price of our common stock of 0.70; and contractual term of ten years. We
also paid to Guggenheim 2.25% of the committed principal amount of the loans which was $563,000 on June 16,
2006. The $563,000 fee paid to Guggenheim was included in the deferred financing cost, and the value of the
warrants o purchase 3.5 million shares of our common stock of $4.9 million was recorded as debt discount, both of
them were amortized over the life of the loan. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, $654,000 and
$906,000 was amortized, respectively.

Durham Capital Corporation (*Durham™) acted as our advisor in connection with the Guggenheim credit facility. As
compensation for its services, we agreed 1o pay Durham a cash fee in an amount equal to 1% of the committed
principal amount of the loans under the Guggenheim credit facility. As a resul, $250,000 was paid on June 16, 2046.
In addition, we issued Durham a warrant 10 purchase 77,143 shares of our common stock. This warrant has a term of
10 years and is exercisable at a price of $1.88 per share, subject to adjustiment for certain dilutive issuances. This
warrant is exercisable for 70,000 shares, and the remaining 7,143 shares of this warrant will not become exercisable
because a specified portion of the initial term loan was nol funded by the lenders. The warrants were evaluated
under SFAS No. 133 and EITF No. 00-19 and determined to be a derivative instrument due to certain registration
rights. As such, the warrants excluding the ones not exercisable were valued at $105,000 using the Black-Scholes
model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 5.1%; dividend yields of 0%; volatility factors of the
expected marketl price of our common stock of 0.70; and contractual term of ten years. The $250,000 fee paid Lo
Durham and the value of the warrants to purchase 70,000 shares of our common stock of $105,000 was included in
the deferred financing cost, and was amortized over the life of the loan. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2007, $43,000 and S59,000 was amortized, respectively.

As of June 30, 2006, the warrants were being accounted for as a liability pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 133
and EITF No. 00-19. This was because we granted the warrant holders certain registration rights that were outside
our control. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, the warrants were being valued at each reporting period. Changes in
fair value were recorded as adjustment to fair value of derivative in the statements of operations. The outstanding
warrants were fair valued on June 16, 2006, the date of the (ransaction, at $5.0 million and we, in accordance wilh
SFAS No. 133, revaluated the warrants on Junc 30, 2006 at the closing stock price on June 30, 2006 to $5.2 million;
as a result, an expense of $218,000 was recorded as an adjustment 1o fair value of derivative on our consolidated
stalements of operations. On August 11, 2006, the registration rights agreement relating to the warrants was
amended to provide that if we were unable to file or have the registration slatement declared effective by the
required deadlines, we would be required to pay the warrant holders cash payments as partial liquidated damages
each month until the registration stalement was filed and/or declared effective, The liquidated damages payable by
us to the warrant holders were limited 10 20% of the purchase price of the shares underlying the warrants, which we
determined to be a reasonable discount for restricted stock as compared to registered stock. As a result of amending
the registration rights relating to the warrants on August 11, 2006, the warranis were reclassified from debt to equity
m accordance with EITF No. 00-19 in the third quarter of 2006. The oulstanding warrants were revaluated on
August 11, 2006 at the closing stock price on August 11, 2006 to $4.5 million; as a result, income of $729,000 was
recorded as an adjustment to fair value of derivative on our consolidated statements of operations. As such, a net
gain of $511,000 was recognized in our statements of operations as an adjustment to fair value of derivative in 20006.

On September 26, 2007, we repaid in full the term loan of $15.5 million outsianding under the Guggenheim credit
factlity. Upon paying off the loan, the unamortized loan fee paid to Guggenheim of $401,000 and the unamortized
value of the warrants to purchase 3.5 million shares of our common stock of $3.5 million was expensed. The
unamortized loan fee paid to Durham of $178,000 and the unamortized value of the warrants 1o purchase 70,000
shares of our common stock of $75,000 was also expensed. Other unamortized expenses of $822,000 related to
obtaining the loan were also expensed. All the above expenses amounted 10 $5.0 million were recorded on our
consolidated statements of operations as other expense in the third quarter of 2007. On November 2, 2007, we
execuled a payoff letter with Guggenheim and the lenders, which released all liens held by Guggenheim and the
lenders.
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The credit facility with GMAC CF prohibits us from paying dividends or making other distributions en our common
stock. In addition, GMAC CF prohibits our subsidiaries that are borrowers under the facility from paying dividends
or other distributions to us, and the credit facility with DBS prohibits our Hong Kong subsidiaries from paying any
dividends or making other distributions or advances to us.

Guarantees

In June 2006, we signed a guarantee of certain liabilities of American Rag Cie 1o California United Bank 1o the
aggregate amount equal at all times to the lesser of (A) 45% of the aggregate amount of the outstanding liabilities or
{B) $675,000, which guarantee was re-affirmed in September 2007.

10. Convertible Debentures and Warrants

On December 14, 2004, we completed a $10 million financing through the issuance of (i) 6% Secured Convertible
Debentures {“Debentures™) and (1) warrants to purchase up to 1,250,000 shares of our common stock. Prior to
maturity, the investors could convert the Debentures into shares of our common stock at a price of $2.00 per share.
The warrants have a term of five years and an exercise price of $2.50 per share. The warrants were valued al
$866,000 using the Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4%, dividend
yields of 0%; volatility factors of the expected market price of our common stock of (1.55; and an expected Iife of
four years. The Debentures bore interest at a rate of 6% per annum and had a term of three years. We could elect to
pay interest on the Debentures in shares of our common stock if certain conditions were met, including a minimum
market price and trading volume for our common stock. The Debentures contained customary events of default and
permitted the holder thereof to accelerate the maturity if the full principal amount together with interest and other
amounts owing upon the occurrence of such events of default. The Debentures were secured by a subordinated lien
on certain of our accounts receivable and related assets. The closing marketl price of our common stock on the
closing date of the financing was $1.96. The Debentures were thus valued at $8,996,000, resulting in an effective
conversion price of $1.799 per share. The intrinsic value of the conversion option of $804,000 was being amortized
over the life of the loan.

The placement agent in the financing, received compensation for its services in the amount of $620,000 in cash and
issuance of five year warrants to purchase up 1o 200,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.50
per share, The warrants to purchase 200,000 shares of our common stock were valued at $138,000 using the Black-
Scholes model with the following assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 4%; dividend yields of 0%, volatility factors
of the expected market price of our common stock of 0.55; and an expected life of four years. The financing cost
paid to the placement agent of $620,000, and the value of the warrants 1o purchase 200,000 shares of our common
stock of $138,000 were included in the deferred financing cost, net on our accompanying balance sheets and was
amortized over the life of the loan.

In June 2005, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of $2.3 million of Debentures into 1,133,687 shares
of our common stock. In August 2003, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of $820,000 of Debentures
into 410,000 shares of our common stock. The Debentures were converied at the option of the holders at a price of
£2.00 per share. Debt discount of $248,000 related to the intrinsic value of the conversion option of $804,000 was
expensed upon the conversion. Of the $620,000 financing cost paid to the placement agent, $191,000 was expensed
upon the conversion. The intrinsic value of the conversion option, and the value of the warrant amortized in 2006
was $237,000. Total deferred financing cost amortized in 2006 was $95,000. Total interest paid to the holders of the
Debentures in 2006 was $198,000. On June 26, 2006, we paid off the remaining balance of the cutstanding
Debentures of $6.9 million plus all accrued and unpaid interest and a prepayment penalty of $171,000. As a result of
the repayment, the Debentures were terminated effective June 26, 2006. Upon paying off the Debentures, debt
discount of $278,000 related 1o the intrinsic value of the conversion option of $804,000 was expensed, and of the
$620,000 financing cost paid to the placement agent, $214,000 was expensed. The remaining value of the warrants
to holders of our Debentures of $433,000 and warrants to the placement agent of $69,000 was also expensed.

11. Derivatives and Other Financial Instruments

We use forward currency contracts to manage volatility associated with foreign currency purchases of materials in the
normal course of business. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we entered into foreign currency forward
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contracts 1o hedge against the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash flows denominated in foreign currencies and
certain inter-company financing transactions. This transaction is undesignated and as such an ineffective hedge. At
December 31, 2006, we had one open foreign exchange forward which has a maturity of less than one year. Hedge
ineffectiveness resulted in a loss of $196,000 in our consolidated statements of operations as of December 31, 2006. At
December 31, 2007, we had no open foreign exchange forward contracts. Hedge ineffectiveness resulted in a gain of
$196,000 in our consolidated statements of operations as of December 31, 2007.

12, Income Taxes
The provision (credit) for domestic and foreign income taxes is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
Current:
Federal.....oviiviiiininiininirninninreinisins e enensenas $ -- 3 6,968 $(1,666,729)
AL e e 2,425 6,400 42,1560
FOTEIEN.ecv ettt e e ane 1.091,442 202,677 621,780
1,093,867 216,045 (1,002,799)
Deferred;
Federal .........coovvvieieiniinisieinieeernsssieresessserenanns -- -- --
SLAIE .1t ceeeinen e sine st e e s rr e es e e saee et e ennr - -- --
FOTRIZN..oevreicr e ssns e s asassnases (166,686 ) 237.045 (38.211)
(166,686 ) 237.045 {(38.211)
TO AL e §__927,181 $ 453090 $(1,041,010)

The source of income (loss) before the provision (credit) for taxes and minority interest is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

20605 2006 2007
Federal. ..ottt eeeer e e s ernae e $ {(4,406,638) $ 1415652 S 320,755
FOT@IEN ..ot 6.402.404 {(23.204.213) 391,925
TOEAL vttt rir sttt st ssa e $_ 1,995,766 $(21,788,561) $ 712,680

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate principally due to the following reasons: (1) a substantial
valuation allowance has been provided for deferred tax assets as a resull of the operating losses in the United States
and Mexico, since recoverability of those assets has not been assessed as more likely than not; and (2) the earnings
of our Hong Kong subsidiary are taxed at a rate of 17.5% versus the 35% U.S. federal rate. The impairment charge
in Mexico did not result in a tax benefit due to an increase in the valuation allowance against the fulure 1ax benefit.
We belicve it is more likely than not that the tax benefit will not be realized based on our future business plans in
Mexico.
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax provision {benefit) to the reported tax provision (credit) on
income (loss) is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

Income tax (benefit) based on federal

SLATULOTY TALE wevvrieeecenrerei e $ 672,184 $(7,618,680) $ 247274
State income taxes, net of federal benefit............. (246,978) 190,152 100,560
Effect of foreign income taxes.........cocoooeeeieee. (1,316,085) 8,561,197 446,395
FIN48 adjustments...........cooooiiiiiiiiiiceee - -- (1,676,729)
Increase in valuation allowance

ANd OThET o 1,818,060 (679,579) (158,510)
Reperted tax provision (credit)...................... S 927,181 $ 453,090 $ (1,041,010)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of
the deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 31,

2006 2007

Deferred tax assets:

Provision for doubtful accounts and unissued credits................... $ 501,546 $ 452,822

Provision for Other FESErVES .o cre e eseesans 1,808,092 2,242,256

Domestic and foreign loss carry forwards and foreign tax credits 13,867,841 11,984,024

GOOAWIIL 1.ttt e bbb anaa s 4,240,274 3,671,620

Total deferred (ax aSSE15........ceeeeeieieeeeee e 20,417,753 18,350,722

Deferred tax liabilities:

OHRET vt e e s e ba e - --
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ...........ccoovoveovieiieeeeene. (20.294.146) (18,.188.904)
Net deferred tax assets (Habilities).......cooocoeeerioieneeeeee e 3 123,607 h) 161,818

——

At December 31, 2007, we had $31.8 million of federal net operating loss carry forwards that will expire beginning
in 2023. We also had foreign tax credits carry forwards totaling $815,000 that will expire beginning in 2010.

In January 2004, the IRS completed its examination of our Federal income tax returns for the years ended December
31, 1996 through 2001. The 1RS had proposed adjustments to increase our income tax payable for these years under
examination. In addition, in July 2004, the IRS initiated an examination of our Federal income tax return for the year
ended December 31, 2002, In December 2007, we received a final assessment from the IRS of $7.4 million for the
years ended December 31, 1996 through 2002, and in the first quarter of 2008 we entered into a final settlement
agreement with the IRS. Under the settlement, which totals $13.9 million, including $6.5 million of interest, we
agreed to pay the IRS $4 million in March 2008 and an additional $250,000 per month unti! repayment in full. The
settlement with the IRS is within amounts accrued for as of December 31, 2007 in our financial statements, and we
therefore do not anticipate the settlement to result in any additional charges to income other than interest on the
outstanding balance. Due 1o the negotiated setiiement, we reclassified the IRS and state tax liabilities from uncertain
lax position to current payable on December 31, 2007.

We adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. The total unrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 2007
were $8.9 million, excluding interest, penalties and related income tax benefits and would be recorded as a
component of income tax expense if recognized. We recognize interest accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits
and penallies as a component of income tax expense. As of January 1, 2007, the accrued interest and penalties were
$8.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, excluding any related income tax benefits. During 2007, we de-
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recognized a previous uncertain tax position through negotiations with the state tax jurisdiction. The negotiated
settlement resulted in a decrease of $1.5 million in unrecognized tax benefits and $1.0 million in penalties. During
2007, we also de-recognized a previous uncertain tax position through settlement with the IRS. The negotiated
settlement resulted in a decrease of $7.4 million in unrecognized tax benefits. Afier the above adjusiments, there was
no unrecognized tax benefit as of December 31, 2007. As of December 31, 2007, the accrued interest and penalties
were $7.2 million and $142,000, respectively.

The reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benelits is as follow:

Balance at January 1, 2007, ... . s $8,902,660
Decrease related to negotiated scttlement with the state tax jurisdiction.........  (1,520,162)
Decrease related to negotiated settlement with the IRS.......................o (7,382,498)
Balance at December 31, 2007 . ... oot $0

13. Commitments and Contingencies

We have entered inlo various non-cancelable operating lease agreements, principally for executive office,
warehousing facilities and showrooms with unexpired lerms in excess of one year. Certain of these leases provided
for scheduled rent increases. We record rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The future
minimum lease payments under these non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:

2000 e e s e e e ane e eans 1,301,000
2 0 OO S 1,315,000
20T e e e st 1,061,000
7 SRR 680,000
TREFEATIET Lot 1,787.000

Total future minimum lease Payments ......o.oovevevirvrvrerererererens § 7,566,000

Included in the future minimum lease paymenits are, $40,000 payable to Lynx lnternational Limited, a Hong Kong
corporation that is owned by Messrs, Guez and Kay for leasing our office space and warehouse in Hong Kong, and
$2,352,000 payable 10 GET a corporation which is owned by Messrs. Gerard Guez and Todd Kay for leasing the Los
Angeles offices and warehouse. See Note 17 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Several of the operating leases contain provisions for additional rent based upon increases in the operating costs, as
defined, per the agreement. Total rent expense under the operating leases amounted to approximately $1.3 mullion,
$1.9 millien and $2.0 million for 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

We entered into a new lease agreement in June 2005 for our showroom in New York through June 2015. This is
currently the location used for the private brands sales, design and technical departments, which functions were
moved from our Los Angeles executive office.

Our lease agreement in Mexico for our office and storage expired in March 2008.

On August 1, 2006, we entered into a lease agreement with GET for the Los Angeles offices and warehouse, which
lease has a term of five years with an option to renew for an additional five year term. On February 1, 2007, we
entered inlo a one year lease agreement with Lynx International Limited for our office space and warehouse in Hong
Kong.

We had open letters of credit of $9.5 million, $4.6 million and $12.2 million as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and
2007, respectively.

We had two employment contracts dated January 1, 1998, and subsequently amended, with two executives

providing for base compensation and other incentives. On April 1, 2004, we amended each of these contracts to
extend the term through March 31, 2006, and to provide one contract for base salary per annum of $500,000 for the
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period from April 1, 2003 10 March 31, 2006, and the other coniract for base salary per annum of $50,000 from
April 1, 2003 to March 31, 2006. Additionally, we agreed to pay each of these executives an annual bonus (the
“Annual Bonus™) for fiscal years ended December 3t, 2003, 2004 and 2005 in an amount, if any, equal to ten
percent (10%) of the amount by which our actual pre-tax income for such fiscal year exceeds the amount of
projected pre-tax income set forth in our annual budget for the same fiscal year as approved by our Board of
Directors. No bonuses were paid to these executives for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 and 2007. Bonus
of $150,000 was paid to one of the executives in 2006,

In 2003, we acquired a 45% equily interest in the owner of the trademark “American Rag Cie” and the operator of
American Rag retail stores for $1.4 million, and our subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., acquired a license to certain
exclusive rights to this trademark. We have guaranteed the payment to the licensor of minimum royalties of $10.4
million over the initial 10-year term of the agreement. At December 31, 2007, the tolal commitment on royallies
remaining on the term was $7.6 million, We are currently involved in litigation with American Rag Cie, LLC and
American Rag Cie 1l with respect to our license rights to the “American Rag Cie” trademark. See Note 21 of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.”

On October 17, 2004, our subsidiary Private Brands, Inc entered into an agreement with J. S. Brand Management to
design, manufacture and distribute Jessica Simpson branded jeans and casual apparel. This agreement has an iniual
three-year term, and provided we are in compliance with the terms of the agreement, is renewable for one additional
two-year term. Minimum net sales are $20 million in year 1, $25 million in year 2 and $30 million in year 3. The
agreement provides for payment of a sales royally and advertising commitment al the rate of 8% and 3%,
respectively, of net sales, for a tolal minimum payment obligation of $8.3 million over the initial term of the
agreement. On July 19, 2005, Camuto Consulting Group replaced J.8. Brand Management as the master licensor. in
December 2004, we advanced $2.2 million as payment for the first year’s minimum royalties. We applied $1.1
million from the above advance against the royalty and marketing expenses in 2005 and $884,000 in the first three
months of 2006. In March 2006, we had written off the capitalized balance of $192,000 and recognized a
corresponding loss. The loss was classified as royally expense on our consolidated statements of operations. In
March 2006, we became involved in a dispute with the licensor of the Jessica Simpson brands over our continued
rights to these brands, and we had been in litigation with the licensor. See Note 21 of the “Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements”. The licensor refused to accept payments and maintained thai the agreement had been terminated.
There had been no sales of new products since the licensor started refusing to approve products for manufacture and sale.
As a result of this litigation, in 2006 and in the first nine months of 2007, we did not accrue for the payments of mimmum
royalty, sales royalty and advertising commitment of $4.4 million pursuant to the agreement. In November 2007, we entered
into a settlement agreement with the licensor, Jessica Simpson and related parties with respect to the litigation, pursuant to
which the parties agreed to dismiss with prejudice all claims relating to these actions or the sublicense agreement. As a
result, we are no longer required 1o make the guaranteed payments contemplated under the agreement.

On January 3, 20035, Privale Brands, Inc, our wholly owned subsidiary, entered into a term sheet exclusive licensing
agreement with Beyond Productions, LLC and Kids Headquarters to collaborate on the design, manufaciuring and
distribution of women’s contemporary, large sizes and junior apparel bearing the brand name “House of Dereon”, Couture,
Kick and Soul. This agreement was a three-year contract, and providing compliance with all terms of the license, was
renewable for one additional three-year term. The agreement also provided payment of royally at the rate of 8% on net sales
and 3% on net sales for marketing fund commitments, In the first quarter of 2005, we advanced $1.2 million as payment for
the first year’s minimum royalty and marketing fund commitment. We had applied $34,000 from the above advance
against the royalty and marketing expenses in 2005. In March 2006, we agreed to terminate our agreement Lo design,
market and sell House of Dereon by Tina Knowles branded apparel and we agreed to sell all remaining inventory to the
licensor or its designee. As a resull, we were no longer involved in the sales of this private brand. Prior to December 31,
2005, we had written off the capitalized balance of $1.2 million related to agreement and recognized a loss accordingly in
2005. The loss was classified as royally expense on our consolidated statements of operations.

In July 2006, we terminated our License Agreements and the parent guaranty with Cynthia Rowley. In consideration
of termination of the License Agreements, $400,000 was paid to Cynthia Rowley in July 2006.

In August 2004, we entered into an Agreement for Purchase of Assets with affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif; a

shareholder at the time of the transaction, with agreement was amended in October 2004. Pursuant to the agreement,
as amended, on November 30, 2004, we sold to the purchasers substantially all of our assets and real property in
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Mexico, including the equipment and facilities we previously leased to Mr. Nacif's affiliates. Upon consummation
of the sale, we entered inte a purchase commitment agreement with the purchasers, pursuant to which we agreed to
purchase annually over the ten-year term of the agreement, $5 million of fabric manufactured at our former facilities
acquired by the purchasers at negotiated market prices, We purchascd $6.4 million of fabric, of which $2.4 million
was paid in cash and $4.0 million was offset against the notes receivable principal and accrued interest on the note
receivable from the affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif in 2005. We did not purchase any fabric in 2006 and 2007, On
August 21, 2007, we received a payment of $17.75 mitlion from Tavex upon the exercise by Tavex of its option, and
this fabric purchase commitment agreement was terminated. Instead, Tarrant Luxembourg agreed 1o purchase from
Tavex at least U.S. $1.25 million of fabric prior to the end of 2007 and to deliver an irrevocable letier of credit for
the full purchase price. We placed a fabric order with Tavex on August 21, 2007 for $1.25 million pursuant to the
agreement. At December 31, 2007, the irrevocable letter of credit expired and we did not have any further
commitment to purchase fabric from Tavex. See Note 17 of the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

On September 1, 2006, our subsidiary in Hong Kong, Tarrant Company Limited, entered into an agreement with
Seven Licensing Company, LLC 10 be its buying agent to source and purchase apparel merchandise. Seven
Licensing is beneficially owned by Gerard Guez.

We are involved from time to time in routine legal matters incidental {0 our business. In our opinion, resolution of
such maiters witl not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

14. Stock-Based Compensation

Our Employee Incentive Plan, formerly the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan™), authorized the grant of both
incentive and non-qualified stock options to our officers, employees, directors and consultants for shares of our
common stock. As of December 31, 2007, there were outstanding options to purchase a total of 1,041,000 shares of
common stock granted under the 1995 Plan. No further grants may be made under the 1995 Plan. On May 25, 2006,
we adopted the Tarrant Apparel Group 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the *2006 Plan™), which authorizes the issuance
of up to 5,100,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to options or awards granted under the 2006 Plan. As of
December 31, 2007, there were outstanding options to purchase a total of 1,773,000 shares of common stock, and
1,827,000 shares remained available for issuance pursuant to award granted under the 2006 Plan. The exercise price
of options under the plan must be equal to 100% of fair market value of common stock on the date of grant. The
2006 Plan also permits other types of awards, including stock appreciation rights, restriclted stock and other
performance-based benefits.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment,” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”)
which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made
to employces and directors based on estimated fair values, SFAS No. 123(R) supersedes our previous accounting
under Accounting Principles Board Opinion (*APB™) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees™ for
periods beginning in fiscal 2006, In March 2005, the Securitics and Exchange Commission (“SEC”} issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”™) No. 107 relating to SFAS No. 123(R). We have applied the provisions of SAB No.
107 in our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

We adopted SFAS No. 123(R} using the modified prospective transition method, which requires the application of
the accounting standard as of January 1, 2006, the first day of our fiscal year 2006. Our financial statements as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 reflect the impact of SFAS No. 123(R). SFAS No. 123(R)
requires companies to estimate the fair value of share-based payment awards to employees and directors on the date
of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is
recognized as expense over the requisile service periods in our consolidated slatements of operations. Prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we accounted for stock-based payment awards to employees and directors using the
intrinsic value method in accordance with APB No. 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”. Under the intrinsic value method, no stock-based compensation expense had been recognized
in our consolidated statements of operations for awards to employees and directors because the exercise price of our
stock options equaled the fair market value of the underlying stock at the date of grant. In accordance with the
modified prospective transition method, our financial statements for prior periods have not been restated Lo reflect,
and do not include, the impact of SFAS No. 123(R).
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per share if we had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based payment awards granted under our stock option plans for the

year ended December 31, 2005;

Net income as reported ...

Add stock-based employee compensation charges

reported in NELINCOME.......c.reerreererrereesrerneseesseseerensesress
Pro forma compensation expense, net of tax ..............
Pro forma net 1088 ..o

Net income per share - Basic ........ccovooorvcvnncvcvnnnas

Add stock-based employee compensation charges

reported in net income - Basic .....coccovvieeenrecnines
Pro forma compensation expense per share................
Pro forma loss per share - Basic .....cooovevieeenieecnnnes

Net income per share - Diluted ...

Add stock-based employee compensation charges

reported in net income - Diluted........cooovevervcnicns
Pro forma compensation expense per share...............
Pro forma loss per share - Diluted.............ococoeeeee.

2005

$ 993344

$ 38740

$ (4.298.193)
$_(3,266,109)
$ 0.03

$ 0.00

$ (0.14)
§ (01
$ 0.03

$ 0.00

$ (0.14)
s (L)

On September 23, 2005, the Board of Directors approved the acceleration of vesting of all our unvested stock
options, including those not issued under the plan. In total, 1.7 million stock options with an average exercise price
of $3.69 and an average remaining contractual life of 7.9 years were subject to this acceleration. The exercise prices
and number of shares subject lo the accelerated optlions were unchanged. The acceleration was effective as of
September 23, 2005. Had the acceleration of these stock options not been underiaken, the future compensation
expense we would recognize in the fiscal years of 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 would be $1.4 million, $810,000,
$10,000 and $3,000, respectively. Our decision to accelerate the vesting of these stock options was based upon the
accounting of this $2.2 million of compensation expense from disclosure-only in 2005 1o being included in our
statement of operations in 2006 to 2009 based on our anticipated adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) effective in January
2006. As a result, there were no stock options granted prior to, bul not yel vesled as of January 1, 2006.
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A summary of our stock option activity and related information for the year ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and

2007 is as follows:

Options outstanding at December 31,2004, ..

Employees
Number of
shares Exercise Price
8,331,962 $1.39-845.50
42.000 $1.95-33.68
(1,573,300) $1.95-825.00
(67.612) $4.50
6,733,050 $1.39-345.50
1,233,259 $1.84-51.94
(19,650) $1.94-$33.13
(273,000) $6.75-$7.38
7,673,659 $1.39-$45.50
2,630,000 $1.13-$1.99
(1,500,000) $1.13
(87,450) $1.63-318.50
{502,000} $1.13-$8.50
8,214,209 $1.39-845.50

We had no stock option outstanding to non-employees as of December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding, expected to vest and exercisable at

December 31, 2006 and 2007;

As of December 31, 2006:

Employees - Outstanding. .....coooveviviiciiiorni e
Employees — Expected to vest............ e e
Employees - EXercisable ..o v e

As of December 31, 2007:

Employees - Outstanding. . ...
Employces — Expected 0 vest. ..o
Employces - Excreisable ...

The following table summarizes our non-vested options as of December 31, 2007 and changes during the year ended

Weighted
Number of Weighted Average
shares Average  Remaining
Exercise  Contractual  Intrinsic
Price Life (Years) Value

7,673,659 8552 59 30
7,579,083 3557 59 80
6,445,400 $6.22 53 i
$,214,209 $5.28 52 $0
8,078,438 $534 52 $0
6,748,015 $6.01 45 $0

December 31, 2007.
Number of Weighted Average
Non-vested Options shares Grant-Date Fair Value
Non-vested at Janvary 1,2007.................... 1,228,259 5126
Granted. ..., 2,630,000 1.23
e (6 P P (2,307,065) 1.22
Forfeited. ... (85,000) 1.15
Non-vested at December 31,2007, 1,466,194 $1.28

The following table shows the fair value of each option granted to employees and directors estimated on the date of
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grant using the Black-Scholes model with the following weighted average assumptions used for grants in 2005, 2006
and 2007.

Years Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007
Expected dividend............. 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk free interest rate. ......... 4% 5.075% 390% to 4.67%
Expected volatility............. 55% 70% 0%
Expected term (in years)...... 4 6.25 0.06t06.18

Stock-based compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-based
payment awards thal is ullimately expected to vest during the period. Stock-based compensation expense recognized
in the consolidated statements of operations for the years of 2006 and 2007 consisted of compensation expense for
the share-based payment awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006 based on the grant date fair value estimated
in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). For stock-based paymeni awards issued to employees and
directors, stock-based compensation is attributed 10 expense using the straight-line single option method, which is
consistent with how the prior-period pro-formas were provided. As stock-based compensation expense recognized in
the consolidated statements of operations for the years of 2006 and 2007 is based on awards ultimately expected to
vest, it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures which we estimate to be 7.7%. SFAS No. 123(R) requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. In our pro-forma information for the period fiscal 2005, we accounted for forfeitures as
they occurred.

Our determination of fair value of share-based payment awards to employees and directors on the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes model, which is affecied by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly
complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited 1o our expected stock price volatility
over the term of the awards. When valuing awards, we estimate its expected terms using the “safe harbor”
provisions provided in SAB No. 107 and its volatility using historical data. We granted options to purchase
1,233,259 and 2,630,600 shares of common stock during 2006 and 2007, respectively. The options granted were fair
valued in the aggregate at $1.6 mitlion and $3.2 million or the weighted-average exercise price of $1.86 and $1.32
during 2006 and 2007, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense related to employees or director stock
options recognized during 2006 and 2007 was $187,000 and $771,000, respectively. Basic and dilutive earnings per
share for the year ended December 31, 2006 were decreased by $0.01 from $(0.72) to $(0.73) by the additional
stock-based compensation recognized. Basic and dilutive earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2007
were decreased by $0.02 from $0.08 to $0.06 by the additional stock-based compensation recognized.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2006 and 2007 was $0 and $120,000, respectively. Cash
received from stock options exercised during 2006 and 2007 was $0 and $1.7 million, respectively. The total fair
value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, were approximately $5.7 million,
$0, and $2.8 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2007, there was $1.4 million of {otal unrecognized compensation cost related 1o non-vested
share-based compensation arrangements granted under the plans, That cost is expected to be recognized over the
weightled-average period of 2.5 years.

When options are exercised, our policy is to issue previously un-issued shares of common stock to satisfy share
option exercises. As of December 31, 2007, we had 68.0 million shares of un-issued shares of common stock.

15. Equity Transactions

[n March 2005, in connection with a settlement of a dispute involving a former employee named Nicolas Nunez, we
agreed to compensate Mr. Nunez in the total amount of $875,000. In April 2005, we issued 195,313 shares of our
common stock (having a value of $375,000) to Mr. Nunez pursuant to the terms of an agreement and plan of
reorganization and paid Mr. Nunez $500,000 in settlement of all remaining claims by Mr. Nunez against us. In
connection with this settlement, in March 2006, we cancelled 10,000 shares of our common stock previously issued
1o him,
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In June 2005, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of $2.3 million of Debentures into 1,133,687 shares
of our common stock. In August 2005, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of $820,000 of Debentures
into 410,000 shares of our common stock. See Note 10 of the “Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements.”

On June 16, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement with certain lenders and Guggenheim, as administrative
agent and collateral agent for the lenders. This credit facility provides for borrowings of up to $65 million. This
facility consists of an initial term loan of up to $25 million, of which we borrowed $15.5 million at the initial
funding. An additional term loan of up 1o $40 million will be available under this facility to finance acquisitions
accepiable to Guggenheim. In connection with Guggenheim credit facility, on June 16, 2006, we issued the lenders
under this facility warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,857,143 shares of our common stock. 357,143 shares
of the warrants will not become exercisable unless and until a specified portion of the initial term loan is actually
funded by the lenders. Durham acted as our advisor in connection with the Guggenheim credit facility. As
compensation for its services, we agreed 1o pay Durham a cash fee in an amount equal to 1% of the commitied
principal amount of the loans under the Guggenheim credit facility. In addition, we issued Durham a warmant to
purchase 77,143 shares of our common stock. 7,143 shares of this warrant will not become exercisable unless and
until a specified portion of the initial term loan is actually funded by the lenders. See Note 9 of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.”

In November 2007, we granted an award to purchase 2 million shares of our common stock at $1.13 to one of our
employees, which offer had to be accepled by the employee on or before December 15, 2007, The award was
immediately vested and was granted under the 2006 Plan. On December 14, 2007, the employee exercised his right
to purchase 1.5 million of the shares subject to the award at $1.13 for a total of $1.7 million.

We previously owned 50.1% of United Apparel Ventures, which was dissolved on February 27, 2007. Upon
dissolution, we distributed $100,000 initial capital to the 49.9% minority inierest owner.

In November 2003, our board of directors adopted a shareholders rights plan. Pursuant 1o the plan, we issued a
dividend of one right for each share of our common stock held by shareholders of record as of the close of business
on December 12, 2003, Each right initially entitled sharcholders to purchase a fractional share of our Series B
Preferred Stock for $25.00. However, the rights are not immediately exercisable and will become exercisable only
upon the occurrence of certain events, Generally, if a person or group acquires, or announces a lender or exchange
offer that woutd result in the acquisition of 15% or more of our common stock while the shareholder rights plan
remains in place, then, unless the rights are redeemed by us for $0.001 per right, the rights will become exercisable,
by all rights holders other than the acquiring person or group, for our shares or shares of the third party acquirer
having a value of twice the right's then-current exercise price. The shareholder rights plan is designed to guard
against partial tender offers and other coercive 1actics 10 gain control of our company without offering a fair and
adequate price and terms to all of our shareholders. The plan was not adopted in response to any efforts to acquire
our company, and we are not aware of any such cfforts.

Our credit agreement prohibits the payment of dividends during the term of the agreement.

16¢. Supplemental Schedule of Cash Flow Information
Year Ended December 31,

_ WS __2me 2007
Cash paid fOr INLEFESL... oo oeeeer e reeee s $._.3,335,000 $_4,246,000 £ 3,261,000
Cash paid fOr INCOME 1AXES ...eveveerreerereerrereeer e $ 875000 $_ 1,153,000 §__ 35000

[n March 2005, in connection with a settlement of a dispute involving a former cmployee named Nicolas Nunez, we
agreed 10 compensate Mr. Nunez in the total amount of $875,000. In April 2005, we issued 195,313 shares of our
common stock (having a value of $375,000) to Mr. Nunez pursuant 1o the lerms of an agreement and plan of
reorganization and paid Mr. Nunez $500,000 in settlement of all remaining claims by Mr. Nunez against us. In
connection with this settlement, in March 2006, we cancelled 10,000 shares of our common siock previously issued
10 him,
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In June 2005, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of $2.3 million of Debentures into 1,133,687 shares
of our common stock. In August 2005, holders of our Debentures converted an aggregate of £820,000 of Debentures
into 410,000 shares of our common stock. On June 26, 2006, we paid off the remaining balance of the outstanding
Debentures of $6.9 million plus all accrued and unpaid interest and a prepayment penalty of $171,000. As a result of
the repayment, the Debentures were terminated effective June 26, 2006. Upon paying off the Debentures, debt
discount of $278,000 related to the intrinsic value of the conversion option of $804,000 was expensed, and of the
$620,000 financing cost paid to the placement agent, $214,000 was expensed. The remaining value of the warrants
to holders of our Debentures of $433,000 and warrants to the placement agent of $69,000 was also expensed. See
Note 10 of the “Noles to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

In 2005, we purchased $6.4 million of fabric from Acabados y Terminados, of which $2.4 million was paid in cash
and $4.0 million was offset against the notes receivable principal and accrued interest on the note receivable from
the affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif.

In 2006, we purchased $1.1 million of fabric from Azteca Production International, Inc. (“Azteca™), a corporation
owned by the brothers of Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer, of which $0.5 million
was paid in cash and $0.6 million was offset against amount due from Azleca. In 2007, we purchased $499,000 of
fabric from Azteca which was offset against amount due from Azteca.

On June 16, 2006, we entered into a Credit Agreement with certain lenders and Guggenhieim, as administrative
agent and collateral agent for the lenders. This credit facility provides for borrowings of up to $65 million. This
facility consisis of an initial term loan of up 1o $25 miilion, of which we borrowed $15.5 million at the initial
fundmg. An additional term loan of up to $40 million will be available under this facility 1o finance acquisitions
acceptable to Guggenheim. In connection with Guggenheim credit facility, on June 16, 2006, we issued the lenders
under this facility warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 3,857,143 shares of our common stock, 357,143 shares
of the wammants will not become exercisable unless and until a specified portion of the initial term loan is actually
funded by the lenders. Durham acled as our advisor in connection with the Guggenheim credit facility. As
compensation for its services, we agreed to pay Durham a cash fee in an amount equal to 1% of the committed
principal amount of the loans under the Guggenheim credit facility. In addition, we i1ssued Durham a warrant o
purchase 77,143 shares of our common stock. 7,143 shares of this warrant will not become exercisable unless and
until a specified portion of the initial term loan is actually funded by the lenders. See Note 9 of the “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.”

17. Related-Party Transactions

Related-party transaclions, consisting primarily of purchases and sales of finished goods and raw materials, are as
follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007
Sales to related PAMIES ....c.ceecveece i 3 88,000 $ 4,417,000 $19,430,000
Purchases from related parties ...........cocoecvecrveeerennenncns $ 6,987,000 $10,035,000 $10,914,000

As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, related party affiliates were indebted to us in the amounts of $10.0 million and
$10.5 million, respectively. These include amounts due from Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Interim Chief
Executive Officer, of $2.2 million and $1.9 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, which have been
shown as reductions to shareholders’ equity in the accompanying financial statements.

From time to time in the past, we had advanced funds 10 Mr. Guez. These were net advances to Mr. Guez or
payments paid on his behalf before the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in 2002. The promissory note
documenting these advances contains a provision that the entire amount together with accrued interest is
immediately due and payable upon our written demand. The grealest outstanding balance of such advances to Mr.
Guez during 2007 was approximately $2,151,000. At December 31, 2007, the entire balance due from Mr. Guez
totaling $1.9 million was reflected as a reduction of sharcholders’ equity. All amounts due from Mr. Guez bore
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interest at the rate of 7.75% during the period. Total interest paid by Mr. Guez was $209,000, $171,000 and
$158,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Mr. Guez paid expenses on our
behalf of approximately $397,000, $299,000 and $365,000 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively, which amounts were applied to reduce accrued interest and principal on Mr. Guez’s loan. These
amounts included fuel and related expenses incurred by 477 Aviation, LLC, a company owned by Mr. Guez, when
our executives used this company’s aircrafl for business purposes. Since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actin
2002, no further personal loans (or amendments to existing loans) have been or will be made to our officers or
directors.

On July 1, 2001, we formed an entity to jointly market, share certain risks and achieve economies of scale with
Azieca Production International, Inc. (“Azteca”™), called United Apparel Ventures, LLC (“UAV™). This entity was
created to coordinate the production of apparet for a single customer of our branded business. Azteca is owned by the
brothers of Gerard Guez. UAV made purchases from a related parly in Mexico, an affiliate of Azteca. UAV was
owned 50.1% by Tag Mex, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary, and 49.9% by Azieca. Results of the operation of
UAYV had been consolidated into our results since July 2001 with the minority partner’s share of gain and losses
eliminated through the minority interest line in our financial statements until 2004, Due to the restructuring of our
Mexico operations, we discontinued manufacturing for UAV customers in 2004. We had been consolidating 100%
of the results of the operation of UAV into our results since 2005, UAV was dissolved on February 27, 2007. We
purchased $135,000, $1.1 million and $499,000 of finished goods, fabric and service from Azteca and its affiliates
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, Our total sales of fabric and service to Azteca
in 2005, 2006 and 2007 were $88,000, $9,000 and $0, respectively. Based on the repayment history of Azleca and
litigation Azteca is currently subject o, we estimated that our receivable of $3.4 million will take approximately three years
for collection in full. We therefore made a $1.0 million reserve and then fair-valued the balance of this asset using our
weighted average cost of capital as the discount rate and a tern of three years as the discount period. Net amounts due from
this related party as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 were $4.0 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

On September 1, 2006, our subsidiary in Hong Kong, Tarrant Company Limited, entered into an agreement with
Seven Licensing Company, LLC (“Seven Licensing”) to be its buying agent to source and purchase apparel
merchandise. Seven Licensing is beneficially owned by Gerard Guez. Total sales to Seven Licensing for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 were $4.4 million and $19.4 million, respectively. Net amounts due from this
relaled party as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 were $3.5 million and $6.8 million, respectively.

We purchased $8.7 miltion and $10.4 million of finished goods from Star Source, LLC and AJG Inc. dba Asirologie
for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Star Source, LLC and AJG [nc. dba Astrologie are
beneficially owned by an adult son of one of our employees. As of December 31, 2007, we advanced $327,000 to
Star Source, LLC for fabric purchase.

[n August 2004, we entered into an Agreement for Purchase of Assets with affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif, a
shareholder at the time of the transaction, which agreement was amended in October 2004. Pursuant 1o the
agreement, as amended, on November 30, 2004, we sold 1o the purchasers substantially all of our assets and real
property in Mexico, including the equipment and facilities we previously leased to Mr. Nacif’s affiliates in October
2003, for an aggregate purchase price consisting of: a) $105,400 in cash and $3,910,000 by delivery of unsecured
promissory noles bearing interest at 5.53% per annum; and b) $40,204,000, by delivery of secured promissory notes
bearing interest at 4,5% per annum, with paymems due on December 31, 2005 and every year thereafier until
December 31, 2014. As of September 30, 2006, the outstanding balance of the notes and interest receivables were $41.1
million prior to the reserve. Historically, we had placed orders for purchases of fabric from the purchasers pursuant lo
the purchase commitment agreement we cnlered into at the time of the sale of the Mexico assets, and we had
satisfied our payment obligations for the fabric by offsetting the amounts payable against the amounts due to us
under the notes. However, during the third quarter of 2006, the purchasers ceased providing fabric and were not
making payments under the notes. We further evaluated the recoverability of the notes receivable and recorded a
loss on the notes receivable in the third quarter of 2006 in an amount cqual to the outstanding balance less the value
of the underlying assets securing the notes, The loss was estimated to be approximately $27.1 million, resulting in a
noles receivable balance at September 30, 2006 of approximately $14 million. We believe there was no significant
change subsequently on the value of the underlying assets securing the notes; therefore, we did not have additional reserve
after the third quarter of 2006.

F-33




Upon consummation of the sale, we entered into a purchase commitment agreement with the purchasers, pursuant to
which we agreed 1o purchase annually over the ten-year term of the agreement, $5 million of fabric manufactured at
our former facilities acquired by the purchasers at negotiated markel prices. We purchased $6.4 million of fabric, of
which $2.4 million was paid in cash and $4.0 million was offset against the notes receivable principal and accrued
interest on the note receivable from the affiliates of Mr. Kamel Nacif in 2005. We did not purchase any fabric in
2006 and 2007. Net amount due from Mr. Kamel Nacif and his affiliates as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 was
$116,000 and $0, respectively.

On March 21, 2007, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Tarrant Luxembourg S.a.r.l., entered into a letier agreement with
Soiticio, Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. (“Inmobiliaria™), and Acotex, {Acotex and together with Solticio and
[nmobiliaria, the *Sellers”), and Tavex Algodonera, S.A. (*Tavex™), which was subsequently amended. On August
21, 2007, we received a payment of $17.75 million from Tavex upon the exercise by Tavex of its option in
accordance with the agreement among the parties. In return for the Tavex’s payment of $17.75 million, we have
taken the following actions in accordance with the terms of the agreement:

e Tarrant Luxembourg terminated the Selticio and Acotex promissory notes described above
and released the Sellers from any further obligations thereunder, and terminated and released
all liens on the collateral securing those notes;

o  Tarrant Luxembourg and the Sellers terminated all other executory obligations among the
parties, including any obligation of ours to purchase fabric from Soliticio and Acotex; and

s  Tarranl Luxembourg agreed to purchase from Tavex at least U.S. $1.25 million of fabric prior
to the end of 2007, and Tarrant Luxembourg agreed to deliver an irrevocable letter of credit
for the full purchase price.

Upon closing of the transaction and receiving the payment of $17.75 million, we recorded a gain of $3.75 million on
our consolidated statemenis of operations as other income in the third quarter of 2007, We placed a fabric order with
Tavex on August 21, 2007 for $1.25 million pursuant to the agreement. At December 31, 2007, the irrevocable letier
of credit expired and we did not have any further commitment to purchase fabric from Tavex.

We lease our executive offices and warehouse in Los Angeles, California from GET, a corporation which is owned
by Gerard Guez, our Chairman and Interim Chief Executive Officer, and Todd Kay, our Vice Chairman.
Additionally, we lease our office space and warehouse in Hong Kong from Lynx International Limited, a Hong
Kong corporation that is owned by Messrs. Guez and Kay. Qur lease for the Los Angeles offices and warehouse has
a term of five years expiring in 2011, with an option 1o renew for an additional five year term. Qur lease for the
office space and warehouse in Hong Kong has expired and we are currently renting on a month to month basis. We
paid $1.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.1 million, respectively, in 2005, 2006 and 2007 in rent for office and
warehouse facilities at these locations. On May 1, 2006, we sublet a portion of our executive office in Los Angeles,
California and our sales office in New York to Seven Licensing for a monthly payment of $25,000 on a month to
month basis. Seven Licensing i1s beneficially owned by Gerard Guez. We received $200,000 and $300,000,
respectively, in rental income from this sublease for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007.

Al December 31, 2006 and 2007, we had various employees receivable totaling $250,000 and $220,000,
respectively, included in due from related parties.

We believe the each of the transactions described above has been entered into on terms no less favorable to us than could
have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
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18. Operations by Geographic Areas

Our predominant business is the design, distribution and importation of private label and private brand casual apparel.
Substantially all of our revenues are from the sales of apparel. We are organized into two geographic regions: the United
States and Asia. We evaluate performance of each region based on profit or loss from operations before income tuxes not
including the cumulative effect of change in accounting principles. Information about our operations in the Uniled States,
Asia, Mexico and Luxembourg is presented below. Inter-company revenues and assels have been eliminated to arrive at the

consolidated amounts.

Adjustments
and
United States Asia Eliminations ___Total
2008
L] 3 213,366,000 3 1,282,000 $ - 5 214645006
Inter-company sales - 135,531,000 {135.531,008) -
Totul FEVENUE vosse i 5 213,366,000 5 __L30813.000 5 (135531000} $___214.648.000
Income (loss) from operations............. S (1.446,000) 55071000 | $ . 3625000
Interest income (1) 5 2.079.000 . 2000 s - §___ 2,081.000
Interest expense M 4,222,000 $_ 403000 $ - $ 4,625,000
Provision for depreciation and
BONOMIZAEOD .. eeeer e s ceeerenaniees s 2.025.000 s 102,000 3 - 52127000
Capital expenditures ......c.ooecereerens s 335,000 S . .224.000 3 - 5 559,000
TOMA] BSSELS coemrr oo cemes e rnee e $ 136,904,000 $. . 129,737,000 $__(L15.3%9.000) §__151.242,000
2006
SalES e s M 226,851,000 s 5,551,000 3 - $ 232,402,000
Inter-company sales " - 112,393,000 (112,393 000 -
Tolal TEVENUE .....oecee e eeeestenie e S 226851,000 S 117,944,000 $_(1i2.393.000) £ 232402000
Income (loss) from operations (2)....... $ (21,210,000} $. 4,005,000 $ - $_ (12.205.000)
Interest income (3) .. §______ LIZR.O0 H 3,000 by . - £ 1.181.000
INEEFEST EXPENSE ooovviraervirenirerirenirenee $ 5,848,000 [ 212,000 £ - s 6,060,000
Provision for depreciation and
AMOMTZATION 1o nee 5. 2,872,000 S 108,000 $ - 5 2,980,000
Capital expenditu $ 134,000 ) 75,000 b = $ 209,000
TOLM USSETS <.orereessecenme e s erens e £ 97,196,000 §_ 119531000 §.__{105,595,000) 5___ 111,132,000
2007 ’
SAlCS ettt et $ 223,028,000 5 20,693,000 £ - $ 243,721,000
Inier-company sales... . - 117,064,000 {117,064 0(K) ) -
Total FEVENUE .o nseni s senres $.. 223,028,000 $§ _ _B3TISTO00 $___ (1170640000  §__243.721,000
Income from operations (4)... 1,408,000 S 3784000 3 - 5 5192000
INIENES INCOME oo.. e F 166,000 s _3.000 b3 — s 169.000
Inierest expense., b 3.935.000 5 183,000 $ - ) 4,118.000
Provision for deprec and
AMOTHZALON 4 oeve oo rntrrsrerssrarsns §. 1812000 & _ __ 135000 | S 1.947.000
Capital expenditures ... S 303,000 . 250,000 3 = $ 553,000
TOUIE ASSCIS v eveemee e eeeeseeoeesemeeeeeee seeen b 56,559,000 §_ 116,506,000 §___{102.136,00) $__ 70989000

(1) Interest income in the U.S. included $1,856,000 interest earned from the notes receivable related to the sale of our fixed
assets in Mexico of which notes were recorded in Luxembourg

(2) Income (loss) from operations in the U.S. included a loss of $27,156,000 recorded in Luxembourg; of which
$27,137,000 related 1o loss on notes receivable — related parties.

(3} Interest income in the U.S. included $901,000 interest earned from the notes receivable related 1o the sale of our fixed
assets in Mexico of which notes were recorded in Luxembourg,

{4y Income from operations in the U.S. included a loss of $1,477,000 recorded in Luxembourg; of which $1,458,000
related 1o loss on sales of fabric.
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19. Employee Benefit Plans

Tarrant Hong Kong has adopted a defined contribution retirement benefits scheme -- the National Mutual Ceniral
Provident Fund Scheme (the “Provident Fund scheme™) which has been approved under Section 87A of the Inland
Revenue Ordinance of Hong Kong since 1992. This scheme has been registered as a Mandatory Provident Fund
exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. From August 1992, an employee, upon completion of one full year’s service with Tarrant Hong Kong, is
entitled to enroll in the Provident Fund scheme on voluntary basis. Since December 1, 2000, no new members have
been allowed to enroll in this scheme. Monthly contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’ basic salary.
The employees having completed more than 3 years of service with Tarrant Hong Kong are entitled to the vested
benefits according the vesting scale of the Provident Fund scheme.

Tarrant Hong Kong has adopted a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme ~ AIA-JF Premium MPF Scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, in which the employees who have joined Tarrant Hong Kong since
December 1, 2000 are eligible to enroll. Monthly contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’ relevant
income. Costs of the plan charged to operations for 2005, 2006 and 2007 amounted to approximately $160,000,
$178,000 and $188,000, respectively.

On July 1, 1994, we established a defined contribution retirement plan covering all of our U.S. employees whose
period of service exceeds 12 months. Plan assets are monitored by a third-party investment manager and are
segregated from those of ours. Participants may contribute from 1% to 15% of their pre-1ax compensation up Lo
effective limitations specified by the Internal Revenue Service. Our contributions to the plan are based on a 50%
(100% effective July 1, 1995) matching of participants’ contributions, not lo exceed 6% (5% effective July 1, 1995)
of the participants’ annual compensation. In addition, we may also make a discretionary annual contribution to the
plan. Costs of the plan charged to operations for 2005, 2006 and 2007 amounted to approximately $199,000,
$251,000 and $294,000, respectively.

20. Other Income and Expense
Other income and expense consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2006 2007

Rental INCOME ......ccooumieeinencneerree s $ 193,000 3 298,000 $ 300,000
Gain on sale of fixed assels.....coovveeenn. 124,000 -- -
Gain on notes receivable-related parties. -- -- 3,750,000
11115 5 1 o 37.000 38,000 44.000
Total other INCOME .....cocoevvrieiiiieie § 354,000 $ 336,000 $.4,094,000
Loss on sale of fixed assets ..........cocueee -- 36,000 25,000
Termination of license agreement .......... -- 400,000 --
Write-off of deferred financing cost and

debt discount ......ocooveecivecincecnennen -- -- 4,951,000
Other IEMms ..ot 1.000 -- 1.000
Total other eXpPense .......cccoeeevevccvcirens 3 1,000 $__ 436,000 £ 4,977,000

21. Legal Proceedings

I. American Rag Cie, LLC & American Rag Cie I, Inc.

On February 1, 2008, Tarrant Apparel Group and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., filed and
served a cross-complaint against American Rag Cie, LLC (the “LLC™) and American Rag Cie Il (“ARC I}”) in the,

in the action American Rag CIE v. Private Brands, Inc., Superior Courl of the State of California, County of Los
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Angeles, Central District, Case No. BC 384428. The original action had been filed on January 28, 2008 against
Private Brands by the LLC. The LLC owns the trademark “American Rag Cic”, which mark has been licensed to
Private Brands on an exclusive basis throughout the world except for Japan and pursuant to which Privale Brands
sells American Rag Cie branded apparel to Macy’s Merchandising Group and has sub-licensed to Macy’s
Merchandising Group the right to manufacture certain categories of American Rag Cie branded apparel in the
United States. The LLC is owned 55% by ARC 11 and 45% by Tarrant Apparel Group. In the original complaint the
LLC seeks a declaratory judgment that we have breached the license agreement and that the license agreement has
been properly terminated. Our cross-complaint counters this claim, and secks a declaration that the license
agreement is valid and continues to be in effect. Additionally, the cross-complaint seeks relief on a number of
causes of action, including breach of the license agreement, a declaration by the Court imposing a reasonable term
into the agreement for sublicensing royalties, dissolution of LLC, damages for breach of fiduciary duty, and an
accounting of the monies diverted by defendants’ actions. Based upon a clause in the LLC operating agreement, the
causes of action asserted in the cross-complaint for breach of fiduciary duty and an accounting are subject 1o
determination by a Judicial Referee, and the parties are currently in the process of selecting one. On March 3, 2008,
we dismissed, without prejudice, our claim for dissolution of LLC afier being notified that ARC 1l had elected to
buy out our share in the LLC, a permitted defense 1o an action for dissolution. On March 19, 2008, the LLC and
ARC 1l filed an amended complaint, in which they expanded their ciaims against us to include claims for breach of
coniract, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty, and seeking further declaratory relief and compensatory and punitive
damages. The action is in the early slages of discovery.

2. Jessica Simpson & Camuto Consulting Group

In April 2006, we commenced an action against the licensor of the Jessica Simpson brands (captioned Turrant
Apparel Group v. Camuto Consulting Group, Inc., VCJS LLC, With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson) in the Supreme
Court of the State of New York, County of New York. The suit named Camuto Consulting Group, Inc., VCIS LLC,
With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson as defendants, and asserted that the defendants failed to provide promised
support in connection with our sublicense agreement {or the Jessica Simpson brands, as well as fraud against
Camuto Consulting. The complaint was amended to add Vincent Camuto as a defendant and included nine causes of
action, including (wo secking a declaration that the sublicense agreement was exclusive and remains in full force
and efTect, as well as claims for breach of contract, breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing and fraudulent
inducement against Camuto Consulting, a claim against Vincent Camulto individually for fraudulent inducement,
and a claim againgt With You, Inc. and Ms. Simpson that we were an intended third party beneficiary of the license
between those defendants and Camuto Consulting. On or about Camulo Consulting, VCJS and Vincent Camuto filed
a counterclaim against us for breach of the sublicense agreement and alleged damages of no less than $100 million.
With You, Inc. and Jessica Simpson also filed counterclaims against us alleging trademark infringement, unfair
competition and business practices, violation of the right of privacy and ether claims, and seeking injunctive relief
and damages in an amount to be determined bul no less than $100 million plus treble and punitive damages. By
Order filed January 17, 2007, the Court granted the motion of With You, Inc. and Ms. Simpson to discontinue all of
Ms. Simpson’s counterclaims, and her personal counterclaims were dismissed with prejudice. In November 2007,
we enltered into a settlement agreement with Camuto Consulting Group, Inc., VCIS LLC, With You, Inc. and Jessica
Simpson with respect 10 the litigation regarding our previous agreement 10 design, manufacture and distribute
Jesstca Simpson branded jeans and casual apparel. Pursuant to the settlement agreement, the parties agreed io
dismiss with prejudice all claims relating to these actions or the sublicense agreement and we received a payment of
33 million.

3. Bazak International Corporation

Shortly before May 2004, Bazak International Corp. commenced an action against us in the New York County
Supreme Court claiming that we breached an oral contract to sell a quantity of close-out goeds, as a consequence of
which Bazak was damaged to the extent of $1.3 million. Bazak International Corp. claimed that our liability exists
under a theory of breach of contract or unjust enrichiment. A non-jury trial was held in the United Siates District
Court for the Southern District of New York beginning on November 27, 2006 and ending on February 1, 2007, On
June 12, 2007, the Court dismissed the case against us. We settled with Bazak International Corp. for $25,000.

From time to time, we are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental Lo the conduct of our business.
Our management does not believe that any of these legal proceedings will have a material adverse impact on our
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business, financial condition or results of operations, either due to the nature of the claims, or because our
management believes that such claims should not exceed the limits of the our insurance coverage.

22. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31 Jun, 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

2000
Total net sales........coovveceiciiciieieceeeeeeeae, $ 61,261 $ 59,083 $ 54,645 $ 57413
Gross Profil........ccceivrireorerioeererveenneon 12,519 12,662 11,801 13,660
Operating income (1088)......oeevvvreeveeeieninnenes 1,646 2,609 (24,719) 3,259
Net income {loS8).....cccevieieiiiiiinicciereece e 3 83 § 6l $(25352) % 1,684
Net income (loss) per common share

BaSIC e § 003 § 002 § (083) $ 005

Dibuted ..ooeeeeie o003 $§ 002 % (083 $ 0.05
Weighted average shares outstanding

BasiC. .o 30,551 30,544 30,544 30,544

Diluted ..ooieeiriini e 30,551 30,544 30,544 30,544
2007
Total NSt SALES ....vvvvvieeeeeeeeeeerrerevererereserens $ 56,107  § 60,101 $ 70,203 $ 57,310
Gross profite.ccceeeeeecreeeeceeee e 12,346 12,555 12,948 11,050
Operating income (1088)......covevervvncoreiniena 63 2,529 2,661 (61)
Net income (1088)..uiecvnnviereeiiciieeisviceians $(1001) $§ ®BO9 § te615 0§ 325
Net income (loss) per common share

BaSIC. oo $ (©03) $ 003 $ 005 5 00!

Diluted ..o $ (003 % 003 £ 005 $ 001
Weighted average shares outstanding

Basic ..o 30,544 30,544 30,544 30,837

Diluted ..o 30,544 30,544 30,544 30,837

F-38



23. Subsequent Events

On February 1, 2008, Tarrant Apparel Group and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Private Brands, Inc., filed and served a
cross-complaint against American Rag Cie, LLC (the “LL.C") and American Rag Cie 1l (*ARC I1”) in the, in the action
American Rag CIE v. Private Brands, Inc., Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Central
District, Case No. BC 384428. The original action had been filed on January 28, 2008 against Private Brands by the LLC.
The LLC owns the trademark “American Rag Cie”, which mark has been licensed to Private Brands on an exclusive basis
throughout the world except for Japan and pursuant to which Private Brands sells American Rag Cie branded apparel to
Macy’s Merchandising Group and has sub-licensed to Macy’s Merchandising Group the right to manufacture certain
categories of American Rag Cie branded apparel in the United States. The LLC is owned 55% by ARC Il and 45% by
Tarrant Apparel Group. n the original complaint the LLC secks a declaratory judgment that we have breached the license
agreement and that the license agreement has been properly terminated. Our cross-complaint counters this claim, and seeks
a declaration that the license agreement is valid and continues 10 be in effect. Additionally, the cross-complaint sceks relief
on a number of causes of action, including breach of the license agreement, a declaration by the Court impoesing a
reasonable term into the agreement for sublicensing royalties, dissolution of LLC, damages for breach of fiduciary duty, and
an zccounting of the monies diverted by defendants’ actions. Based upon a clause in the LLC operating agreement, the
causes of action asserled in the cross-complaint for breach of fiduciary duty and an accounting are subject 10 determination
by a Judicial Referee, and the parties are currently in the process of selecting one. On March 3, 2008, we dismissed, without
prejudice, our claim for dissolution of LLC afier being notified that ARC I had elected to buy out our share in the LLC, a
permitted defense to an action for dissolution. On March 19, 2008, the LLC and ARC I filed an amended complaim, in
which they expanded their claims against us to include ¢laims for breach of conlract, fraud, and breach of fiduciary duty,
and seeking further declaratory relief and compensatory and punitive damages. The action is in the early stages of
discovery.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

For the year ended December 31, 2005
Allowance for returns and discounts..

Allowance for bad debt........oveeeinennn,

[NVERLOry FeServe .o evvricenrecnvreeenrecns

For the year ended December 31, 2006
Allowance for returns and discounts..

Allowance for bad debt.........................

Inventory reserve .o
Notes receivable - related parties
TESETVE ooveeeeetrerererens e sentenesenenas

For the year ended December 31, 2007
Allowance for returns and discounts..

Allowance for bad debt.........occooooeene.

Inventory rescrve
Notes receivable - related partics
FESETVE .oooeieeiieeciee e v eres e eneans

SCHEDULE 11

TARRANT AFPPAREL GROUP

Additions Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged Balance

Beginning Costs and to Other at End

of Year Expenses Accounts Deductions of Year
$ 1,063,321 3 871208 3% - 3 (949268) § 98526l
§ 1374544 & 637210 3 - §  (45265) $ 1,966,489
§ 1116662 3 = 3 = 5§ (L032836) § 83.826
£ 985261 $ 1189090 3§ -~ 35 (896,734) 3§ 1,277,617
$ 1966489 § 13445  § - % (1,180,693) $  799,24]
3 83,826 § 375000 % - % (83,826) $§ 375,000
3 = 27.137.2 b - 3 = 27,137,297
3 1,277,617 $ 527838 % - % (861,486) 3 943969
$ 799,241 $ 243561 % - 3 {9,495) § 1,033,307
£ 375000 $§ 550,000 % - % - ¥ 925000
$.27,137,297  § - 3 - $(27,137,297) § =
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant 10 the requircments of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Sccuntics Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thercunto duly authorized.

TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

By: /s/ Gerard Guez
Gerard Guez
Interim Chicf Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned dircctors and officers of Tarrant Apparcl Group do hereby constitute and appoint
Gerard Guez and Patrick Chow, and cach of them, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, as their
truc and lawful attorneys and agents, o do any and all acts and things in our name and behalf in our capacitics
as directors and officers and to executc any and all instruments for us and in our names in the capacitics
indicated below, which said attorney and agent, may deem necessary or advisable to cnable said corporation to
comply with the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and any rules, regulations and requircments of
the Sccuritics and Exchange Commission, in conncction with this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including
specifically but without limitation, power and authority to sign for us or any of us in our names in the capacitics
indicated below, any and all amendments (including post-cffective amendments) hercto, and we do hereby
ratify and confirm all that said attorneys and agents, or cither of them, shall do or causc to be done by virtuc
hercof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sccuritics Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacitics and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
Is! Gerard Guez. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Interim March 28, 2008
Gerard Guez Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)
fs/ Todd Kay Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors March 28, 2008
Todd Kay
/s/ Patrick Chow Chief Financial Officer and Director (Principal March 28, 2008
Patrick Chow Financial and Accounting Officer)
fs/ Milton Koffman Director March 28, 2008
Milton Koffman
s/ Stephane Farouze Director March 28, 2008
Stephane Farouze
/s/ Mitchell Simbal Director March 28, 2008
Miichell Simbal
/s/ Joseph Mizrachi Director March 28, 2008
Joseph Mizrachi
/s/ Simon Mani Director March 28, 2008
Simon Mani
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Exhibit
Number

TARRANT APPAREL GROUP

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

2.1+

2.1.2

3.1

3.13

32

321

4.1

4,2

4.3

Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 6, 2006, among Tarrant Apparel Group, 4366883 Canada
Inc., 3681441 Canada Inc., Buffalo Inc., 3163946 Canada Inc., Buffalo Corporation, Buffalo Intemational Inc.,
4183517 Canada Inc., 3975912 Canada Inc. and The Buffalo Trust. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 12, 2006.)

Amendment No. 1 to Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated March 20, 2007, by and among Tarrant
Apparel Group, 4366883 Canada Inc., 3681441 Canada Inc., Buffalo Inc., 3163946 Canada Inc., Buffalo
Corporation, BFL Management Inc. in its capacity as the sole trustee of The Buffalo Trust and each stockholder of
Target Companies. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter
ended March 31, 2007.)

Mutual Termination and Release Agreement, dated April 19, 2007, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group,
4366883 Canada Inc., 3681441 Canada Inc., Buffalo Inc., 3163946 Canada Inc., Buffalo Corporation, BFL
Management Inc. in its capacity as the sole trustee of The Buftalo Trust and each stockholder of Target
Companies. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
Apnil 20, 2007.)

Restated Articles of [ncorporation. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form
S-1 filed on May 4, 1995 (File No. 33-91874).)

Certificate of Amendment of Reslated Articles of Incorporation. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Repori on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2002,)

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Articles of Incorporation. {Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2002.)

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Anticles of Incorporation. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 2003.)

Restated Bylaws. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on May
4, 1995 (File No. 33-91874).)

Amendment to Restated Bylaws of Tarrant Apparel Group, dated August 9, 2007, (Incorporated by reference to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 10, 2007.)

Specimen of Common Stock Certificate. (Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. | 1o Registration
Statement on Form S-1 filed on July 15, 1995)

Rights Agreement daled as of November 21, 2003, between Tarrant Apparel Group and Computershare Trust
Company, as Rights Agent, including the Form of Rights Certificate and the Summary of Rights to Purchase
Preferred Stock, attached thereto as Exhibits B and C, respectively. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 12, 2003.)

Certificate of Determination of Preferences, Rights and Limitations of Scries B Preferred Stock. (Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Amendment to Current Report on Form 8-K/A, filed December 12, 2003.)



Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1*

10.2

i0.3

104

10.4.1

104.2

10.4.3

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.3

10.9*

10.10

10.11

Tarrant Apparel Group Employee Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ending June 30, 2004.)

Indemnification Agreement dated as of March 14, 1995, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, Gerard Guez and
Todd Kay. {Incorporated by reference 1o Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement en Form S-1 filed on July
15, 1995.)

Form of Indemnification Agreement with directors and certain executive officers. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1997.)

Exclusive Distribution Agreement dated April 1, 2003, between Federated Merchandising Group, an
unincorporated division of Federated Department Stores, and Private Brands, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2003.)

Amendment No. | to Exclusive Distribution Agreement dated as of June 22, 2004, between Federated
Merchandising Group, an unincorporated division of Federated Department Stores, and Private Brands, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30,
2004.)

Amendment No, 2 to Exclusive Distribution Agreement dated as of March 7, 2005, between Macy’s
Merchandising Group, LLLC and Private Brands, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2005.)

Trademark Sublicense Agreement dated as of March 3, 2005, between Macy’s Merchandising Group, LLC and
Private Brands, inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ending March 31, 2005.)

Unconditional Guaranty of Performance dated April 1, 2003, by Tarrant Apparel Group. (Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2003.)

Promissory Note dated May 31, 2003 made by Gerard Guez in favor of Tarrani Apparel Group. (Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2603.)

Indemnification Agreement dated April 10, 2003 between Tarrant Apparel Group and Seven Licensing Company,
LLC. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarlerly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30,
2003.)

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated Qctober 17, 2003, by and between Tarrant Apparel Group and Sanders
Morris Harris Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 16,
2003.)

Empleyment Agreement, dated September 16, 2005, between Tarrant Company Limiled and Henry Chu.
{(Incorporated by reference 1o the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ending September
30,2005.)

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated January 26, 2004 between Tarrant Apparel Group and Sanders Morris
Harris Inc, (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 23, 2004.)

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated December 14, 2004 issued by Tarrant Apparel Group in favor of T.R.

Winston & Company, LLC. {Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
December 14, 2004.)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.15.1

10.15.2

10.15.3

10.16

i0.17

10.17.1

10.18

10.19

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K dated December 14, 2004.)

Debenture, dated June 9, 2006, by and among Tarrant Company Limited, Trade Link Holdings Limited and
Marble Limited and DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. {Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Form of Guaranty and Indemnity of Tarrant Apparel Group in favor of DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited.
{Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30,
2006.)

Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 16, 2006, by and among GMAC Commercial Finance LLC, the
Lenders signatory thereto, Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag Mex, Inc., United Apparel
Ventures, LLC, Private Brands, Inc., and NO! Jeans, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Consent and Amendment No. 1 1o Agreements, dated February 22, 2007, by and among GMAC Commercial
Finance LLC, the Lenders signatory thereto, Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag Mex,
Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC, Private Brands, Inc., and NO! Jeans, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending March 31, 2007.)

Amendment No. 2 to Loan and Security Agreement, dated May 9, 2007, by and among GMAC Commercial
Finance LLC, the Lenders signatory thereto, Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag Mex,
Inc., and Private Brands, Inc. (Incorporated by reference 1o the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ending June 30, 2007.)

Amendment No. 3 to Loan and Securily Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, by and among GMAC
Commercial Finance LLC, the Lenders signatory thereto, Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL),
Inc., Tag Mex, Inc., and Private Brands, Inc..

Amended and Restated Factoring Agreement, dated June 16, 2006, GMAC Commercial Finance LLC and Tarrant
Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag Mex, Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC, Private Brands,
Inc., and NO! Jeans, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the
quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Credit Agreement, dated June 16, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag
Mex, Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC, Private Brands, Inc. and NO! Jeans, Inc., the Guarantors a party
thereto, the Lenders a party thereto and Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC. (Incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Amendment No, 1 to Credit Agreement, dated July 5, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, Fashion
Resource (TCL), Inc., Tag Mex, Inc., United Apparel Ventures, LLC, Private Brands, Inc. and NO! Jeans, inc., the
Guarantors a party thereto, the Lenders a party thereto and Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC. (Incorporated
by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2006.)

Security Agreement, dated June 16, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, the other Credit Parties and
Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Pledge Agreement, dated June 16, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, the other Pledgors party thereto
and Guggenheim Corporate Funding, LLC. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24*

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.27.1

4.1

211

231

311

31.2

32.1

Warrants Purchase Agreement dated June 16, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, Orpheus Holdings,
LLC, North American Company for Life and Health insurance, Midland National Life lnsurance Company and
Durham Capital Corporation. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-3
filed on August 10, 2006.)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 16, 2006, by and among Tarrant Apparel Group, Orpheus
Holdings, LLC, North American Company for Life and Health Insurance, Midland National Life Insurance
Company and Durham Capital Corporation. (Incorporated by reference 1o the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-3 filed on August 10, 2006.)

Form of Warrants to Purchase Common Stock issued June 16, 2006. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-3 filed on August 10, 2006.)

Warmant dated June 16, 2006, issued by the Registrant to Durham Capital Corporation. (Incorporated by reference
1o the Company’s Registration Staternent on Form S-3 filed on August 10, 2006.)

Tarrant Apparel Group 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, (Incorporated by reference Lo the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Commercial Lease, dated August 1, 2006, between Tarrant Appare] Group and GET. (Incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending June 30, 2006.)

Tenancy Agreement, dated February 1, 2007, between Tarrant Company Limited and Lynx Intemational Limited.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006.)

Letter Agreement, dated March 21, 2007, among Tarrant Luxembourg S.a.r.l., Soliicio, S.A. de C.V., Inmobiliaria
Cuadros, S.A. de C.V. , Acabados y Cories Textiles, S.A. de. C.V., and Tavex Algodonera, S.A. (Incorporated by
reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarter ending March 31, 2007.)

Amendment, dated July 19, 2007, to Letter Agreement dated March 21, 2007, among Tarrant Luxembourg
S.arl, Solticio, S.A. de C.V., Inmobiliaria Cuadros, S.A. de C.V., Acabados y Cortes Textiles, S.A. de. C.V_, and

Tavex Algodonera, S.A. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ending September 30, 2007.)

Coxle of Ethical Conduct. (Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for year
ending December 31, 2003.)

Subsidiaries.

Consent of Singer Lewak Greenbaum & Goldstein LLP.

Centificate of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Sccuritics and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

Certificate of Chief Exccutive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Sccuritics and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.
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Exhibit
Number Description

322 Certificate of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended.

*  Management contracl or compensatory plan or arrangement,

+ Schedules and exhibits have been omitted from the exhibit. A list of omitted schedules and exhibits is set
forth immediately following the lable of contents of the exhibit. Copies will be provided to the Securities
and Exchange Commission upon request,
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! President - Private Brands, Inc.
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Director : .
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) . President — Tag Mex. Inc.
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' Director
Henry Chu

| Mitchell Simbal President — Tarrant Company Limited
l Director
- Stephane Farouze
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Shareholder, ., .

Inrormarti 1]
Legal Counsel

Tarrant Apparel Group

3151 East Washington Boulevard
Los Angeles, California 90023
Tel. 323 780 8250

Stubbs Alderton & Markiles LLP
15260 Ventura Boulevard, 20th Floor
Sherman Oaks, California 91403

Tel. 818 444 4502

|
| Executive Offices
i
|

Tarrant Company Limited Investor Relations

Lladro Centre Any shareholder wishing a copy of the Company's annual
72-80 Hoi Yuen Road report on Form 10-K or the quarterly reports on Form 10-Q
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong as filed with The Securities and Exchange Commission, may
Tel, 852 2797 8120 obtain such report, without charge, upon written request to

the Company, Attn: Investor Relations.

Stock Listing
The Company's common stock is traded on the Nasdaq

C tershare Trust . Inc, .
omputershare Trust Company. [nc National Market (Symbol: TAGS).

350 Indiana Street, Suite 300

|

I

! Transfer Agent and Registrar
|

|

' Golden, Colorado 80401

Tel. 303 262 0600 For Additional Information, Contact; __ _. . - - -~
Tarrant Apparel Group T
., Patrick Chow — Chief Financial Officer
Independent Auditors Tel. 323 780 8250 Ext. 1988 E N
Singer Lewak Greenbaum & Goldstein LLP

Annual Sharcholders’ Meeting

The annual shareholders’ meeting will be held at 10:00 A.M.
on Tuesday, May 27, 2007 at the offices of Tarrant Apparel
Group, located at 3151 East Washington Boulevard,
Los Angeles, California 90023

Los Angeles, California 90024
Tel. 310477 3924

l 10960 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1100



